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Risk Factors Summary

 
The risk factors detailed in Item 1A entitled “Risk Factors” in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q are the risks that we believe are material to our investors and a reader 
should carefully consider them. Those risks are not all of the risks we face and other factors not presently known to us or that we currently believe are immaterial may also 
affect our business if they occur. The following is a summary of the risk factors detailed in Item 1A:

•We have a history of net losses and may not be able to achieve profitability for any period in the future or sustain cash flow from operating activities. We have a 
relatively limited operating history and have experienced rapid growth, which makes evaluating our current business and future prospects difficult and may increase the 
risk of your investment. Our operating results may fluctuate significantly from period-to-period.

•The additive manufacturing industry in which we operate is characterized by rapid technological change, which requires us to continue to develop new products and 
innovations to meet constantly evolving customer demands and which could adversely affect market adoption of our products.

•A pandemic, epidemic, or outbreak of an infectious disease, such as the COVID-19 pandemic, may materially and adversely affect our business and our financial results 
and could cause a disruption to the development of our products. The COVID-19 pandemic has caused a material on-going disruption to our business beginning in the 
second quarter of 2020 and the COVID-19 related supply chain disruptions have continued to adversely impact our business.

•We face significant competition in our industry. If we are unable to create new products or meet the demands of our customers, our business could be materially 
adversely affected.

•We depend on our network of value-added resellers and our business could be materially adversely affected if they do not meet our expectations.

•We depend heavily on third-party suppliers. If they or their facilities become unavailable or inadequate, our business could be adversely affected. We may experience 
significant delays in the design, production and launch of our additive manufacturing solutions and enhancements to existing products, and we may be unable to 
successfully commercialize products on our planned timelines.

•We rely on a limited number of third-party logistics providers for distribution of our products, and their failure to effectively distribute our products, including because of 
delays and disruptions caused by current conditions in global shipping capacity would adversely affect our sales.

•If demand for our products does not grow as expected, or if market adoption of additive manufacturing does not continue to develop, or develops more slowly than 
expected, our revenues may stagnate or decline, and our business may be adversely affected.

•Defects in new products or in enhancements to our existing products that give rise to product returns or warranty or other claims could result in material expenses, 
diversion of management time and attention, and damage to our reputation.

•We may be unable to consistently manufacture our products to the necessary specifications or in quantities necessary to meet demand at an acceptable cost or at an 
acceptable performance level. As manufacturing becomes a larger part of our operations, we will become exposed to accompanying risks and liabilities. We depend on a 
limited number of third-party contract manufacturers for a substantial portion of our manufacturing needs and we depend on a number of suppliers for other parts and 
components; since the second half of 2021, we have increasingly experienced, and expect to continue to experience, price increases, supply shortages and delays and any 
such delay, disruption or quality control problems in their operations, including due to the COVID-19 pandemic, could cause harm to our operations, including loss of 
market share, reduced margins and damage to our brand.

•We have experienced, and expect to continue to experience, rapid growth and organizational change since our inception. If we fail to manage our growth effectively, we 
may be unable to execute our business plan, maintain high levels of service and customer satisfaction or attract new employees and customers.

•A real or perceived defect, security vulnerability, error or performance failure in our software or technical problems or disruptions caused by our third-party service 
providers could cause us to lose revenue, damage our reputation and expose us to liability.

•Our existing and planned global operations subject us to a variety of risks and uncertainties that could adversely affect our business and operating results. Our business is 
subject to risks associated with selling machines and other products in non-United States locations. Global economic, political and social conditions and uncertainties in 
the market that we serve may adversely impact our business.

 



 

•A significant portion of our business depends on sales to the public sector, and our failure to receive and maintain government contracts or changes in the contracting or 
fiscal policies of the public sector could have a material adverse effect on our business.

•We are, and have been in the recent past, subject to business and intellectual property litigation. We could be subject to personal injury, property damage, product 
liability, warranty and other claims involving allegedly defective products that we supply. We could face liability if our additive manufacturing solutions are used by our 
customers to print dangerous objects.

•If we are unable to adequately protect our proprietary technology or obtain and maintain patent protection for our technology and products or if the scope of the patent 
protection obtained is not sufficiently broad, our competitors could develop and commercialize technology and products similar or identical to ours, and our ability to 
successfully commercialize our technology and products may be impaired.

•We have identified material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting and may identify additional material weaknesses in the future or fail to maintain 
effective internal control over financial reporting, which may result in material misstatements of our consolidated financial statements or cause us to fail to meet our 
periodic reporting obligations.

 
 



 
 

EXPLANATORY NOTE 

On July 14, 2021, we consummated the merger (the "Merger") contemplated by the Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of February 23, 2021 (the “Merger 
Agreement”), by and among one, a Cayman Islands exempted company limited by shares (“one”), Caspian Merger Sub Inc., a Delaware corporation and a wholly owned 
subsidiary of one (“Merger Sub”), and MarkForged, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Legacy Markforged”). As a result of the Merger, Legacy Markforged merged with and into 
Merger Sub with Legacy Markforged surviving as our wholly-owned subsidiary and, following one’s filing of a notice of deregistration and necessary accompanying documents 
with the Cayman Islands Registrar of Companies, and a certificate of incorporation and a certificate of corporate domestication with the Secretary of State of the State of 
Delaware, under which one was domesticated, one changed its name to “Markforged Holding Corporation.”

CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains statements that are forward-looking and as such are not historical facts. This includes, without limitation, statements 
regarding the financial position, business strategy and the plans and objectives of management for our future operations of Markforged Holding Corporation. These statements 
constitute projections, forecasts and forward-looking statements, and are not guarantees of performance. Such statements can be identified by the fact that they do not relate 
strictly to historical or current facts. When used in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, words such as “anticipate”, “believe”, “continue”, “could”, “estimate”, “expect”, 
“intend”, “may”, “might”, “plan”, “possible”, “potential”, “predict”, “project”, “should”, “strive”, “would” and similar expressions may identify forward-looking statements, 
but the absence of these words does not mean that a statement is not forward-looking.

Forward-looking statements in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q include, for example, statements about:

•the benefits of the Merger, and other recent acquisitions and our ability to realize such benefits;

•our financial performance;

•the effect of uncertainties related to the COVID-19 pandemic and global supply chain disruptions;

•the expected growth of the additive manufacturing industry;

•our anticipated growth and our ability to achieve and maintain profitability in the future;

•the impact of the regulatory environment and complexities with compliance related to such environment on us;

•the effect of and our ability to respond to general economic, political and business conditions, including recent increases in interest rates, rising inflation, foreign 
exchange fluctuations and risk of recession;

•our ability to access sources of capital, including debt financing and other sources of capital to finance operations and growth;

•the success of our marketing efforts and our ability to expand our customer base;

•our ability to develop and deliver new products, features and functionality that are competitive and meet market needs;

•our ability to maintain an effective system of internal controls over financial reporting;

•our ability to remediate our material weaknesses in our internal control of financial reporting;

•our ability to grow and manage growth profitably and retain key employees; and

•the outcome of legal or governmental proceedings that may be instituted against us.

These forward-looking statements are based on information available as of the date of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and current expectations, forecasts and 
assumptions, and involve a number of judgments, risks and uncertainties. Accordingly, forward-looking statements should not be relied upon as representing our views as of 
any subsequent date, and we do not undertake any obligation to update forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances after the date they were made, whether as a 
result of new information, future events or otherwise, except as may be required under applicable securities laws.

As a result of a number of known and unknown risks and uncertainties, our actual results or performance may be materially different from those expressed or implied 
by these forward-looking statements. You should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements.
 



  
PART I—FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

Item 1. Financial Statements. 
 

MARKFORGED HOLDING CORPORATION
  

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 
As of June 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021 

(In thousands, except share data and par value amounts) (Unaudited) 
  

  
June 30,

2022   
December 31,

2021  
Assets    
Current assets    

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 243,216   $ 288,603  
Accounts receivable, net   26,570    26,777  
Inventory   19,321    10,377  
Prepaid expenses

  1,338    3,921  
Other current assets   2,517    511  

Total current assets   292,962    330,189  
Property and equipment, net   6,939    6,349  
Intangible assets, net   2,215    —  
Goodwill   4,475    —  
Right-of-use assets   46,689    —  
Other assets   2,858    776  

Total assets  $ 356,138   $ 337,314  
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity    
Current liabilities    

Accounts payable  $ 10,518   $ 11,403  
Accrued expenses   9,525    7,411  
Deferred revenue   5,780    6,288  
Lease liabilities   7,667    —  
Other current liabilities   53    310  

Total current liabilities   33,543    25,412  
Long-term deferred revenue   4,083    3,742  
Deferred rent   —    1,623  
Contingent earnout liability   8,084    59,722  
Long-term lease liabilities   41,497    —  
Other liabilities   2,579    2,646  

Total liabilities   89,786    93,145  
Commitments and contingencies (Note 17)       
Stockholders’ equity       

Common stock, $0.0001 par value; 1,000,000,000 shares authorized at June 30, 2022 and December 31, 
2021; 188,482,934 and 185,993,058 shares issued at June 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, respectively   19    19  
Additional paid-in capital   333,728    319,859  
Accumulated deficit   (67,395 )   (75,709 )

Total stockholders’ equity   266,352    244,169  
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity  $ 356,138   $ 337,314  

 
See notes to the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements. 
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MARKFORGED HOLDING CORPORATION 

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

For the three and six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021 
(In thousands, except share data and per share data) (Unaudited) 

 
 Three Months Ended June 30,   Six Months Ended June 30,  
 2022   2021   2022   2021  

Revenue $ 24,227   $ 20,419   $ 46,086   $ 40,539  
Cost of revenue  11,302    8,496    21,555    16,435  
Gross profit  12,925    11,923    24,531    24,104  
Operating expenses            

Sales and marketing  12,873    8,255    23,321    15,312  
Research and development

 10,387    6,444    20,954    11,703  
General and administrative  13,478    7,959    25,221    16,822  

Total operating expenses  36,738    22,658    69,496    43,837  
Loss from operations  (23,813 )   (10,735 )   (44,965 )   (19,733 )

Change in fair value of warrant liabilities  976    (241 )   1,669    (1,251 )
Change in fair value of contingent earnout liability  26,742    —    51,638    —  
Other (expense) income, net  (171 )   (104 )   (390 )   (117 )
Interest expense  (9 )   (5 )   (9 )   (9 )
Interest income  354    1    374    3  

Profit (loss) before income taxes  4,079    (11,084 )   8,317    (21,107 )
Income tax expense  4    6    3    2  

Net profit (loss) and comprehensive income (loss) $ 4,075   $ (11,090 )  $ 8,314   $ (21,109 )
Weighted average shares outstanding - basic  188,102,342    39,855,379    187,247,566    39,649,848  
Weighted average shares outstanding - diluted  188,876,763    39,855,379    188,329,331    39,649,848  
Net profit (loss) per share - basic $ 0.02   $ (0.28 )  $ 0.04   $ (0.53 )
Net profit (loss) per share - diluted  0.02    (0.28 )   0.04    (0.53 )
 

See notes to the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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MARKFORGED HOLDING CORPORATION

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT) 
For the three and six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021 

(In thousands, except share data) (Unaudited)
 

  Convertible Preferred Stock    Common Stock   
Additional

Paid-in   Treasury Stock   Accumulated   

Total
Stockholders’

Equity     
  Shares   Amount    Shares   Amount   Capital   Shares   Amount   Deficit      Total  

December 31, 2021
  —   $ —     

185,993
,058   $ 19   $ 319,859    —   $ —   $ (75,709 )  $ 244,169   $ 244,169  

Exercise of common
   stock options   —    —     942,836    —    580    —    —    —    580    580  
Stock vested under 
compensation
   plan less shares withheld to 
cover taxes   —    —     182,066    —    —    —    —    —    —    —  
Stock-based
   compensation expense   —    —     —    —    4,285    —    —    —    4,285    4,285  
Earnout stock-based 
compensation 
   expense   —    —     —    —    1,137    —    —    —    1,137    1,137  
Net income and
   comprehensive income   —    —     —    —    —    —    —    4,239    4,239    4,239  
March 31, 2022

  —   $ —     
187,117

,960   $ 19   $ 325,861    —   $ —   $ (71,470 )  $ 254,410   $ 254,410  
Exercise of common
   stock options   —    —     443,712    —    916    —    —    —    916    916  
Stock vested under 
compensation
   plan less shares withheld to 
cover taxes   —    —     319,165    —    (315 )   —    —    —    (315 )   (315 )
Stock-based
   compensation expense   —    —     —    —    4,005    —    —    —    4,005    4,005  
Earnout stock-based 
compensation 
   expense   —    —     —    —    907    —    —    —    907    907  
Issuance of Common Stock in 
connection 
   with acquisitions   —    —     602,097    —    2,354    —    —    —    2,354    2,354  
Net income and
   comprehensive income   —    —     —    —    —    —    —    4,075    4,075    4,075  
June 30, 2022

  —   $ —     
188,482

,934   $ 19   $ 333,728    —   $ —   $ (67,395 )  $ 266,352   $ 266,352  
                                
 

 Convertible Preferred Stock    Common Stock   
Additional

Paid-in   Treasury Stock   Accumulated   
Total

Stockholders’     
  Shares   Amount    Shares   Amount   Capital   Shares   Amount   Deficit   Deficit   Total  
December 31, 2020

  
107,592,80

1   $ 137,497     
39,510,

108   $ 4   $ 5,538    483,479   $ (1,450 )  $ (79,564 )  $ (75,472 )  $ 62,025  
Exercise of common
   stock options   —    —     714,170    —    356    —    —    —    356    356  
Stock-based
   compensation expense   —    —     —    —    1,194    —    —    —    1,194    1,194  
Exercise of Series D
   warrants   20,037    100     —    —    —    —    —    —    —    100  
Net loss and
   comprehensive loss   —    —     —    —    —    —    —    (10,019 )   (10,019 )   (10,019 )
March 31, 2021

  
107,612,83

8   $ 137,597     
40,224,

278   $ 4   $ 7,088    483,479   $ (1,450 )  $ (89,583 )  $ (83,941 )  $ 53,656  
Exercise of common
   stock options   —    —     102,237    —    62    —    —    —   $ 62   $ 62  
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Stock-based
   compensation expense   —    —     —    —    1,777    —    —    —    1,777    1,777  
Exercise of Series D
   warrants   71,139    355     —    —    —    —    —    —    —    355  
Exercise of common stock
   warrants, net of shares 
withheld for exercise   —    —     179,572    —    1,793    —    —    —    1,793    1,793  
Net profit (loss) and
   comprehensive income 
(loss)   —    —     —    —    —    —    —    (11,090 )   (11,090 )   (11,090 )
June 30, 2021

  
107,683,97

7   $ 137,952     
40,506,

087   $ 4   $ 10,720    483,479   $ (1,450 )  $ (100,673 )  $ (91,399 )  $ 46,553  

 
The shares of the Company’s common and convertible preferred stock, prior to the Merger (as defined in Note 1) have been retroactively restated to reflect the exchange ratio of 
approximately 0.9522514 established in the Merger as described in Note 2.

 
See notes to the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.

4



 
MARKFORGED HOLDING CORPORATION

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
For the six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021 

(In thousands, except share data) (Unaudited) 
 

  For the Six Months Ended June 30,  
  2022   2021  

Operating Activities:       
Net profit (loss)  $ 8,314   $ (21,109 )
Adjustments to reconcile net profit (loss) to cash used in operating activities       

Depreciation, amortization, and non-cash lease interest   3,634    841  
Provision for doubtful accounts   144    378  
Reserve for excess and obsolete inventory   132    56  
Change in fair value of warrant liabilities   (1,669 )   1,251  
Change in fair value of contingent earnout liability   (51,638 )   —  
Stock-based compensation expense   10,334    2,971  

Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effects of businesses acquired       
Accounts receivable   68    (1,345 )
Inventory

  
(9,076

)   
(1,430

)
Prepaid expenses   2,583    (196 )
Other current assets   (1,989 )   559  
Other assets   (652 )   (60 )
Accounts payable and accrued expenses   501    2,350  
Other current liabilities   (82 )   31  
Deferred rent

  —    
409

 
Deferred revenue   (167 )   (1,088 )
Other long term liabilities   —    (2 )
Other non-current lease liabilities   (2,011 )   —  

Net cash used in operating activities   (41,574 )   (16,384 )
Investing Activities:       
Purchases of property and equipment   (1,531 )   (1,039 )
Cash paid for the acquisition, net of cash acquired   (2,033 )   —  

Net cash used in investing activities   (3,564 )   (1,039 )
Financing Activities:       
Repayment of debt obligations   —    (5,022 )
Payment of transaction costs for the Merger   —    (4,000 )
Proceeds from exercise of Series D warrants   —    455  
Proceeds from exercise of common stock options   1,496    419  
Taxes paid related to net share settlement of equity awards   (315 )   —  

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities   1,181    (8,148 )
Net change in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash   (43,957 )   (25,571 )
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash       
Beginning of year   288,603    58,715  
End of period  $ 244,646   $ 33,144  
       
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information       
Cash and cash equivalents  $ 243,216   $ 33,144  
Restricted cash in other noncurrent assets   1,430    —  
Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash shown in the condensed consolidated statements of cash flows  $ 244,646   $ 33,144  
Non cash financing and investing activities       
Purchase of property and equipment in accounts payable and accrued expenses  $ 100   $ —  
Exercise of common stock warrants, net of shares withheld for exercise   —    1,793  
Common stock issued for the acquisition   2,354     
Deferred transaction costs included in accounts payable and accrued expenses   —    885  
Additions to right of use assets and liabilities   36,246    —  
       
 

See notes to the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements. 
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MARKFORGED HOLDING CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Unaudited)

Note 1. Organization, Nature of the Business, and Risks and Uncertainties 

Organization and Nature of Business 

Unless otherwise indicated or the context otherwise requires, references to the “Company” and “Markforged” refer to the consolidated operations of Markforged 
Holding Corporation and its subsidiaries. References to “AONE” refer to the company prior to the consummation of the Merger and references to “Legacy Markforged” refer 
to MarkForged, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries prior to the consummation of the Merger.

Legacy Markforged was founded in 2013 to transform the manufacturing industry with high strength, cost effective parts using additive manufacturing. Markforged 
produces and sells 3D printers, materials, software, and other related services worldwide to customers who can build parts strong enough for the factory floor with 
significantly reduced lead time and cost. The printers print in plastic, nylon, metal, and the parts can be reinforced with carbon fiber for industry leading strength at an 
affordable price point. 

On February 23, 2021, one, a Cayman Islands exempted company (“AONE”), entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the “Merger Agreement”) with Caspian 
Merger Sub Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of AONE (“Merger Sub”), and Legacy Markforged, pursuant to which (i) AONE would deregister as a Cayman Islands company 
and domesticate as a corporation in the State of Delaware and would be renamed “Markforged Holding Corporation” (the “Domestication”) and (ii) Merger Sub would merge 
with and into Legacy Markforged with Legacy Markforged surviving as a wholly owned subsidiary of Markforged Holding Corporation (the “Merger”). AONE's shareholders 
approved the transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement on July 13, 2021, and the Domestication and the Merger were completed on July 14, 2021 (the "Closing"). 

Cash proceeds of the merger were funded through a combination of AONE’s $132.5 million of cash held in trust (after redemptions of $64.2 million) and an aggregate 
of $210.0 million in fully committed common stock transactions at $10.00 per share. Immediately prior to the Closing, Legacy Markforged repurchased shares of common 
stock from certain of its stockholders, for a total value of $45.0 million, referred to as the “Employee Transactions”. Total net proceeds upon Closing, net of the Employee 
Transactions and transaction costs paid at Closing of $27.1 million, were $288.8 million.

Risks and Uncertainties 

COVID-19 has had an impact on the Company’s results, since the second quarter of 2020, and the Company is unable to predict the ultimate impact that the virus may 
have on the business, future results of operations, financial position or cash flows. Further, the COVID-19 impact on the Company is largely dependent on future 
developments and subsequent government responses. The Company identified potential risks to the business to include certain accounting estimates around its supply chain, 
accounts receivable, inventory and related reserves, intangible assets, goodwill, and long-lived assets. As of and for the three and six months ended June 30, 2022 these risks 
were assessed and had no material impact on the realizability of accounts receivables, inventories, intangible assets, goodwill, long- lived assets or the related estimates used 
in the Company’s condensed consolidated financial statements. There may be changes to those estimates in future periods, and actual results could differ from those 
estimates. 

The Company has funded its operations to date primarily through the sale of convertible preferred stock, the proceeds from the Merger, including the sale of common 
stock, and the sale of its products. Management believes that existing cash will be sufficient to fund operating and capital expenditure requirements through at least one year 
after the date these condensed consolidated financial statements are issued. The accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a basis 
which assumes that the Company will continue as a going concern and contemplates the realization of assets and satisfaction of liabilities and commitments in the normal 
course of business. 

Note 2. Merger and Reverse Recapitalization

Immediately prior to the Closing the following transactions occurred (prior to the Exchange Ratio discussed below):

•all 17,918,211 shares of Legacy Markforged’s outstanding Series Seed convertible preferred stock were converted into an equivalent number of shares of Legacy 
Markforged common stock on a one-to-one basis;

•all 28,725,920 shares of Legacy Markforged’s outstanding Series A convertible preferred stock were converted into an equivalent number of shares of Legacy 
Markforged common stock on a one-to-one basis;
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•all 34,391,480 shares of Legacy Markforged’s outstanding Series B convertible preferred stock were converted into an equivalent number of shares of Legacy 
Markforged common stock on a one-to-one basis;

•all 14,468,290 shares of Legacy Markforged’s outstanding Series C convertible preferred stock were converted into an equivalent number of shares of Legacy 
Markforged common stock on a one-to-one basis; and

•all 17,305,052 shares of Legacy Markforged’s outstanding Series D convertible preferred stock were converted into an equivalent number of shares of Legacy 
Markforged common stock on a one-to-one basis.

At the Closing, eligible Legacy Markforged equity holders received or had the right to receive shares of the Company's Common Stock, par value $0.0001 ("Common 
Stock") at a deemed value of $10.00 per share after giving effect to the exchange ratio of approximately 0.9522514 as defined in the Merger Agreement (the “Exchange 
Ratio”). Accordingly, immediately following the consummation of the Merger, Legacy Markforged common stock (after giving effect to the conversion of convertible 
preferred stock to Legacy Markforged common stock and the impact of the Employee Transactions) exchanged into 143,795,504 shares of Common Stock, 18,434,577 shares 
were reserved for the issuance of Common Stock upon the potential future exercise of Legacy Markforged stock options that were exchanged into Markforged stock options, 
and 24,065,423 shares of Common Stock were reserved for the potential future issuance of stock options and restricted stock units and 16,066,667 shares of Common Stock 
and restricted stock units were reserved for the potential future issuance upon achievement of certain earnout conditions described in the Merger Agreement.

In connection with the execution of the Merger Agreement, AONE entered into separate subscription agreements (each a “Subscription Agreement”) with a number of 
investors (each a “New PIPE Investor”), pursuant to which the New PIPE Investors agreed to purchase, and AONE agreed to sell to the New PIPE Investors, an aggregate of 
21,000,000 shares (“PIPE Shares”), of the  Common Stock for a purchase price of $10.00 per share and an aggregate purchase price of $210.0 million, in a private placement 
pursuant to the subscription agreements (the “PIPE Financing”). The PIPE Financing closed simultaneously with the consummation of the Merger.

In connection with the Closing, and under the terms of the Sponsor Support Agreement entered into in connection with the execution of the Merger Agreement, 
2,610,000 shares of the 5,220,000 shares of Common Stock held by the Sponsor after giving effect to the Domestication became subject to vesting conditions based on the 
achievement of certain market-based share price thresholds. These shares will be forfeited if certain price thresholds are not reached by the end of the five year period 
following the Closing. The Sponsor Earnout Shares will immediately vest in the event of a change of control or a liquidation of Markforged during the five year period 
following the Closing. As the Earnout Triggering Events have not yet been achieved, these issued and outstanding Sponsor Earnout Shares are treated as contingently 
recallable.

The number of shares of Common Stock issued immediately following the consummation of the Merger was as follows:
 

  Shares  
Common stock of one, outstanding prior to Merger (1)   26,875,000  
Less redemption of one Class A shares subject to possible redemption   (6,418,667 )
Common stock of one   20,456,333  
Shares issued in PIPE   21,000,000  
Merger and PIPE financing shares (2)   41,456,333  
Legacy Markforged shares (3)   143,795,504  
Total shares of common stock immediately after Merger   185,251,837  

(1) Includes AONE Class A shareholders 15,081,333, and AONE Class B shareholders 
5,375,000                                                                                                                                                                                                                 
                                                                       (2) This includes 2,610,000 contingently forfeitable Sponsor Shares pending the occurrence of 
the Sponsor Earnout Triggering Event
(3) The number of Legacy Markforged shares was determined from the 151,005,831 shares of Legacy Markforged common stock 
outstanding immediately prior to the closing of the Merger converted at the Exchange Ratio. All fractional shares were rounded down.  
  

 
The Merger is accounted for as a reverse recapitalization under accounting principles generally accepted in the United States ("'GAAP"). This determination is 

primarily based on Legacy Markforged stockholders comprising a relative majority of the voting power of Markforged and having the ability to nominate the members of the 
Board, Legacy Markforged’s operations prior to the acquisition comprising the only ongoing operations of Markforged, and Legacy Markforged’s senior management 
comprising a majority of the senior management of Markforged. Under this method of accounting, AONE is treated as the “acquired” company for financial reporting 
purposes. Accordingly, for accounting purposes, the financial statements of Markforged represent a continuation of the financial statements of Legacy Markforged with the 
Merger being treated as the equivalent of Markforged issuing stock for the net assets of AONE, accompanied by a recapitalization. The net assets of AONE are stated at 
historical costs, with no goodwill or other intangible assets recorded. Operations prior to the Merger are presented as those of Markforged. All periods prior to the Merger 
have 
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been retrospectively adjusted using the Exchange Ratio for the equivalent number of shares outstanding immediately after the Merger to effect the reverse recapitalization. 
Additionally, upon the consummation of the Merger, the Company issued 41,456,333 shares of Common Stock for the previously issued AONE common stock and PIPE 
Shares that were outstanding at the Closing Date.

In connection with the Merger, the Company raised $360.9 million of proceeds including the contribution of $215.1 million of cash held in AONE’s trust account 
from its initial public offering, net of redemptions of AONE public stockholders of $64.2 million, and $210.0 million of cash in connection with the PIPE financing. The 
Company incurred $34.5 million of transaction costs, consisting of banking, legal, and other professional fees, of which $18.5 million were incurred by AONE and paid from 
AONE's trust account at closing and $16.0 million incurred by Legacy Markforged. Of the total transaction costs, $2.0 million was recognized as an expense in the condensed 
consolidated statements of operations as part of general and administrative expenses and the balance was a reduction to additional paid-in capital.

Note 3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

The unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries. The Company’s fiscal year end is 
December 31 and, unless otherwise stated, all years and dates refer to the fiscal year. 

Basis of Presentation 

The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements of the Company are prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted 
in the United States of America (“US GAAP”) and pursuant to the regulations of the U.S Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). Certain information and footnote 
disclosures normally included in financial statements prepared in accordance with US GAAP have been condensed or omitted pursuant to the rules and regulations of the 
SEC. The condensed consolidated financial statements include the Company’s accounts and those of its subsidiaries. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions 
have been eliminated in consolidation. In the opinion of the Company’s management, the financial information for the interim periods presented reflects all adjustments, 
which are of a normal and recurring nature, necessary for a fair statement of the Company’s financial position, results of operations, and cash flows. The results reported in 
these condensed consolidated financial statements are not necessarily indicative of results that may be expected for the entire year. These financial statements should be 
read in conjunction with the Company’s audited consolidated financial statements and notes thereto included in the Company’s annual report on Form 10-K for the year 
ended December 31, 2021, filed with the SEC on March 31, 2022.

Reporting Currency 

The Company’s reporting currency is the U.S. Dollar, while the functional currencies of its foreign subsidiaries are their respective local currencies. The effect of 
foreign currency translation was immaterial for all periods presented. 

Use of Estimates 

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with US GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and 
expenses during the reporting period. Management’s significant estimates include allowance for doubtful accounts, reserve for excess and obsolete inventory, fair value of 
contingent earnout liability, fair value of earnout share awards, fair value of the private placement warrant liability, assumptions in revenue recognition, and valuation of 
intangibles and goodwill. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investments with original maturities of 90 days or less to be cash equivalents. Cash equivalents consists of money market funds and 
credit card payments in-transit.

Restricted Cash

Restricted cash represents cash and cash equivalents that are restricted to withdrawal or use as of the reporting date. Restricted cash as of June 30, 2022 relates to 
deposits to secure letters of credit. The deposits are related to contracts that have a remaining term greater than twelve months, thus this cash is included in other noncurrent 
assets. 
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Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts 

Trade accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced amount and do not bear interest. An allowance for doubtful accounts is provided for those accounts 
receivable considered to be uncollectible based on management’s assessment of the collectability of the accounts receivable which considers historical write-off experience 
and any specific risks identified in customer collection matters. 

The following presents the changes in the balance of the Company’s allowance for doubtful accounts: 
  

  Three Months Ended June 30,   Six Months Ended June 30,  
(in thousands)  2022   2021   2022   2021  
Balance at beginning of period  $ 971   $ 1,012   $ 1,021   $ 1,070  
Additions   264    296    392    378  
Write – offs   —    (63 )   (7 )   (64 )
Recoveries   (77 )   (80 )   (248 )   (219 )
Balance at end of period  $ 1,158   $ 1,165   $ 1,158   $ 1,165  

 

Fair Value of Financial Instruments 

The Company is required to provide information according to the fair value hierarchy based on the observability of the inputs used in the valuation techniques. The 
fair value hierarchy ranks the quality and reliability of the information used to determine fair values. Financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value will be classified and 
disclosed in one of the following three categories: 

 
 Level 1 Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

 Level 2 Inputs other than Level 1 that are observable, either directly or indirectly, such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities; quoted prices in 
markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of 
the assets or liabilities

 Level 3 Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets or liabilities
 
The following table presents information about the Company’s assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value as of June 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021 and 

indicates the fair value hierarchy of the valuation: 
  

  Fair Value Measurements  
(in thousands)  Level 1   Level 2   Level 3   Total  
June 30, 2022             
Money market funds included in cash and cash equivalents  $ 244,631   $ —   $ —   $ 244,631  
Contingent earnout liability   —    —    8,084    8,084  
Private placement warrant liability   —    —    977    977  
Teton acquisition contingent earnout liability   —    —    1,602    1,602  
December 31, 2021             
Money market funds included in cash and cash equivalents  $ 286,890   $ —   $ —   $ 286,890  
Contingent earnout liability   —    —    59,722    59,722  
Private placement warrant liability   —    —    2,646    2,646  

 
The Company remeasures its Common Stock Warrants (as defined below) and Private Placement Warrants (as defined below) at fair value at each reporting period 

using Level 3 inputs via the Black-Scholes option-pricing model and Binomial Lattice Model, respectively. The valuation of the earnout shares is based on a Monte Carlo 
simulation. The significant assumptions used in preparing the above models are disclosed in Note 14 Stock Warrants and Note 13 Earnout. The Teton Software Simulation 
("Teton") contingent earnout is related to the development and business milestone metrics estimated using a scenario-based approach discussed in Note 4. All Silicon 
Valley Bank ("SVB") warrants were exercised in June 2021. There were no transfers between levels during the periods presented. 
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(in thousands)  

Contingent 
Earnout 
Liability   

Private 
Placement 
Warrant 
Liability   

SVB Warrant 
Liability   

Teton Acquisition 
Contingent 

Earnout Liability   
Total Other 
Liabilities  

Fair Value as of December 31, 2020  $ —   $ —   $ 545   $ —   $ 545  
Change in fair value   —    —    1,251    —    1,251  
Derecognition of liability   —    —    (1,796 )   —    (1,796 )
Fair Value as of June 30, 2021  $ —   $ —   $ —   $ —   $ —  
                
Fair Value as of December 31, 2021  $ 59,722   $ 2,646   $ —   $ —   $ 62,368  
Change in fair value   (51,638 )   (1,669 )   —    —    (53,307 )
Additions   —    —    —    1,602    1,602  
Fair Value as of June 30, 2022  $ 8,084   $ 977   $ —   $ 1,602   $ 10,663  

 

Concentration of Credit Risk 

Financial instruments which potentially expose the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents held on deposit at one 
financial institution and accounts receivable. The Company does not require collateral from customers for amounts owed. At June 30, 2022, one customer represented 13% of 
the accounts receivable balance and at December 31, 2021 no one customer represented greater than 10% of the accounts receivable balance. For the three and six months 
ended June 30, 2022, one customer represented 12% of the total revenue. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2021, no one customer represented more than 10% of 
total revenue. Historically, the Company has not experienced any significant credit loss related to any individual customer. 

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets 

The Company evaluates whether events or circumstances have occurred that indicate that the estimated remaining useful life of its long-lived assets may warrant 
reassessment or that the carrying value of these assets may not be recoverable. When a triggering event is identified, management assesses the recoverability of the asset 
group, which is the lowest level where identifiable cash flows are largely independent, by comparing the expected undiscounted cash flows of the asset group to the carrying 
value. When the carrying value is not recoverable and an impairment is determined to exist, the asset group is written down to fair value. The Company did not identify any 
triggering events or record any impairment during the three and six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021. 

Sales and Marketing 

Advertising costs, a component of sales and marketing expenses, were $1.3 million and $2.3 million during the three and six months ended June 30, 2022, 
respectively, compared to $1.2 and $3.0 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2021, respectively.

Warranty Reserves 

Substantially all of the Company’s hardware products are covered by a standard assurance warranty of one year. In the event of a failure of a product covered by this 
warranty, the Company may repair or replace the product, at its option. The Company’s warranty reserve reflects estimated material and labor costs for potential or actual 
product issues for which the Company expects to incur an obligation. The Company periodically assesses the appropriateness of the warranty reserve and adjusts the amount 
as necessary. If the data used to calculate the appropriateness of the warranty reserve are not indicative of future requirements, additional or reduced warranty reserves may 
be necessary.
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Warranty reserves are included within accrued expenses on the condensed consolidated balance sheets. The following table presents changes in the balance of the 
Company’s warranty reserve: 
  

  Three Months Ended June 30,   Six Months Ended June 30,  
(in thousands)  2022   2021   2022   2021  
Balance at beginning of period  $ 805   $ 538   $ 658   $ 564  
Additions to warranty reserve   141    366    427    633  
Claims fulfilled   (156 )   (336 )   (295 )   (629 )
Balance at end of period  $ 790   $ 568   $ 790   $ 568  

 
Warranty reserve is recorded through cost of revenue in the condensed consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive  income (loss). 

Segment Information 

The Company determines its chief operating decision maker (“CODM”) based on the person responsible for making resource allocation decisions. Operating segments 
are components of the business for which the CODM regularly reviews discrete financial information. 

Common Stock Warrant Liabilities

The Company assumed 5,374,984 publicly-traded warrants (“Public Warrants”) and 3,150,000 private placement warrants originally issued by AONE (“Private 
Placement Warrants” and, together with the Public Warrants, the “Common Stock Warrants”) upon the Merger, all of which were issued in connection with AONE’s initial 
public offering and subsequent overallotment and entitle the holder to purchase one share of the Common Stock at an exercise price of $11.50 per share. The Common 
Stock Warrants became exercisable the later of 30 days after the Company completed the Merger or 12 months from the closing of AONE’s initial public offering, but can 
be terminated on the earlier of 5 years after the Merger, liquidation of the Company, or the Redemption Date as determined by the Company. During the three and six 
months ended June 30, 2022, no Public Warrants or Private Placement Warrants were exercised. The Public Warrants are publicly traded and are exercisable for cash unless 
certain conditions occur which would permit a cashless exercise, such as the failure to have an effective registration statement related to the shares issuable upon exercise or 
redemption by the Company under certain conditions. The Private Placement Warrants are not redeemable for cash so long as they are held by the initial purchasers or their 
permitted transferees but may be redeemable for common stock if certain other conditions are met. If the Private Placement Warrants are held by someone other than the 
initial purchasers or their permitted transferees, the Private Placement Warrants are redeemable by the Company and exercisable by such holders on the same basis as the 
Public Warrants.

The Company evaluated the Public Warrants and Private Placement Warrants and concluded that the Private Placement Warrants do not meet the criteria to be 
classified within stockholders’ equity.  The agreement governing the Common Stock Warrants includes a provision that, if applied, could result in a different settlement 
value for the Private Placement Warrants depending on their holder. Because the holder of an instrument is not an input into the pricing of a fixed-for-fixed option on the 
Company’s ordinary shares, the Private Placement Warrants are not considered to be “indexed to the Company’s own stock.” As the Private Placement Warrants meet the 
definition of a derivative, the Company recorded these warrants as liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet at fair value, with subsequent changes in their respective fair 
values recognized in the condensed consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss) at each reporting date as part of change in fair value of 
derivative liabilities, as described in Note 14. The provisions referenced above are not applicable to the Public Warrants which do not have differing settlement provisions 
based on the warrant holder. The Public Warrants are not precluded from being considered indexed to the Company’s stock and were recognized at fair value in 
stockholders’ equity on the closing of the Merger.

Contingent Earnout Liability

In connection with the Reverse Recapitalization and pursuant to the Merger Agreement, A-Star, the sponsor of AONE (the "Sponsor") surrendered 2,610,000 shares 
("Sponsor Earnout Shares") and eligible Markforged equity holders were entitled to receive as additional merger consideration 14,666,667 shares of the Company’s 
Common Stock ("Markforged Earnout Shares") upon the Company achieving certain Earnout Triggering Events (as described in the Merger Agreement and Note 13).  The 
contingent obligations to issue Markforged Earnout Shares in respect of Markforged common stock and release from lock-up Sponsor Earnout Shares, are accounted for as 
liability classified instruments in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification Topic 815-40, as the Earnout Triggering Events that determine the number of Sponsor 
and Markforged Earnout Shares required to be released or issued, as the case may be, include events that are not solely indexed to the fair value of common stock of 
Markforged.  The liability was 
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recognized at the reverse recapitalization date and is subsequently remeasured at each reporting date with changes in fair value recorded in the condensed consolidated 
statements of operations.

Markforged Earnout Shares issuable to employees with vested equity awards and Earnout RSUs (as described in the Merger Agreement) issuable to employees with 
unvested equity awards are considered a separate unit of account from the Markforged Earnout Shares issuable in respect of Markforged common stock and are accounted 
for as equity classified stock compensation. The Earnout Shares issuable to employees with vested equity awards are fully vested upon issuance, thus there is no requisite 
service period and the value of these shares is recognized as a one-time stock compensation expense for the grant date fair value. Earnout RSUs are contingent upon an 
employee completing a service vesting condition, and as such, reflect a transaction in which the Company acquires employee services by offering to issue its shares, the 
amount of which is based in part on the Company’s share price. Expense related to Earnout RSUs is recognized using graded vesting over the requisite service period for the 
Earnout RSUs.

The estimated fair values of the Sponsor Earnout Shares, Markforged Earnout Shares, and Earnout RSUs were determined by using a Monte Carlo simulation 
valuation model using a distribution of potential outcomes on a monthly basis over the five-year Earnout Period as defined in Note 13. The preliminary estimated fair values 
of Sponsor Earnout Shares, Markforged Earnout Shares, and Earnout RSUs were determined using the most reliable information available, including the current Company 
Common Stock price, expected volatility, risk-free rate, expected term and dividend rate.

The contingent earnout liability is categorized as a Level 3 fair value measurement (see Fair Value of Financial Instruments accounting policy as described above) 
because the Company estimated projections during the Earnout Period utilizing unobservable inputs. Contingent earnout payments involve certain assumptions requiring 
significant judgment and actual results can differ from assumed and estimated amounts.

Teton Software Simulation Contingent Earnout 

Contingent consideration represents potential future payments that the Company may be required to pay in the event negotiated milestones are met in connection 
with a business acquisition. Contingent consideration is recorded as a liability at the date of acquisition at fair value.  The fair value of contingent consideration related to the 
development milestone and business milestone metrics is estimated using a scenario-based approach, which is a special case of the income approach that uses several 
possible future scenarios. Under this approach, the value of the milestone payment is calculated as the probability-weighted payment across all scenarios. Significant 
increases or decreases in any of the probabilities of success or changes in expected timelines for achievement of any of the milestones could result in a significantly higher or 
lower fair value of the contingent consideration liability. The fair value of the contingent consideration at each reporting date is updated by reflecting the changes in fair 
value  in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations. See Note 4 for additional information. 

Leases

Prior to January 1, 2022, the Company accounted for leases in accordance with FASB Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) ASC 840, Leases. At lease 
inception, the Company determined if an arrangement was an operating or capital lease. For operating leases, the Company recognized rent expense, inclusive of rent 
escalations, on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Effective on January 1, 2022, the Company accounts for leases in accordance with ASC Topic 842, Leases (“ASC 842”).  In accordance with ASC 842, the 
Company determines whether an arrangement is or contains a lease at inception. A contract is or contains a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an 
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. The Company classifies leases at the lease commencement date, when control of the underlying asset is 
transferred from the lessor to the lessee, as operating or finance leases and records a right-of-use (“ROU”) asset and a lease liability on the consolidated balance sheet for all 
leases with an initial lease term of greater than 12 months. The Company has elected to not recognize leases with a lease term of 12 months or less on the balance sheet and 
will recognize lease payments for such short-term leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

The Company enters into contracts that contain both lease and non-lease components. Non-lease components may include maintenance, utilities, and other operating 
costs. For leases of real estate, the Company combines the lease and associated non-lease components in its lease arrangements as a single lease component. Variable costs, 
such as utilities or maintenance costs, are not included in the measurement of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, but rather are expensed when the event determining the 
amount of variable consideration to be paid occurs. 

Finance and operating lease assets and liabilities are recognized at the lease commencement date based on the present value of the lease payments over the lease 
term using the discount rate implicit in the lease if readily determinable. If the rate implicit is not 

12



 

readily determinable, the Company utilizes its incremental borrowing rate based upon the available information at the lease commencement date. ROU assets are further 
adjusted for initial direct costs, prepaid rent, or incentives received. Operating lease payments are expensed using the straight-line method as an operating expense over the 
lease term. The Company’s lease terms may include options to extend or terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain that the Company will exercise that option. 
Finance lease assets are amortized to depreciation expense using the straight-line method over the shorter of the useful life of the related asset or the lease term. Finance lease 
payments are bifurcated into (i) a portion that is recorded as interest expense and (ii) a portion that reduces the finance liability associated with the lease. The Company did 
not have any finance leases as of the date of adoption or during the six months ended June 30, 2022.

Business Combinations

The Company allocates the purchase price of acquired companies to the tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair 
values. The Company generally values the identifiable intangible assets acquired using a discounted cash flow model. The significant estimates used in valuing certain of the 
intangible assets, include, but are not limited to future expected cash flows of the asset, discount rates to determine the present value of the future cash flows and expected 
technology life cycles. Intangible assets are amortized over their estimated useful life; the period over which the Company anticipates generating economic benefit from the 
asset. Fair value adjustments subsequent to the acquisition date, that are not measurement period adjustments, are recognized in earnings.

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the future economic benefits arising from other assets acquired in a business combination that is not individually identified and separately 
recorded. The excess of the purchase price over the estimated fair value of net assets of businesses acquired in a business combination is recognized as goodwill. Goodwill is 
not amortized but is tested for impairment at least annually, or as circumstances indicate that the carrying value of the asset may not be recoverable through future 
operations. To assess if goodwill is impaired, the Company will perform a qualitative assessment to determine whether further impairment testing is necessary. The 
Company will then compare the carrying amount of the reporting unit to the fair value of the reporting unit. An excess carrying value over fair value would indicate that 
goodwill is impaired. The Company will perform an impairment assessment in the fourth quarter of 2022.

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets consist of identifiable intangible assets, specifically, developed technology, resulting from the Company’s acquisition of Teton Simulation 
Software. The Company evaluates definite-lived intangible assets for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets 
may not be recoverable through future operations. If indicators of impairment are present, the Company then compares the estimated undiscounted cash flows that the 
specific asset is expected to generate to its carrying value. If such assets are impaired, the impairment recognized is measured as the amount by which the carrying amount 
of the asset exceeds its fair value. To date, there have been no impairments of intangible assets. Intangible assets are amortized over their useful life.

Capitalized Software

The Company capitalizes qualifying internal-use software development costs, primarily related to its cloud platform. The costs consist of personnel costs that are 
incurred during the application development stage. Capitalization of costs begins when two criteria are met: (1) the preliminary project stage is completed, and (2) it is 
probable that the software will be completed and used for its intended function. Capitalization ceases when the software is substantially complete and ready for its intended 
use, including the completion of all significant testing. Costs related to preliminary project activities and post-implementation operating activities are expensed as incurred.
 The capitalized costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the asset, which is typically 3 years.

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements 

The Company is provided the option to adopt new or revised accounting guidance as an “emerging growth company” under the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act 
of 2012 (“the JOBS Act”) either (1) within the same periods as those otherwise applicable to public business entities, or (2) within the same time periods as private 
companies, including early adoption when permissible. With the exception of standards the Company elected to early adopt, when permissible, the Company has elected to 
adopt new or revised accounting guidance within the same time period as private companies. 
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In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, Leases, as subsequently amended (collectively, “ASC 842”), which sets out the principles for the recognition, 
measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases for both parties to a contract (i.e., lessees and lessors), and replaces the existing guidance in ASC 840, Leases. 

The new standard requires lessees to apply a dual approach, classifying leases as either finance or operating leases based on the principle of whether or not the lease 
is effectively a financed purchase by the lessee. This classification will determine the recognition pattern of lease expense over the term of the lease. In addition, a lessee is 
required to record (i) a right-of-use asset and a lease liability on its balance sheet for all leases with accounting lease terms of more than 12 months regardless of whether it is 
an operating or financing lease and (ii) lease expense in its consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income (loss) for operating leases and amortization and 
interest expense in its consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income (loss) for financing leases. Leases with a term of 12 months or less may be accounted 
for similar to existing guidance for operating leases under ASC 840. In July 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-11, Leases (Topic 842), which added an optional 
transition method that allows companies to adopt the standard as of the beginning of the year of adoption as opposed to the earliest comparative period presented. This 
guidance is effective for the Company for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2021, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022. Early 
application is permitted. 

The Company adopted ASC 842 during the quarter ended March 31, 2022, with an effective date of January 1, 2022, using the modified retrospective transition 
approach which uses the effective date as the date of initial application. As a result, prior periods are presented in accordance with the previous guidance in ASC 840. The 
Company has elected to apply the package of practical expedients requiring no reassessment of whether any expired or existing contracts are or contain leases, the lease 
classification of any expired or existing leases, or the capitalization of initial direct costs for any existing leases. 

Upon its adoption of ASC 842 on January 1, 2022, the Company recognized operating lease right-of-use assets and related operating lease liabilities, which 
increased the Company’s total assets and total liabilities by $12.2 million and $14.0 million, respectively. The adoption of ASC 842 did not have a material impact on the 
Company’s consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income (loss) or statement of cash flows and did not impact retained earnings.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments — Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments (“ASU 
2016-13”), which requires immediate recognition of expected credit losses for financial assets carried at amortized cost, including trade and other receivables, loans and 
commitments, held-to-maturity debt securities and other financial assets, held at the reporting date to be measured based on historical experience, current conditions and 
reasonable supportable forecasts. The new credit loss model does not have a minimum threshold for recognition of impairment losses and entities will need to measure 
expected credit losses on assets that have a low risk of loss. These changes become effective for the Company on January 1, 2023. The Company is currently evaluating the 
impact that the adoption of ASU 2016-13 will have on its condensed consolidated financial statements. 

Note 4. Acquisition 

On April 4, 2022, the Company acquired Teton Simulation Software (“Teton”) through a statutory merger in exchange for total consideration of $6.6 million, payable 
in a combination of cash and equity shares. Teton is a software company whose SmartSlice™ technology automates validation and optimizes part performance for additive 
manufacturing application. The Company will integrate Teton's technology with its printing software solution, Eiger™, as a subscription add-on that will offer manufacturing 
customers a streamlined workflow spanning part design, testing, optimization, validation and printing at the point of need, all on a single, cloud-based platform. 

A portion of the acquisition consideration is contingent on achievement by Teton of certain business and development milestones, with a fair value of $1.6 million as 
of the date of acquisition that was determined to be unchanged as of June 30, 2022. The Company will pay up to $1.5 million of business related contingent consideration 
based on stated sales metrics, which had a fair value of $1.0 million as of the date of acquisition. If Teton reaches certain product technical milestones, the Company will pay 
out a maximum of $1.5 million in development contingent consideration, which had a fair value of $0.6 million as of the date of acquisition.  Of the amount of cash and equity 
consideration indicated below, $0.25 million of the cash consideration and $0.25 million of the equity consideration has been “held-back.”  This amount will be released 12 
months following the Closing Date, unless there is a claim for indemnification. The holdback cash and shares are held on Markforged's balance sheet within accrued expenses 
and equity, respectively.

The total purchase price was allocated to the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on the Company’s preliminary estimates of their fair values on 
the acquisition date. The fair values assigned to Teton’s tangible and intangible assets and 
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liabilities assumed, are considered preliminary and are based on the information available at the date of the acquisition. Goodwill will not be deductible for tax purposes. 

The acquisition date fair value of the consideration transferred is as follows (in thousands):
 

Fair value of consideration transferred:   
Cash consideration $ 2,635  
Equity consideration  2,354  
Development milestone earnout fair value  1,020  
Business milestone earnout fair value  582  
Total consideration transferred $ 6,591  

 
The following table summarizes the preliminary allocation of the purchase price to the estimated fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed (in thousands):
 

Fair value of assets acquired: At April 4, 2022  
Cash and cash equivalents $ 383  
Accounts receivable  5  
Other assets  17  
Intangible assets  2,220  
Goodwill  4,475  
Assets acquired: $ 7,100  

Fair value of liabilities assumed:   
Customer payable - cancelled contracts $ 38  
Accrued Expense for pre-acquisition expenses  231  
Accrued Expense for grant repayment  240  
Liabilities acquired: $ 509  

 
The estimated useful life of the identifiable intangible asset acquired, developed technology, is 7 years.

Note 5. Revenue 

Contract Balances 

For the three and six months ended June 30, 2022, the Company recognized $2.5 million and $3.9 million of revenue, respectively, from the deferred revenue account 
balances as of  March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2021, the Company recognized $1.6 million and $3.6 million of revenue, 
respectively, from the deferred revenue account balance as of March 31, 2021 and  December 31, 2020. 

Deferred revenue is expected to be recognized when the Company provides hardware maintenance services or contractual performance obligations for which the 
customer has already provided payment with $3.7 million expected to be recognized in the remainder of 2022, $3.6 million expected to be recognized in 2023, $2.0 million 
expected to be recognized in 2024, and $0.6 million thereafter.

Disaggregation of Revenue 

The following table disaggregates the Company’s revenue based on the nature of the products and services:
 

  Three Months Ended June 30,   Six Months Ended June 30,  
(in thousands)  2022   2021   2022   2021  
Hardware  $ 16,011   $ 14,331   $ 30,527   $ 28,569  
Consumables   5,889    4,780    11,345    9,397  
Services

  2,327    1,308    4,214    2,573  
Total Revenue  $ 24,227   $ 20,419   $ 46,086   $ 40,539  
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Note 6. Property and Equipment, net 

Property and equipment consist of the following: 
 

(in thousands)  
June 30,

2022   
December 31,

2021  
Machinery and equipment  $ 6,777   $ 6,091  
Leasehold improvements   2,426    2,262  
Computer equipment   2,098    1,764  
Furniture and fixtures   447    367  
Computer software   270    250  
Construction in process   1,970    1,741  
Property and equipment, gross   13,988    12,475  
Less: Accumulated depreciation   (7,049 )   (6,126 )
Property and equipment, net  $ 6,939   $ 6,349  

 
For the three and six months ended June 30, 2022, depreciation expense for property and equipment was $0.4 million and $0.9 million, respectively, compared to $0.4 

million and $0.8 million, respectively, for the three and six months ended June 30, 2021.

Note 7. Inventory 

Inventory consists of the following: 
 

(in thousands)  
June 30,

2022   
December 31,

2021  
Raw material  $ 2,070   $ 853  
Work in process   213    77  
Finished goods   17,038    9,447  
Total inventory  $ 19,321   $ 10,377  

 
The Company maintained reserves for obsolete inventory of $1.1 million and $1.0 million as of June 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, respectively.  As of June 30, 

2022, obsolete inventory impairment related to finished goods is $0.9 million and $0.2 million is related to raw materials. As of December 31, 2021, obsolete inventory 
impairment related to finished goods is $0.8 million and $0.2 million is related to raw materials. The impairment of obsolete inventories are recorded within cost of revenue in 
the condensed consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss). 

Note 8. Goodwill and Intangible Assets

The following tables summarizes the Company’s goodwill and intangible asset, all of which are related to the acquisition of Teton Simulation Software in April 
2022 (in thousands):

 
(in thousands)  Goodwill  
December 31, 2021  $ —  
Acquisition of Teton Simulation Software   4,475  
June 30, 2022  $ 4,475  
 
 
.  Estimated Useful Life (in years)  Gross carrying value   Accumulated Amortization   Net Book Value  
Developed technology  7  $ 2,220   $ (5 )  $ 2,215  
 

The Company recognized $5 thousand of amortization expense to costs of goods sold during the three and six months ended June 30, 2022. Revenue is the basis for 
the economic pattern used to determine the amortization schedule. Annual amortization expense for intangible assets is expected to be $16 thousand in 2022, $310 thousand in 
2023, $553 thousand in 2024, $565 thousand in 2025, $429 thousand in 2026, and $417 thousand thereafter.
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Note 9. Accrued Expenses 

The following table summarizes the Company’s components of accrued expenses: 
 

(in thousands)  
June 30,

2022   
December 31,

2021  
Warranty reserve  $ 790   $ 658  
Compensation, benefits, and expenses   3,380    4,360  
VAR commissions   119    265  
Professional services   3,600    1,725  
Marketing and advertising   270    122  
Teton acquisition holdback liability   250    —  
Accrued taxes   267    149  
Other   849    132  
Total accrued expense  $ 9,525   $ 7,411  

 

Note 10. Borrowings 

PPP Loan 

On April 10, 2020, the Company was granted a loan (the “Loan”) from a lending institution in the aggregate amount of $5.0 million, pursuant to the Paycheck 
Protection Program (the “PPP”) under Division A, Title I of the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (“CARES Act”), which was enacted March 27, 2020. 

The Loan, which was in the form of a note dated April 21, 2020, was scheduled to mature on April 21, 2022 and bore interest at a rate of 1% per annum, payable 
monthly commencing on November 22, 2020. The terms of the note permitted prepayment by the borrower at any time prior to maturity with no prepayment penalties. The 
Company paid off the loan in full in January 2021.

Note 11. Convertible Preferred Stock, Common Stock and Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)

As a result of the Merger, the convertible preferred stock was converted into Legacy Markforged common stock and recapitalized into Common Stock. There was no 
convertible preferred stock outstanding as of June 30, 2022. The following table summarizes details of convertible preferred stock authorized, issued and outstanding as of 
December 31, 2020. The Company has retroactively adjusted the shares issued and outstanding prior to July 14, 2021 to give effect to the Exchange Ratio to determine the 
number of shares of common stock into which they were converted: 
 

  December 31, 2020  

(in thousands, except for share counts)  
Shares

Authorized   

Shares Issued
and

Outstanding   

Issuance
Price Per

Share   

Net
Carrying

Value   
Liquidation
Preference  

Series Seed   18,233,848    17,062,642   $ 0.0649   $ 1,107   $ 1,107  
Series A   28,725,920    27,354,298    0.3107    8,437    8,500  
Series B   34,391,480    32,749,335    0.4635    15,096    15,180  
Series C   14,468,290    13,777,449    2.1775    29,881    30,000  
Series D   17,599,646    16,649,077    4.9906    82,976    83,089  
Total convertible preferred stock   113,419,184    107,592,801      $ 137,497   $ 137,876  
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Common Stock Reserved for Future Issuance 

The Company has reserved the following shares of common stock for future issuance: 
 

  
June 30,

2022   
December 31,

2021  
Common stock options outstanding and unvested RSU   18,653,953    20,267,035  
Shares available for issuance under the 2021 plan   30,549,724    21,502,768  
Common stock warrants outstanding   8,525,000    8,525,000  
Shares available for issuance as Earnout RSU   1,400,000    1,400,000  
Employee stock purchase plan   

6,559,930
   

4,700,000
 

Total shares of authorized common stock reserved
   for future issuance   65,688,607    56,394,803  

 

Note 12. Equity Based Awards

On July 13, 2021, the Company’s stockholders approved the Markforged Holding Corporation 2021 Stock Option and Incentive Plan (“2021 Plan”) and the 
Markforged Holding Corporation 2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“2021 ESPP”). As of June 30, 2022, 30,549,724 and 6,559,930 shares of common stock were 
available for issuance under the 2021 Plan and 2021 ESPP, respectively. 

Under the 2021 Plan, the Company can grant stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock awards, restricted stock units (“RSUs”), unrestricted stock 
awards, cash-based awards, and dividend equivalent rights.  The 2021 Plan provides that an additional number of shares of common stock will automatically be added to the 
shares of common stock authorized for issuance under the 2021 Plan on January 1 of each year. The number of shares of common stock added each year will be equal to (i) 
5% of the number of shares of common stock issued and outstanding on the immediately preceding December 31 or (ii) such lesser amount as determined by the Company’s 
Board of Directors.

The 2021 ESPP allows eligible employees to authorize payroll deductions between 1% and 15% of the base salary or wages, up to $25,000 annually, to be applied 
toward the purchase of shares of the Company’s common stock occurring at offering periods determined by the Company.  At each offering period, the eligible employee will 
have the option to acquire common stock at a discount of up to 15% of the lesser of the Company’s common stock on (i) the first trading day of the offering period or (ii) the 
last day of the offering period.  The offering periods under the 2021 ESPP are not to exceed 27 months between periods.  On January 1 of each subsequent year under the 
plan, the number of shares available for issuance under the plan will be increased by the lesser of (i) 4,700,000 shares of common stock, (ii) one percent of the number of 
shares of common stock issued and outstanding as of December 31 of the immediately preceding year, or (iii) number of shares of common stock determined by the 
Company. During the six months ended June 30, 2022 the Company did not recognize stock compensation expense related to the 2021 ESPP as there were no grants under the 
2021 ESPP.

Legacy Markforged's 2013 Stock Plan (the “2013 Plan”) was terminated at the Closing and no further awards will be granted thereunder. The 2013 Plan was 
terminated at Closing and all outstanding awards became outstanding under the 2021 Plan. Option activity under the plan for the year to date period ending June 30, 2022 is 
as follows: 
 

  
Number of

Shares   

Weighted-
Average
Exercise

Price
(Per

Share)   

Weighted-
Average

Remaining
Contractual

Life
(in years)  

Outstanding at December 31, 2021   15,929,479   $ 1.81    8.71  
Granted   —    —     
Exercised   (1,386,548 )   1.08     
Forfeited   (1,612,180 )   2.14     
Outstanding at June 30, 2022   12,930,751   $ 1.97   7.46  
Options exercisable at June 30, 2022   7,722,203   $ 1.85   7.18  

 
The aggregate intrinsic value of stock options outstanding at June 30, 2022 was $1.9 million. As of June 30, 2022, the Company had 12,612,693 options vested and 

expected to vest. 
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Additional information regarding the exercise of stock options is as follows:
 
  Six Months Ended June 30,  
(in thousands, except weighted average)  2022   2021  
Intrinsic value of options exercised  $ 3,024   $ 6,450  

 
In the six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, the Company did not grant any options to purchase shares of Common Stock.
 

Restricted Stock Units

During the six months ended June 30, 2022, the Company awarded RSUs to newly hired employees and continuing employees. The fair value per share of these 
awards was determined based on the fair market value of our stock on the date of the grant and is being recognized as stock-based compensation expense over the requisite 
service period. The following table summarizes the RSU activity for the six months ended June 30, 2022:
 

  
Number of

Shares   

Weighted-
Average

Grant Date Fair Value
(Per

Share)  
Outstanding at December 31, 2021   4,337,556   $ 9.12  
Granted   2,275,783    3.29  
Vested   (592,376 )   8.84  
Forfeited   (297,761 )   8.88  
Unvested at June 30, 2022   5,723,202   $ 7.47  

 

Stock-Based Compensation Expense

 The Company recorded compensation expense related to options and RSUs of $8.3 million and $3.0 million for the six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, 
respectively. Total unrecognized stock-based compensation expense for the RSUs outstanding was $29.9 million at June 30, 2022, which is expected to be recognized over a 
weighted-average period of 3.0 years. Total unrecognized stock-based compensation expense for the options outstanding was $5.3 million at June 30, 2022, which is expected 
to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.9 years.

 
  Three Months Ended June 30,   Six Months Ended June 30,  
(in thousands)  2022   2021   2022   2021  
Stock options  $ 957   $ 1,188   $ 1,944   $ 2,382  
Restricted stock units   3,048    589    6,346    589  
Stock-based compensation expense for restricted stock units and options  $ 4,005   $ 1,777   $ 8,290   $ 2,971  
  

During the three and six months ended June 30, 2022, the Company recognized stock-based compensation expense related to the Markforged Earnout of  $0.9 million 
and $2.0 million, respectively. The unrecognized compensation expense related to the Markforged Earnout is $4.6 million and will be recognized over a remaining period of 
no more than 3.0 years, dependent on when vesting conditions are met.  

The stock-based compensation expense for stock-based awards and earnout shares were recognized in the following captions within the condensed consolidated 
statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss) for the three and six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021:
 

  Three Months Ended June 30,   Six Months Ended June 30,  
(in thousands)  2022   2021   2022   2021  
Cost of revenue  $ 102   $ 62   $ 217   $ 89  
Sales and marketing   775    237    1,624    320  
Research and development   1,572    394    2,991    725  
General and administrative   2,463    1,084    5,502    1,837  
Total stock-based compensation expense  $ 4,912   $ 1,777   $ 10,334   $ 2,971  
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Note 13. Earnout

During the five year period after the Closing (“Earnout Period”), Eligible Markforged Equityholders are entitled to receive up to 14,666,667 Markforged Earnout 
Shares upon the occurrence of certain triggering events (the “Earnout”). During the Earnout Period, the Sponsor’s 2,610,000 surrendered shares of common stock will be 
released from lock-up upon certain triggering events.

On the date when the volume-weighted average trading sale price (“VWAP”) of one share of the Common Stock quoted on the NYSE is greater than or equal to 
$12.50 for any twenty trading days within any thirty consecutive trading day period within the Earnout Period (“Triggering Event I”), the Eligible Markforged Equityholders 
will receive 8,000,000 Markforged Earnout Shares distributed on a pro-rata basis and 50% of the Sponsor’s surrendered shares will be released from lock-up to the Sponsor. 

On the date when the VWAP of one share of the Company’s common stock quoted on the NYSE is greater than or equal to $15.00 for any twenty trading days within 
any thirty consecutive trading day period within the Earnout Period (“Triggering Event II” and together with Triggering Event I, each a "Triggering Event"), the Eligible 
Markforged Equityholders will receive the remaining 6,666,667 Markforged Earnout Shares distributed on a pro-rata basis and the remaining 50% of the Sponsor’s 
surrendered shares will be released from lock-up to the Sponsor. 

As discussed in Note 3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, there are two units of account within the Markforged Earnout Shares depending on whether the 
Eligible Markforged Equityholder is entitled to receive Markforged Earnout Shares with respect to a Legacy Markforged equity award, whether vested or unvested, or with 
respect to Legacy Markforged common stock. Earnout Shares issuable with respect to an unvested Legacy Markforged equity award as Earnout RSUs are subject to forfeiture 
if the holder does not complete the required service period. From the Closing through the date of a forfeiture of an unvested Legacy Markforged equity award, forfeited 
Earnout Shares are distributed to the remaining Eligible Markforged Equityholders on a pro-rata basis. The forfeited Earnout Shares are fungible between the two units of 
account. The following table summarizes the number of Earnout Shares allocated to each unit of account as of June 30, 2022:
 

  Triggering Event I 
Earnout Shares   Triggering Event II 

Earnout Shares  

Derivative liability   7,250,633    6,042,188  
Stock compensation   749,367    624,479  
Total Earnout Shares   8,000,000    6,666,667  

 
As of the Closing, the estimated value of the Markforged Earnout Shares and surrendered Sponsor shares was $8.04 per share issuable upon Triggering Event I and 

$7.66 per share issuable upon Triggering Event II. The estimated value of the Markforged Earnout Shares and surrendered Sponsor shares as of June 30, 2022 is $0.55 per 
share issuable upon Triggering Event I and $0.46 per share issuable upon Triggering Event II. The valuation of the Markforged Earnout Shares and surrendered Sponsor 
shares is based on a Monte Carlo simulation valuation model using a distribution of potential outcomes on a monthly basis over the Earnout period using the most reliable 
information available. The following table describes the assumptions used in the valuation:
 

  June 30,   July 14,  
  2022   2021  
Current stock price  $ 1.85   $ 8.56  
Expected volatility   65.00 %  70.00 %
Risk-free interest rate   2.98 %  0.85 %
Dividend rate   — %  — %
Expected term (years)   4.00    5.00  

 
Neither of the Earnout Triggering Events have occurred as of June 30, 2022 and therefore no earnout shares were distributed.

Note 14. Stock Warrants 

Legacy Markforged Common Stock Warrants

As part of a loan agreement entered into with a lending institution during 2015, Legacy Markforged issued warrants to the lender granting the right to purchase 
180,928 shares of the Legacy Markforged common stock at an exercise price of $0.06 per share. The loan agreement was terminated prior to January 1, 2018. The warrants 
were due to expire on February 17, 2025.
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The warrants were classified as a derivative liability within other liabilities prior to exercise in the condensed consolidated balance sheets and subsequent adjustments 
to fair value are shown in other expense in the condensed consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss). 

 The fair value is measured at each reporting date using the Black-Scholes model using the following inputs. The inputs below correspond to June 30, 2021:
 

    

  
June 30, 

2021  
Expected (remaining) option term (in years)  3.69  
Expected volatility%   65.0 %
Risk-free interest rate%   0.45 %
Expected dividend yield%   0 %
Fair value of common stock (per share)  $ 9.51  

 
Management considers contemporaneous third-party valuations in its determination of the fair value of common stock. The fair value of common stock increased 

significantly in large part due to the change in the probability of special purpose acquisition company (SPAC) exit. For the June 30, 2021 valuation, the Company assigned a 
95% probability of a SPAC exit and a 5% probability of staying a private company.

Preferred Stock Warrants

As part of a development agreement executed with a customer in 2019, Legacy Markforged agreed to issue warrants to the customer to purchase Series D convertible 
preferred stock that would vest upon the achievement of certain payment milestones. The warrants granted the customer the right to purchase up to 280,528 shares of the 
Company’s Series D convertible preferred stock at an exercise price of $0.0001 per share. As the customer remits payment for goods purchased from the Company under the 
development agreement, a pro-rata share of warrants vest. The warrants were set to expire on September 24, 2029 but were completely vested and exercised as of the Closing.

The Company accounts for the warrants issued to the customer as consideration payable to the customer and a reduction of revenue with a corresponding adjustment to 
convertible preferred stock. The Company accounts for the warrants that vest to the customer as a reduction to deferred revenue and a corresponding adjustment to convertible 
preferred stock. The value of the warrants is measured based on the grant date fair value. The grant date was considered to occur at the execution date of the development 
agreement. 

In accordance with the development agreement, 71,138 warrants vested during the three months ended June 30, 2021 and 91,175 warrants vested during the six 
months ended June 30, 2021.  As a result, the Company recorded $0.4 and $0.5 million of expense related to the warrants for the three and six months ended June 30, 2021, 
respectively. The remaining 19,036 warrants outstanding and unvested as of June 30, 2021 were vested before the Merger. 

Private Placement Warrants and Public Warrants

The Private Placement Warrants were initially recognized as a liability on July 14, 2021 at a fair value of $5.7 million. The Private Placement Warrants were 
remeasured to a fair value of $1.0 million as of June 30, 2022. The Company recorded a gain of $1.0 million and $1.7 million, respectively, for the three and six months ended 
June 30, 2022, which is included in change in fair value of warrant liabilities on the condensed consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss).

The Private Placement Warrants were valued using the following assumptions under the Binomial Lattice Model:
 

  
June 30,

2022   
July 14,

2021  
Market price of public stock  $ 1.85   $ 8.56  
Exercise price  $ 11.50   $ 11.50  
Expected term (years)  4.04   5.01  
Volatility   125.0 %  39.1 %
Risk-free interest rate   2.98 %  0.85 %
Dividend rate   0.0 %  0.0 %

 
The Public Warrants were recognized in stockholder’s equity at a fair value of $9.7 million on July 14, 2021.

21



 

Note 15. Income Taxes 

The Company recognizes deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of events that have been included in the Company’s condensed 
consolidated financial statements and tax returns. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based upon the differences between the consolidated financial statements 
carrying amounts and the tax bases of existing assets and liabilities and for loss and credit carryforwards, using enacted tax rates expected to be in effect in the years in which 
the differences are expected to reverse. Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance if it is more likely than not that these assets may not be realized. The 
Company recognized a de minimis tax expense during the three and six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021.

The Company provides reserves for potential payments of taxes to various tax authorities related to uncertain tax positions. Amounts recognized are based on a 
determination of whether a tax benefit taken by the Company in its tax filings or positions is “more likely than not” to be sustained on audit. The amount recognized is equal to 
the largest amount that is more than 50% likely to be sustained. Interest and penalties associated with uncertain tax positions are recorded as a component of income tax 
expense. As of June 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, the Company’s uncertain tax positions are not material and would not impact the effective tax rate if recognized as a 
result of the valuation allowance maintained against the Company’s net deferred tax assets.

The Company has evaluated the positive and negative evidence bearing upon the realizability of its deferred tax assets, which are primarily comprised of net operating 
loss carryforwards and capitalized research and development costs at December 31, 2021. Since its inception, the Company has not recorded any income tax benefits for the 
net losses incurred or for the research and development tax credits earned in each year and interim period, as the Company believes, based upon the weight of available 
evidence, that it is more likely than not that all of its net operating loss carryforwards and tax credit carryforwards will not be realized. Management has determined that it is 
more likely than not that the Company will not recognize the benefits of federal and state deferred tax assets and, as a result, a full valuation allowance has been established at 
December 31, 2021. There is no material adjustment to the valuation allowance at June 30, 2022. 

Note 16. Leases

In January 2017, the Company entered into a lease agreement for 32,000 rentable square feet of office space located at 85 School Street, Watertown, Massachusetts. 
The lease term, which commenced in June 2017, was set to expire August 1, 2023. In August 2017, the Company entered into the First Amendment of the lease which 
extended the maturity date to January 31, 2024.

In November 2020, the Company entered into a lease agreement for 36,291 rentable square feet of office space on the 1st floor of the building located at 480 Pleasant 
Street, Watertown, Massachusetts. The lease term, which commenced in November 2020, is set to expire July 31, 2028, with lease payments being made on a monthly basis. 
There is also an option to extend for 2 additional periods of 5 years, which is not reasonably certain to be exercised and therefore not included in the measurement of the lease.

In March 2019, the Company entered into a lease agreement for 25,000 rentable square feet of office space in the building located at 900 Middlesex Turnpike, 
Billerica, Massachusetts. The lease term, which commenced in July 2019, was set to expire July 1, 2026, with an option to extend for 2 additional periods of 5 years each, and 
required monthly payments. In December 2021, the Company entered into the First Amendment of the lease and expanded the office space by approximately 21,902 rentable 
square feet and extended the maturity date to May 31, 2029 (“Expansion Premises”). The Expansion Premises has not been made available to the Company as of June 30, 
2022 and is therefore not included in the table below, as the lease term for the Expansion Premises has not commenced.  In July 2022, the Company entered into the Amended 
and Restated First Amendment to the lease which modified the lease commencement date to November 1, 2022, when the lease premises are expected to be made available to 
the Company. In addition, the lease expiration date of the original premises and expansion premises was amended to October 31, 2029.  The annual base rent for the 
Expansion Premises per the lease agreement is approximately $0.4 million for the first lease year, and is subject to annual increases of 3% thereafter. The undiscounted future 
minimum rent obligation is approximately $2.7 million.

In December 2021, the Company entered into a lease agreement for 120,681 rentable square feet of office space located at 60 Tower Road, Waltham, Massachusetts 
(the “Premises”). The lease term, which commenced April 1, 2022, is set to expire September 30, 2031. At lease commencement, the classification and measurement of the 
lease was determined and recognized on the balance sheet. The annual base rent under the lease is approximately $4.8 million for the first lease year, which commenced July 
2022, and is subject to fixed annual increases. The undiscounted future minimum rent obligation is approximately $49.3 million, and the discounted right of use asset and 
liability on the date of commencement, April 1, 2022, was $36.2 million. Per the lease agreement, the Company has provided a security deposit in the form of a letter of credit 
in the amount of approximately $0.8 million. This letter of credit is recorded as restricted cash within non-current other assets on the balance sheet.

Rent expense under the Company’s operating lease agreements was $2.0 million and $0.7 million for the three months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021. For the six 
months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, rent expense was $2.6 million and $1.3 million. There 
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were not any financing, variable, or short term leases during the six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021. Future minimum lease payments under these agreements are as 
follows as of June 30, 2022: 
 
(in thousands)  Amount  
 2022  $ 3,268  
 2023   7,957  
 2024   7,140  
 2025   7,216  
 2026   7,385  
After 2026   30,423  
Total future lease payments  $ 63,389  
  Less: interest   (14,225 )

 Present value of lease liabilities  $ 49,164  
 

  
Three Months Ended

June 30, 2022  
Six Months Ended June 30, 

2022  
 Supplemental cash flow information:      
 Cash payments for operating leases included in cash flows from operating activities   613   2,011  
 
  June 30, 2022  
 Other lease information    
 Weighted-average remaining lease term - Operating leases

 
8.3 years

 
 Weighted-average discount rate - Operating leases   6.0 %

 
Future minimum lease payments under these agreements are as follows as of December 31, 2021:
 

(in thousands)  Amount  
 2022  $ 5,499  
 2023   8,314  
 2024   7,507  
 2025   7,594  
 2026   7,775  
After 2026   31,412  
Total future lease payments  $ 68,101  
 

Note 17. Commitments and Contingencies 

Legal Proceedings 

From time to time, the Company may face legal claims or actions in the normal course of business. At each reporting date, the Company evaluates whether a potential 
loss amount or a potential range of loss is probable and reasonably estimable under the provisions of the authoritative guidance that address accounting for contingencies. The 
Company expenses as incurred the costs related to its legal proceedings.

In July 2021, Continuous Composites Inc. (“Continuous Composites”), a company based out of Idaho, brought a claim in the United States District Court for the 
District of Delaware against the Company regarding patent infringement. While the Company takes any claims of infringement seriously, Markforged believes that 
Continuous Composites’ claims are baseless and without merit. The Company intends to mount a vigorous defense against Continuous Composites in court.  However, the 
Company can provide no assurance as to the outcome of any such disputes, and any such actions may result in judgments against Markforged for significant damages. The 
Company does not believe that a loss is probable and did not record a loss contingency for the three and six months ended June 30, 2022.

Note 18. Net Profit (Loss) Per Share 

The Company computes basic net profit (loss) per share using net profit (loss) attributable to Company common stockholders and the weighted-average number of 
common shares outstanding during each period. Diluted earnings per share includes shares issuable upon exercise of warrants, outstanding stock options, stock-based awards, 
and earnout awards where the conversion of such 
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instruments would be dilutive. The Company assessed the dilutive effect of potential common shares under the treasury stock method for warrants, outstanding stock options, 
and stock-based awards, but excluding contingently issuable shares for the Markforged Earnout Shares. 

 
As a result of the Merger, the Company has retroactively adjusted the weighted-average number of shares of common stock outstanding prior to the Merger closing 

date by multiplying them by the Exchange Ratio used to determine the number of shares of common stock into which they converted.
 

  Three Months Ended June 30,   Six Months Ended June 30,  
(in thousands, except per share amounts)  2022   2021   2022   2021  
Numerator:             
Net profit (loss) and comprehensive income (loss)  $ 4,075   $ (11,090 )  $ 8,314   $ (21,109 )
Net profit (loss) attributable to common stockholders - Basic & Diluted   4,075    (11,090 )   8,314    (21,109 )

Denominator:             
Weighted average shares outstanding - Basic   188,102,342    39,855,379    187,247,566    39,649,848  

Add: Weighted average unvested options outstanding   636,975    —    581,279    —  
Add: Dilutive effect of restricted units issued   137,446    —    500,486    —  

Weighted average shares outstanding - Diluted   188,876,763    39,855,379    188,329,331    39,649,848  
Net profit (loss) per common share:             
Basic  $ 0.02   $ (0.28 )  $ 0.04   $ (0.53 )
Diluted   0.02    (0.28 )   0.04    (0.53 )

 
For the three and six months ended June 30, 2021, the Company was in a net loss position, thus the effect of potentially dilutive securities, including non-vested stock 

options, restricted stock awards, warrants, and convertible preferred stock, was excluded from the denominator for the calculation of diluted net loss per share because the 
inclusion of such securities would be antidilutive. The following dilutive securities are excluded from the denominator: 
 

  
Three Months Ended 

June 30,   
Six Months Ended 

June 30,  
  2022   2021   2022   2021  

Convertible preferred stock   —    107,683,976    —    107,683,976  
Unvested RSUs   5,585,756    1,419,093    5,096,729    1,419,093  
Unvested option awards   5,155,894    12,142,483    2,577,947    12,142,483  
Warrants   8,524,984    —    8,524,984    —  
Contingently issuable earnout shares   14,666,667    —    14,666,667    —  
Total   33,933,301    121,245,552    30,866,327    121,245,552  
 

Note 19. Segment Information 

In the operation of the business, the Chief Executive Officer, who is the Company’s chief operating decision maker, reviews the business as one segment. The 
Company currently sells its product in the Americas, Europe, Middle East and Africa (“EMEA”), and Asia Pacific (“APAC”) markets. The Company measures revenue based 
on the physical location of where the customer who is receiving the promised goods or service is located. Disaggregated revenue data for those markets is as follows: 
 

 
 

Three Months Ended
June 30,   

Six Months Ended
June 30,  

(in thousands)  2022   2021   2022   2021  
Americas  $ 11,462   $ 9,806   $ 21,559   $ 20,232  
EMEA   7,545    6,425    14,265    12,687  
APAC   5,220    4,188    10,262    7,620  
Total

 $
24,227

  $
20,419

  $
46,086

  $
40,539

 
 

Revenue generated from customers within the Company’s country of domicile, the United States, amounted to $10.6 million and $9.8 million for the three months 
ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively. For the six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, revenue in the United States was $20.1 million and $19.4 million. The 
Company’s long-lived assets are substantially located in the United States, where the Company’s primary operations are located. 
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Note 20. Subsequent Events 

On July 11, 2022, the Company entered into a definitive agreement with Höganäs AB to acquire Digital Metal, the creator of a leading binder jetting solution known to 
be precise and reliable, extending the Company’s capabilities into high-throughput production of metal additive parts. Powder binder jetting complements the existing Digital 
Forge offering, and the Company believes the acquisition will expand the Company’s addressable market by solving new customer problems. As part of the transaction, the 
Company will pay Höganäs approximately $32.0 million in cash, approximately 4.1 million shares of Markforged common stock, and approximately $1.5 million in cash to 
settle certain intercompany balances, subject to certain adjustments. The acquisition of Digital Metal is expected to close during the third quarter of 2022, subject to customary 
conditions.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations. 

Unless otherwise indicated or the context otherwise requires, references in this section to “Markforged,” “we,” “us,” “our” and other similar terms refer to 
Markforged Holding Corporation and its subsidiaries after giving effect to the Merger. The following discussion and analysis summarizes the significant factors affecting the 
consolidated operating results, financial condition, liquidity and cash flows of our company as of and for the periods presented below. The following discussion and analysis 
should be read in conjunction with our unaudited consolidated financial statements and the related notes thereto included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. 
The discussion contains forward-looking statements that are based on the beliefs of management, as well as assumptions made by, and information currently available to, our 
management. Actual results could differ materially from those discussed in or implied by forward-looking statements as a result of various factors, including those discussed 
below and elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, particularly in the sections entitled “Risk Factors” and “Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking 
Statements.”

Business Overview

Our platform, The Digital Forge, is an intuitive additive manufacturing platform powering engineers, designers and manufacturing professionals globally. The Digital 
Forge combines precise and reliable 3D printers and metal and composite proprietary materials seamlessly with its cloud-based learning software offering to empower 
manufacturers to create more resilient and agile supply chains.  Founded in 2013 by two MIT-educated engineers, Markforged is based in greater Boston, Massachusetts, where 
we have our own in-house manufacturing facility and where we design all of our industrial 3D printers, software and metal and composite proprietary materials.

Since our inception, we have incurred significant operating losses. Our ability to generate revenue sufficient to achieve profitability will depend on the successful further 
development and commercialization of our products. We generated revenue of $46.1 million and $40.5 million for the six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively, 
and incurred net profit of $8.3 million and net loss of $21.1 million, respectively, for those same periods. Net profit for the six months ended June 30, 2022 is inclusive of non-
cash mark-to-market gains of $53.3 million. As of June 30, 2022, we had an accumulated deficit of $67.4 million. We expect to continue to incur operating losses as we focus 
on growing commercial sales of our products in both the United States and international markets, including growing our sales teams, scaling our manufacturing operations, 
continuing research and development efforts to develop new products and further enhance our existing products. Further, we expect to continue to incur additional general and 
administrative expenses associated with operating as a public company. In addition, we will incur substantial spending to build out the global footprint of our sales network, 
continue investing in research and development to accelerate product innovation, and fund inorganic growth opportunities. 

Merger agreement 

On February 23, 2021, one, a Cayman Islands exempted company (“AONE”), entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the “Merger Agreement”) with Caspian 
Merger Sub Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of AONE (“Merger Sub”), and MarkForged, Inc. (“Legacy Markforged”), pursuant to which (i) AONE would deregister as a 
Cayman Islands company and domesticate as a corporation in the State of Delaware and would be renamed “Markforged Holding Corporation” (the “Domestication”) and (ii) 
Merger Sub would merge with and into Legacy Markforged with Legacy Markforged surviving as a wholly owned subsidiary of Markforged Holding Corporation (the 
“Merger”). AONE's shareholders approved the transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement on July 13, 2021, and the Domestication and the Merger were completed on 
July 14, 2021. 

Cash proceeds of the Merger were funded through a combination of AONE’s $132.5 million of cash held in trust (after redemptions of $64.2 million) and an aggregate 
of $210.0 million in fully committed common stock transactions at $10.00 per share. Upon closing of the Merger (the “Closing”), Legacy Markforged repurchased shares of 
common stock from certain of its stockholders, for a total value of $45.0 million of cash on hand (the “Employee Transactions”). Total net proceeds upon the Closing, net of the 
Employee Transactions and transaction costs paid at the Closing of $27.1 million, were $288.8 million.

Recent Developments 

Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic and Global Supply Chain Disruption

In December 2019, a novel coronavirus disease (“COVID-19”) was identified and on March 11, 2020, the World Health Organization characterized COVID-19 as a 
pandemic. We are continuing to closely monitor the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on all aspects of our business, including how it is impacting our customers, employees, 
supply chain, and distribution network, as well as the demand for our products in the markets that we serve.
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As a result of COVID-19 restrictions on facilities imposed to contain the spread of COVID-19, we experienced delays in shipments and installations as well as 
decreased utilization of our installed products, leading to a decrease in sales of consumables materials, which had an adverse effect on our revenue, especially in March and 
April 2020.  In response, we undertook certain measures to mitigate the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on our financial position, cash flows and supply chain, including a 
reduction in force during 2020 to control headcount related costs. Moreover, we maintain compliance with federal, state and local rules and regulations, which may impact our 
attrition. Any requirements to impose obligations on our suppliers could impact our supply of raw materials and our results of operation and financial condition could be 
adversely affected. 

More recently, we have experienced longer lead-times, higher costs, and delays in procuring parts and materials. For example, we recently experienced longer lead times 
and capacity constraints in connection with the raw resources required to manufacture our printing material and we are also facing increased prices in connection with the 
procurement of the electronic components and custom metal fabricated parts for our printers. We are working closely with our suppliers and customers to minimize impacts, and 
we continue to closely monitor availability and supply of parts and materials required for our business. However, the extent to which our operations may continue to be 
impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic and related supply-chain disruptions will depend largely on future developments, which are uncertain and cannot be accurately predicted, 
including the timing, pace and scale of the recovery of global economic conditions. The magnitude of the adverse impact on our financial condition, results of operations and 
cash flows will depend on the evolution of our supply chain difficulties.

For more information on operations and risks related to the pandemic and global supply chain disruptions, please see the section of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q 
titled “Risk Factors — General Risk Factors, The global COVID-19 pandemic has significantly affected our business and operations”.

Key Factors Affecting Operating Results 

We believe that our financial performance has been and in the foreseeable future will continue to be primarily driven by the factors discussed below. While each of 
these factors presents significant opportunities for our business, they also pose important challenges that we must successfully address in order to sustain our growth and 
improve our results of operations. 

Hardware sales 

Our financial performance has largely been driven by, and in the future will continue to be impacted by, the rate of sales of our hardware. Management focuses on 
hardware sales as an indicator of current business success and a leading indicator of likely future recurring revenue from consumables, success plans, and premium software 
subscriptions. We expect our hardware sales to continue to grow as we increase penetration in our existing markets and expand into new markets. 

Recurring revenue 

We regularly assess trends relating to recurring revenue which includes consumables, services, and premium software subscriptions. The consumables revenue stream 
includes metals, continuous fiber, and chopped fiber materials used by customers as print media. Our services revenue is made up of revenue generated from hardware 
maintenance contracts (which we also refer to as “Success Plans”) and premium software subscriptions. The Success Plan revenue stream primarily consists of hardware 
maintenance services generally realized over a period of one to three years. Premium software subscriptions relate to certain cloud software solutions sold separately from our 
standard cloud-based software platform offering that is fully integrated with our hardware. Recurring revenue was 34% and 30% of total revenue for the three months ended 
June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively. Recurring revenue was 34% and 30% of total revenue for the six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively. Our recurring 
revenue as a percentage of total revenue may vary based upon new product placements in the period as well as consumption trends impacted by macroeconomic factors, 
customer behavior, and the useful life of our hardware. As our cumulative historical hardware sales increase, recurring revenue on an absolute basis is expected to increase and 
over time should be an increasingly important contributor to our total revenue. 

Go to market 

We believe that we are in a strong position within the industry with our accessible solutions that offer users design flexibility and industrial strength parts. Accordingly, 
we continue to invest in operations and sales channels necessary to scale our business and continue to gain market share and open new market opportunities. We have proven an 
ability to design, manufacture, and distribute products through channels that provide a high value to customers at gross margins higher than many of our competitors. In addition 
to our go to market strategy, our integrated platform of hardware, software and consumables has been core to our success and we will continue to drive value through research 
and development as we introduce smarter and more adaptive technology that is expected to 
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improve our integrated platform and, ultimately, the value provided by our 3D printers. We believe these investments are critical to achieve long-term scalability, but expect the 
near term impacts will be a muting of our short term profitability. 

Seasonality 

Historically, the sales of our 3D printers have been subject to seasonality and we have seen higher hardware sales in the third and fourth quarters. We believe this trend 
is likely driven by available funds in federal capital budgets at the end of the third quarter and commercial budgets at year end which they direct towards the evolution of their 
manufacturing processes through investments in additive manufacturing. 

Components of Results of Operations 

Revenue 

The majority of our revenue results from the sale of hardware, including our additive manufacturing products, and related consumables. We deliver products and 
services primarily through our VAR network, who purchase and resell our products to end users. Hardware and consumables revenue is recognized upon transfer of control to 
the customer, which is typically the VAR, and generally takes place at the point of shipment. We also generate a portion of our revenue from hardware maintenance services 
and our premium software subscriptions. Revenue from hardware maintenance services for our additive manufacturing products is primarily generated through one-year or 
three-year contracts and is recognized ratably over the term of the agreement. Revenue related to software subscriptions is recognized ratably over the term of the subscription. 
Our VARs may provide installation services, as needed depending on the product. 

Cost of revenue 

Our cost of revenue consists of the cost of product, software subscriptions, maintenance services, personnel costs, third party logistics, warranty fulfillment costs, and 
overhead. Cost of products includes the manufacturing cost of our additive manufacturing products and consumables. We primarily utilize third party manufacturers for the 
production of our additive manufacturing hardware while we utilize our own manufacturing facilities and personnel for the production of our consumables. The costs of revenue 
for internally manufactured products include the cost of raw materials, labor conversion costs, and overhead related to our manufacturing operations, including depreciation. 
Cost of maintenance services includes personnel-related costs associated with our customer success teams’ provision of remote and on-site support services to our customers 
and the costs of replacement parts. 

Our cost of revenue also includes indirect costs of providing our products and services to customers which consist primarily of reserves for excess and obsolete 
inventory and stock-based compensation. 

We expect our cost of revenue to increase in absolute dollars in future periods as we expect our revenues to continue to grow. 

Gross profit and gross margin 

Our gross profit is calculated based on the difference between our revenues and cost of revenue. Gross margin is the percentage obtained by dividing gross profit by our 
revenue. Our gross profit and gross margin are, or may be, influenced by a number of factors, including: 

•Market conditions and competition that may impact our pricing; 

•Product mix changes between our printer product lines and consumables trends;

•Excess and obsolete material related to new product introductions;

•The impact of COVID-19 and the global supply chain disruptions on the cost to both procure materials and ship materials and finished goods;

•Growth in the number of customers utilizing our additive manufacturing products and changes in customer utilization rates, which affects sales of our consumable 
materials and may result in excess or obsolete inventories; 

•Our cost structure for manufacturing operations, including the impact of inflation, the extent to which we utilize contract manufacturers compared to in-house 
manufacturing, the ability to achieve economies of scale in our purchase volumes, and any impacts to changes in our manufacturing on our product warranty 
obligations; and 

•Our ability to directly monetize the capabilities of our software solutions in the future. 
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We expect our gross margins to fluctuate over time, depending on the factors described above. 

Research and development 

Our research and development expenses represent costs incurred to support activities that advance the development of innovative additive manufacturing technology, 
new printer products, development of proprietary printing materials, as well as activities that enhance the functionality of our offerings. Our research and development expenses 
consist primarily of employee-related personnel expenses, prototypes, facilities costs, and engineering services. We expect research and development costs will increase in 
absolute dollars over time as we continue to invest in our product portfolio.

Sales and marketing 

Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of personnel-related costs for our sales and marketing departments, costs related to sales commissions, trade shows, 
advertising, facilities costs, and other demand generation services. We expect our sales and marketing costs will increase over time as we expand our headcount, optimize our 
reseller network and invest in brand awareness and demand generation.

General and administrative 

General and administrative expenses consist primarily of personnel-related costs for our executive leadership and finance, human resources and IT departments. We 
expect our general and administrative costs will increase over time as we expand our headcount to support growth in our global business. 

Change in fair value of derivative liabilities

Change in fair value of derivative liabilities primarily includes the change in fair value of the contingent earnout liability and private placement warrant liability.  Each 
was accounted for as a liability as of the date of the Merger and remeasured to fair value at the end of the reporting period.

Other (expense) income, net 

Other (expense) income, net includes other non-operating expenses and income sources. 

Interest expense 

Interest expense includes interest accrued on our debt and the amortization of deferred debt issuance costs. 

Interest income 

Interest income includes interest earned on deposits and short-term investments.

Income taxes 

Our income tax provision consists of an estimate for U.S. federal and state income taxes based on enacted rates, as adjusted for allowable credits, deductions, changes in 
deferred tax assets and liabilities and changes in tax law. Due to cumulative losses, we maintain a valuation allowance against our U.S. and state deferred tax assets. 

Results of Operations 

The results of operations presented below should be reviewed in conjunction with the condensed consolidated financial statements and notes included elsewhere in this 
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. The following tables set forth our results of operations for the periods presented.
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Comparison of the three months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021
 

  Three Months Ended June 30,        
(dollars in thousands)  2022   2021   $ Change   % Change  
Revenue  $ 24,227   $ 20,419   $ 3,808    19 %
Cost of revenue   11,302    8,496    2,806    33 %
Gross profit   12,925    11,923    1,002    8 %
Operating expense             

Sales and marketing   12,873    8,255    4,618    56 %
Research and development   10,387    6,444    3,943    61 %
General and administrative   13,478    7,959    5,519    69 %

Total operating expense   36,738    22,658    14,080    62 %
Loss from operations   (23,813 )   (10,735 )   (13,078 )   122 %

Change in fair value of warrant liabilities   976    (241 )   1,217    (505 )%
Change in fair value of contingent earnout liability   26,742    —    26,742    100 %
Other (expense) income, net   (171 )   (104 )   (67 )   64 %
Interest expense   (9 )   (5 )   (4 )   80 %
Interest income   354    1    353    35300 %

Profit (loss) before income taxes   4,079    (11,084 )   15,163    (137 )%
Income tax benefit   4    6    (2 )   (33 )%

Net profit (loss) and comprehensive income (loss)  $ 4,075   $ (11,090 )  $ 15,165    (137 )%
  
Revenue, cost of revenue, and gross margin 

We earn revenue from the sale of hardware, consumables, and services contracts. The hardware revenue stream includes 3D metal printers, 3D composite printers, and 
sintering furnaces. The consumables revenue stream includes metals, continuous fiber, and chopped fiber materials used by customers as print media. The services revenue 
stream primarily consists of hardware maintenance services and software subscriptions. 

The following table sets forth the changes in the components of gross margin for the three months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021. 
  

  Three Months Ended June 30,        
(dollars in thousands)  2022   2021   $ Change   % Change  
Revenue  $ 24,227   $ 20,419   $ 3,808    19 %
Cost of revenue   11,302    8,496    2,806    33 %
Gross profit   12,925    11,923    1,002    8 %
Gross margin   53 %  58 %  —    (9 )%

 

Comparison of revenue 

The following table disaggregates the Company’s revenue based on the nature of the products and services:
  

  Three Months Ended June 30,        
(in thousands)  2022   2021   $ Change   % Change  
Hardware  $ 16,011   $ 14,331   $ 1,680    12 %
Consumables   5,889    4,780    1,109    23 %
Services   2,327    1,308    1,019    78 %
Total Revenue  $ 24,227   $ 20,419   $ 3,808    19 %

 
Consolidated revenue for the three months ended June 30, 2022 was $24.2 million compared with revenue of $20.4 million for the three months ended June 30, 2021 

representing an increase of 19%, primarily driven by sales of our next-gen printers, specifically the FX20, as well as increases in consumable and service revenue over the 
comparable period.

Hardware revenue increased approximately 12% for the three months ended June 30, 2022 compared to the three months ended June 30, 2021. The increase in revenue 
was primarily due to a shift in sales to FX20 printers from legacy printers. Consumables 
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revenue increased approximately 23% for the three months ended June 30, 2022 compared to the three months ended June 30, 2021. The increase in consumables revenue was 
due to the increase in active printers being utilized in the field as a result of the incremental volume of new printer sales in the prior year. Services revenue increased 
approximately 78% for the three months ended June 30, 2022 compared to the three months ended June 30, 2021, including $0.4 million from reaching certain milestones of 
two long-term customers. The increase in services revenue was further driven by an increase in the percentage of hardware units sold with a warranty and maintenance contract 
during the preceding year, as well as the introduction of software subscription services, including Eiger Fleet and Blacksmith. 

Cost of revenue and gross profit 

Consolidated cost of revenue for the three months ended June 30, 2022 was $11.3 million compared with cost of revenue of $8.5 million for the three months ended 
June 30, 2021 representing an increase of 33%. This was primarily due to an increase in the cost of mechanical and electronic components, labor to support increased hardware 
and material sales, and rising freight and logistics costs. Gross profit for the three months ended June 30, 2022 was $13.0 million compared with gross profit of $11.9 million 
for the three months ended June 30, 2021 representing an increase of 9%. Gross profit margin for the three months ended June 30, 2022 was 53% while the gross profit margin 
for the three months ended June 30, 2021 was 58%. The decline in consolidated gross profit is primarily due to the increased costs to procure supplies of mechanical and 
electronic components and increases in the cost of labor to support production; increases to freight and logistics expenses in support of production; a shift in our product mix; 
and, the introduction of our newest printer, the FX20.

Operating expenses 

The following table sets forth the components of operating expenses for the three months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021.
 

  Three Months Ended June 30,        
  2022   2021   Change  

(dollars in thousands)  Amount   
%

Revenue   Amount   
%

Revenue   $   %  
Operating expenses                   

Sales and marketing  $ 12,873    53 % $ 8,255    40 % $ 4,618    56 %
Research and development   10,387    43 %  6,444    32 %  3,943    61 %
General and administrative   13,478    56 %  7,959    39 %  5,519    69 %

Total operating expenses  $ 36,738    152 % $ 22,658    111 % $ 14,080    62 %
 
Sales and marketing expense increased  56% for the three months ended June 30, 2022, as compared to the three months ended June 30, 2021, primarily due to 

increased spending on personnel costs of $1.9 million, tradeshow and event expenses of $0.7 million, stock-based compensation of $0.5 million, market development funds of 
$0.4 million, and director and officer liability insurance premiums of $0.4 million. Consistent with the increase in events, travel related expenses increased by $0.5 million. The 
increases in expense are consistent with our increase in headcount as we execute our growth strategy. 

Research and development expense increased 61% for the three months ended June 30, 2022, as compared to the three months ended June 30, 2021, primarily due to 
increases in personnel and contractor costs of $1.7 million. Stock-based compensation expenses increased $1.2 million. The increase in employee related costs are consistent 
with our investment in human capital to meet our innovation goals. Rent expense increased by $0.8 million due to the commencement of the new Waltham headquarters lease. 
Additionally, director and officer liability insurance premiums increased by $0.4 million over the comparable period.

General and administrative expenses increased 69% for the three months ended June 30, 2022, as compared to the three months ended June 30, 2021, primarily due to 
increased stock-based compensation expenses of $1.4 million, increased personnel and contractor costs of $1.0 million, one-time transaction costs of $0.9 million related to 
acquisitions, director and officer liability insurance premiums of $0.5 million, software and subscriptions of $0.4 million, and $0.2 million increase in audit fees over the 
comparative period. The additions to our management team, and corresponding increases in personnel costs, are consistent with our plans to position the company for future 
growth and to support our public company infrastructure. These increases were slightly offset by a $0.2 million decrease in recruiting costs. Rent expense increased by $0.2 
million due to the commencement of the new Waltham headquarters lease.
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Change in fair value of warrant liabilities and contingent earnout liability

The following table sets forth Change in fair value of derivative liabilities for the three months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021. 
 

  Three Months Ended June 30,        
(dollars in thousands)  2022   2021   $ Change   % Change  
Change in fair value of warrant liabilities  $ 976   $ (241 )  $ 1,217    (505 )%
Change in fair value of contingent earnout liability   26,742    —    26,742    100 %

  
 

Fair value of derivative liabilities decreased creating additional income of $27.7 million for the three months ended June 30, 2022, compared to a loss of $0.2 million 
during the three months ended June 30, 2021, primarily related to the change in fair value of the derivative liability for the earnout shares. The changes in fair value directly 
correlate with the change in the Company's common stock price between March 31, 2022 and June 30, 2022. 

Provision for income taxes

We recorded a de minimis expense for income taxes for the three months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively.  

Comparison of the six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021
  

  Six Months Ended June 30,        
(dollars in thousands)  2022   2021   $ Change   % Change  
Revenue  $ 46,086   $ 40,539   $ 5,547    14 %
Cost of revenue   21,555    16,435    5,120    31 %
Gross profit   24,531    24,104    427    2 %
Operating expense             

Sales and marketing   23,321    15,312    8,009    52 %
Research and development   20,954    11,703    9,251    79 %
General and administrative   25,221    16,822    8,399    50 %

Total operating expense   69,496    43,837    25,659    59 %
Loss from operations   (44,965 )   (19,733 )   (25,232 )   128 %

Change in fair value of warrant liabilities   1,669    (1,251 )   2,920    (233 )%
Change in fair value of contingent earnout liability   51,638    —    51,638     
Other expense, net   (390 )   (117 )   (273 )   233 %
Interest expense   (9 )   (9 )   —    —  
Interest income   374    3    371    12367 %

Profit (loss) before income taxes   8,317    (21,107 )   29,424    (139 )%
Income tax (benefit) expense   3    2    1    

50
%

Net profit (loss) and comprehensive income (loss)  $ 8,314   $ (21,109 )  $ 29,423    (139 )%

Revenue, cost of revenue, and gross margin 

We earn revenue from the sale of hardware, consumables, and services contracts. The hardware revenue stream includes 3D metal printers, 3D composite printers, and 
sintering furnaces. The consumables revenue stream includes metals, continuous fiber, and chopped fiber materials used by customers as print media. The services revenue 
stream primarily consists of hardware maintenance services and software subscriptions. 

The following table sets forth the changes in the components of gross margin for the six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021. 
  

  Six Months Ended June 30,        
(dollars in thousands)  2022   2021   $ Change   % Change  
Revenue  $ 46,086   $ 40,539   $ 5,547    14 %
Cost of revenue   21,555    16,435    5,120    31 %
Gross profit   24,531    24,104    427    2 %
Gross margin   53 %  59 %  —    (10 )%
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Comparison of revenue 

The following table disaggregates the Company’s revenue based on the nature of the products and services:
  

  Six Months Ended June 30,        
(in thousands)  2022   2021   $ Change   % Change  
Hardware  $ 30,527   $ 28,569   $ 1,958    7 %
Consumables   11,345    9,397    1,948    21 %
Services   4,214    2,573    1,641    64 %
Total Revenue  $ 46,086   $ 40,539   $ 5,547    14 %

 
Consolidated revenue for the six months ended June 30, 2022 was $46.1 million compared with revenue of $40.5 million for the six months ended June 30, 2021 

representing an increase of 14%, primarily driven by sales of our next-gen printers, specifically the FX20, as well as increases in consumable and service revenue over the 
comparable period.

Hardware revenue increased approximately 7% for the six months ended June 30, 2022 compared to the six months ended June 30, 2021. The increase in revenue was 
primarily due to a shift in sales to FX20 printers from legacy printers. This increase was partially offset by a decrease in units sold of other high value composite printers, largely 
driven by the $8.0 million transaction that occurred in the fourth quarter of 2020 and contributed $1.2 million to hardware revenue in the first quarter of 2021. Consumables 
revenue increased approximately 21% for the six months ended June 30, 2022 compared to the six months ended June 30, 2021; this was due to the increase in active printers 
being utilized in the field as a result of the incremental volume of new printer sales in the prior year. Services revenue increased approximately 64% for the six months ended 
June 30, 2022 compared to the six months ended June 30, 2021, driven primarily by an increase in the percentage of hardware units sold with a warranty and maintenance 
contract during the preceding year, as well as the introduction of software subscription services, including Eiger Fleet and Blacksmith. 

Cost of revenue and gross profit 

Consolidated cost of revenue for the six months ended June 30, 2022 was $21.6 million compared with cost of revenue of $16.4 million for the six months ended June 
30, 2021 representing an increase of 31%. This was primarily due to an increase in the cost of mechanical and electronic components, labor to support increased hardware and 
material sales, and rising freight and logistics costs. Gross profit for the six months ended June 30, 2022 was $24.5 million compared with gross profit of $24.1 million for the 
six months ended June 30, 2021. Gross profit margin for the six months ended June 30, 2022 was 53% while the gross profit margin for the six months ended June 30, 2021 was 
59%. The decline in consolidated gross profit is primarily due to the increased costs to procure supplies of mechanical and electronic components and increases in the cost of 
labor to support production; freight and logistics expenses in support of production; a shift in our product mix; and, the introduction of our newest printer, the FX20.

Operating expenses 

The following table sets forth the components of operating expenses for the six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021:
 

  Six Months Ended June 30,        
  2022   2021   Change  

(dollars in thousands)  Amount   
%

Revenue   Amount   
%

Revenue   $   %  
Operating expenses                   

Sales and marketing  $ 23,321    51 % $ 15,312    38 % $ 8,009    52 %
Research and development   20,954    45 %  11,703    29 %  9,251    79 %
General and administrative   25,221    55 %  16,822    41 %  8,399    50 %

Total operating expenses  $ 69,496    151 % $ 43,837    108 % $ 25,659    59 %
 
Sales and marketing expense increased 52% for the six months ended June 30, 2022, as compared to the six months ended June 30, 2021, primarily due to increased 

spending on personnel costs of $3.2 million, stock-based compensation of $1.3 million, director and officer liability insurance premiums of $0.8 million, and market 
development funds of $0.5 million. Tradeshows and event expenses increased by $0.5 million, internal meeting and event costs increased by $0.5 million, and travel related 
expenses increased by $0.7 million.  The increases in expense are consistent with our increase in headcount as we execute our growth strategy.

Research and development expense increased 79% for the six months ended June 30, 2022, as compared to the six months ended June 30, 2021, primarily due to 
increases in personnel and contractor costs of $4.4 million. Stock-based compensation expenses increased $2.3 million and prototype R&D increased by $0.7 million. The 
increase in employee related costs are consistent with our 
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investment in human capital to meet our innovation goals. Rent expense increased by $0.9 million due to the commencement of the new Waltham headquarters lease. 
Additionally, director and officer liability insurance premiums increased by $0.7 million over the comparable period.

General and administrative expenses increased 50% for the six months ended June 30, 2022, as compared to the six months ended June 30, 2021, primarily due to 
increased stock-based compensation expenses of $3.7 million, increased personnel and contractor costs of $2.1 million, due diligence expenses of $1.0 million related to 
acquisitions, director and officer liability insurance premiums of $0.9 million, software and subscriptions of $0.3 million, and $0.3 million increase in audit fees over the 
comparative period. The increases are consistent with the additions to our management team to position the company for future growth, and additional key personnel to support 
our public company infrastructure, and additional public company costs that began being incurred after the Merger. These increases were slightly offset by a $0.2 million 
decrease in recruiting costs.

Change in fair value of warrant liabilities and contingent earnout liability

The following table sets forth change in fair value of derivative liabilities for the six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021:
 

  Six Months Ended June 30,        
(dollars in thousands)  2021   2020   $ Change   % Change  
Change in fair value of warrant liabilities  $ 1,669   $ (1,251 )  $ 2,920    (233 )%
Change in fair value of contingent earnout liability   51,638    —    51,638    100 %

  
 

Fair value of derivative liabilities decreased creating additional income of $53.3 million for the six months ended June 30, 2022, compared to loss of $1.3 million during 
the six months ended June 30, 2021, primarily related to the change in fair value of the derivative liability for the Markforged Earnout Shares issued in connection with the 
Merger. The changes in fair value directly correlate with the change in our common stock price between December 31, 2021 and June 30, 2022. 

Provision for income taxes

We recorded a de minimis expense for income taxes for the six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively. 

Non-GAAP Net Profit (Loss)

In addition to our financial results determined in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”), we believe that the below non-GAAP net 
profit (loss) financial measure, that excludes one-time charges and certain non-cash items, is useful in evaluating the performance of our business. We define non-GAAP net 
profit (loss) as net profit (loss) and comprehensive income (loss) less stock-based compensation expense, net change in fair value of warrant liabilities and contingent earnout 
liabilities, and certain non-recurring expenses. 

We monitor non-GAAP net profit (loss) as a measure of our overall business performance, which enables us to analyze our past and future performance without the 
effects of non-cash items and/or one-time charges. While we believe that non-GAAP net profit (loss) is useful in evaluating our business, non-GAAP net profit (loss) is a non-
GAAP financial measure that has limitations as an analytical tool. Non-GAAP net profit (loss) can be useful in evaluating our performance by eliminating the effect of 
financing and non-cash expenses such as stock-based compensation, however, we may incur such expenses in the future which could impact future results. We also believe that 
the presentation of the non-GAAP financial measures in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q provides an additional tool for investors to use in comparing our core business and 
results of operations over multiple periods with other companies in our industry, many of which present similar non-GAAP financial measures to investors.

Investors should note that beginning with the second quarter of 2022, we have modified the presentation of “non-recurring costs” included in non-GAAP gross margin, 
non-GAAP operating profit (loss), non-GAAP net profit (loss) and non-GAAP earnings per share metrics to include certain non-recurring litigation costs.  We use these metrics 
to provide an understanding of the results of our core business performance and believe these non-recurring litigation costs are reflective of one-time expenses that are not 
indicative of the performance of our core business’ operations. This change increases “non-recurring costs” by $0.6 million and $1.0 million in the first and second quarters of 
2022, respectively, and by $3.7 million and $0.9 million in the first and second quarters of 2021, respectively. To conform to the current period’s presentation, we have included 
non-recurring litigation costs as “non-recurring costs” when presenting the foregoing non-GAAP figures for the year to date period and periods presented for 2021.

In addition, other companies, including companies in our industry, may calculate non-GAAP metrics differently or not at all, which reduces the usefulness of this 
measure as a tool for comparison.
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We recommend that you review the reconciliation of non-GAAP net profit (loss) to net income (loss), the most directly comparable GAAP financial measure, and that 
you not rely on any single financial measure to evaluate our business.

Non-GAAP Net Profit (Loss)
 

​ Three Months Ended
June 30,  ​ For the Six Months

Ended June 30,  
(dollars in thousands) ​ 2022   2021  ​ 2022   2021  
Net profit (loss) and comprehensive income (loss) ​ $ 4,075   $ (11,090 ) ​ $ 8,314   $ (21,109 )
Stock compensation expense ​  4,912    1,777  ​  10,334    2,971  
Change in fair value of warrant liabilities   (976 )   241    (1,669 )   1,251  
Change in fair value of contingent earnout liability   (26,742 )   —    (51,638 )   —  
Non-recurring costs   1,937    930    2,984    4,633  

Non-GAAP net loss ​ $ (16,794 )  $ (8,142 ) ​ $ (31,675 )  $ (12,254 )

1 Non-recurring expenses primarily relate to transaction and litigation expenses.  Expenses for the six months ended June 30, 2022 include $1,047 of non-recurring costs 
incurred in the first quarter of 2022. 

Liquidity and Capital Resources 

We have historically funded our operations primarily through the sale of convertible preferred stock, the proceeds from the Merger and reverse recapitalization 
including the sale of common stock, and the sale of our products. Since inception we have focused on growth, which has required ongoing investment to support scaling of our 
business, research and development efforts, and day to day operations. We had cash balances of $243.2 million as of June 30, 2022. We incurred net profit of $8.3 million and 
net loss of $21.1 million for the six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

As noted in the “Recent Developments” section, we completed the Merger with AONE in 2021. At Closing we received $288.8 million in cash, which we expect to 
provide funding for the build out of the global footprint of our sales network, continued investing in research and development to accelerate product innovation, as well as the 
potential funding of inorganic growth opportunities.

Currently we generate negative operating cash flows as we pursue further business growth. Our cash and cash equivalents balance as of June 30, 2022 of $243.2 million 
is more than sufficient to meet the working capital and capital expenditure needs for the next 12 months following the filing for this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, including 
the future payment of $32.0 million due upon closing the Digital Metal acquisition (refer to Note 20 of our condensed consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in 
this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q). Our future capital requirements will depend on many factors, including our revenue growth rate, the timing and the amount of cash 
received from customers, the expansion of sales and marketing activities, the timing and extent of spending to support development efforts, expenses associated with our 
international expansion, the introduction of platform enhancements, and the continuing market adoption of The Digital Forge platform. In the future, we may enter into 
arrangements to acquire or invest in complementary businesses, products, and technologies. We may be required to seek additional equity or debt financing. In the event that we 
require additional financing, we may not be able to raise such financing on terms acceptable to us or at all. If we are unable to raise additional capital or generate cash flows 
necessary to expand our operations and invest in continued innovation, we may not be able to compete successfully, which would harm our business, results of operations, and 
financial condition.

Cash flows 

For the six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021

The following table sets forth a summary of Markforged’s cash flows for the periods indicated: 
  

  Six Months Ended June 30,   Change  
(dollars in thousands)  2022   2021   $   %  
Net cash used in operating activities  $ (41,574 )  $ (16,384 )  $ (25,190 )   154 %
Net cash used in investing activities   (3,564 )   (1,039 )   (2,525 )   243 %
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities

  1,181    (8,148 )   9,329    
(114

)%
Net change in cash and cash equivalents  $ (43,957 )  $ (25,571 )  $ (18,386 )   72 %
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Cash flow from operations 

Net cash used in operating activities for the six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021 was $41.4 million and $16.4 million, respectively.  Operating cash flows and 
changes in working capital for comparative periods were as follows:

 
  Six Months Ended June 30,  

(dollars in thousands)  2022   2021  
Operating cash flows before changes in working capital  $ (30,749 )  $ (15,612 )
Changes in working capital   (10,825 )   (772 )

 
Net cash used in operating activities was $41.6 million for the six months ended June 30, 2022, consisting of $8.3 million of net income, adjusted for non-cash items, 

which primarily consist of gains on changes in the fair value of liabilities of $53.3 million, stock-based compensation expense of $10.3 million, and depreciation, amortization, 
and non-cash lease interest of $3.6 million. Cash consumed by working capital increased $10.8 million for the six months ended June 30, 2022 due to the cyclical nature of the 
business, which results in higher sales and related costs in the third and fourth quarters. This led to increases in inventory in preparation of higher product demand causing an 
increase in inventory of $9.1 million and other current assets of $2.0 million. In addition, there was an decrease of $2.0 million to other non-current lease liabilities. These cash 
uses were partially offset by a decline in prepaid of expenses of $2.6 million due to the timing of when annual expenses are paid. 

Net cash used in operating activities was $16.4 million for the six months ended June 30, 2022, primarily consisting of $21.1 million of net loss, adjusted for non-cash 
items, primarily stock-based compensation of $3.0 million, and cash consumed by working capital increased by $0.1 million. 

Cash flow from investing activities 

Net cash used in investing activities for the six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021 was $3.6 million and $1.0 million, respectively. The increase in cash used is 
directly related to the cash paid for the Teton acquisition, net of cash acquired, of $2.0 million. 

Cash flow from financing activities 

Net cash provided by financing activities was $1.2 million for the six months ended June 30, 2022 and net cash used in financing activities was $8.1 million for the six 
months ended June 30, 2021. The change in financing activities was primarily due to the repayment of the Paycheck Protection Program ("PPP") loan of $5.0 million and 
payment of transaction costs related to the Merger of $4.0 million during the six months ended June 30, 2021. This was slightly offset by an increase in proceeds from the 
exercise of stock options of $1.0 million over the comparable period. 

Critical accounting policies and estimates 

    Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based on the historical consolidated and condensed financial statements included 
elsewhere herein. We prepared these financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP. The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the dates of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the 
reporting periods. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. We routinely evaluate 
these estimates, utilizing historical experience, consultation with experts and other methods we consider reasonable in the particular circumstances. Our results may differ from 
these estimates, and any effects on our business, financial position or results of operations resulting from revisions to these estimates are recorded in the period in which the 
facts that give rise to the revision become known. Changes in these estimates could materially affect our financial position, results of operations or cash flows. See the "Critical 
Accounting Policies and Estimates" section in "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" and Note 3, "Significant Accounting 
Policies" in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included within our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021, filed with the SEC on 
March 31, 2022.

Acquisitions
 

We account for business combinations using the acquisition method of accounting, which requires that the assets acquired and liabilities assumed be recorded at their 
respective estimated fair values as of the acquisition date. The excess of the fair value of the purchase consideration over the fair values of these identifiable assets and liabilities 
is recorded as goodwill. While we use our best estimates and judgments, our estimates are inherently uncertain and subject to refinement. During the measurement period, 
which may be up to one year from the acquisition date, we may record adjustments to the fair value of these tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed, with 
the corresponding offset to goodwill. We continue to collect information and reevaluate these 
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estimates and assumptions quarterly and record any adjustments to our preliminary estimates to goodwill provided that we are within the measurement period.
 

The judgments made in determining the estimated fair value assigned to the assets acquired, as well as the estimated useful life of each asset, can materially impact the 
consolidated statements of operations of the periods subsequent to the acquisition through depreciation and amortization, and in certain instances through impairment charges, if 
the asset becomes impaired in the future. In determining the estimated fair value for intangible assets, we typically utilize the income approach, which discounts the projected 
future net cash flow using a discount rate deemed appropriate by management that reflects the risks associated with such projected future cash flow. Significant estimates and 
assumptions include revenue growth rates and discount rates. Determining the useful life of an intangible asset also requires judgment, as different types of intangible assets will 
have different useful lives and certain assets may even be considered to have indefinite useful lives.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets
 

Goodwill is not amortized, but is reviewed at least annually for impairment or earlier, if an indication of impairment exists. Determining the fair value of a reporting unit 
is judgmental in nature and involves the use of significant estimates and assumptions. 

We have the option of first assessing qualitative factors to determine whether it is necessary to perform a quantitative impairment test for goodwill or we can perform the 
quantitative impairment test without performing the qualitative assessment. In performing the qualitative assessment, we consider certain events and circumstances specific to 
the reporting unit and to the entity as a whole, such as macroeconomic conditions, industry and market considerations, overall financial performance and cost factors when 
evaluating whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying amount.
 

If the results of the quantitative test indicate the fair value of a reporting unit exceeds the carrying value of the net assets assigned to a reporting unit, goodwill is 
considered not impaired and no further testing is required. If the carrying value of the net assets assigned to a reporting unit exceeds the fair value of a reporting unit, goodwill is 
deemed impaired and is written down to the extent of the difference between the fair value of the reporting unit and the carrying value.
 

The Company evaluates definite-lived intangible assets for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets may not 
be recoverable through future operations. If indicators of impairment are present, the Company then compares the estimated undiscounted cash flows that the asset group is 
expected to generate to its carrying value. If such assets are impaired, the impairment recognized is measured as the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset group 
exceeds its fair value. 
 

We will complete our annual impairment test in the fourth quarter of 2022. We will continue to monitor and evaluate the carrying values. If market and economic 
conditions or business performance deteriorate, this could increase the likelihood of us recording an impairment charge.

 

Recent accounting pronouncements 

Refer to Note 3 of our condensed consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the recent accounting 
pronouncements that we have adopted and have not yet adopted. 

JOBS Act accounting election 

We are an “emerging growth company,” as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012, or the JOBS Act. The JOBS Act permits companies with 
emerging growth company status to delay adopting new or revised accounting standards until those standards apply to private companies. We intend to use this extended 
transition period to enable us to comply with new or revised accounting standards that have different effective dates for public and private companies until the earlier of the date 
we (1) are no longer an emerging growth company or (2) affirmatively and irrevocably opt out of the extended transition period provided in the JOBS Act. Accordingly, our 
financial statements may not be comparable to companies that comply with the new or revised accounting standards as of public company effective dates. 

We intend to rely on the other exemptions and reduced reporting requirements provided by the JOBS Act. 
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Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk. 

We are a smaller reporting company as defined by Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act and are not required to provide the information otherwise required under this item. 
As of June 30, 2022, we were not subject to any market or interest rate risk. The net proceeds of the Initial Public Offering are invested in U.S. government securities with a 
maturity of 185 days or less or in money market funds that meet certain conditions under Rule 2a-7 under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended, that invest only in 
direct U.S. government treasury obligations. Due to the short-term nature of these investments, we believe there will be no associated material exposure to interest rate risk.

We have not engaged in any hedging activities since our inception and we do not expect to engage in any hedging activities with respect to the market risk to which we 
are exposed.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures. 

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, we evaluated the 
effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2022, as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under 
the Exchange Act. Based upon that evaluation, our principal executive officer and principal financial officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were not 
effective as of June 30, 2022 because of the material weaknesses in internal control over financial reporting described below.

Disclosure controls and procedures are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by the issuer in the reports that it files or submits under the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in the rules and forms of the Securities and 
Exchange Commission ("SEC"), and that such information is accumulated and communicated to management, including the principal executive officer and principal financial 
officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. 

Material Weaknesses in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have identified material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in 
internal control over financial reporting such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of our annual or interim financial statements will not be 
prevented or detected on a timely basis. These material weaknesses are as follows:

We did not design and maintain an effective control environment commensurate with our financial reporting requirements. Specifically, we lacked a sufficient 
complement of resources with (i) an appropriate level of accounting knowledge, experience and training to appropriately analyze, record and disclose accounting matters timely 
and accurately, and (ii) an appropriate level of knowledge and experience to establish effective processes and controls. Additionally, the lack of a sufficient number of 
professionals resulted in an inability to consistently establish appropriate authorities and responsibilities in pursuit of our financial reporting objectives, as demonstrated by, 
among other things, insufficient segregation of duties in our finance and accounting functions. This material weakness contributed to the following additional material 
weaknesses:

We did not design and maintain effective controls related to the period-end financial reporting process, including designing and maintaining formal accounting policies, 
procedures and controls to achieve complete, accurate and timely financial accounting, reporting and disclosures. Additionally, we did not design and maintain controls over the 
preparation and review of account reconciliations and journal entries, including maintaining appropriate segregation of duties.

We did not design and maintain effective controls related to the identification of and accounting for certain non-routine, unusual or complex transactions, including the 
proper application of U.S. GAAP of such transactions. Specifically, we did not design and maintain controls to timely identify and account for share repurchase transactions, 
warrant instruments, and performance based stock awards.

These material weaknesses resulted in audit adjustments to the following financial statement line items in the historical Markforged financial statements: operating 
expense, other expense, interest expense, other assets, other liabilities, additional paid in capital, treasury stock, retained earnings, note receivable—equity, and series D 
preferred stock. These adjustments were recorded prior to the issuance of the consolidated financial statements as of and for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019. 
Additionally, these material weaknesses resulted in audit adjustments to additional paid in capital and stock based compensation expense for the quarters ended June 30, 2021, 
September 30, 2021, and December 31, 2021. The material weakness related to accounting for warrant instruments resulted in the restatement of the previously issued financial 
statements of AONE, the entity we merged with as part of the July 14, 2021 merger agreement related to warrant liabilities and equity. Additionally, these material weaknesses 
could result in a 
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misstatement of substantially all of our accounts or disclosures that would result in a material misstatement to the annual or interim consolidated financial statements that would 
not be prevented or detected.

We did not design and maintain effective controls over information technology (“IT”) general controls for information systems that are relevant to the preparation of our 
financial statements. Specifically, we did not design and maintain (i) program change management controls for financial systems to ensure that information technology program 
and data changes affecting financial IT applications and underlying accounting records are identified, tested, authorized and implemented appropriately; (ii) user access controls 
to ensure appropriate segregation of duties and that adequately restrict user and privileged access to financial applications, programs, and data to appropriate Company 
personnel; (iii) computer operations controls to ensure that critical batch jobs are monitored, privileges are appropriately granted, and data backups are authorized and 
monitored; and (iv) testing and approval controls for program development to ensure that new software development is aligned with business and IT requirements. These IT 
deficiencies did not result in any misstatements to the financial statements, however, the deficiencies, when aggregated, could impact our ability to maintain effective 
segregation of duties, as well as the effectiveness of IT-dependent controls (such as automated controls that address the risk of material misstatement to one or more assertions, 
along with the IT controls and underlying data that support the effectiveness of system-generated data and reports) that could result in misstatements potentially impacting all 
financial statement accounts and disclosures that would result in a material misstatement to the annual or interim financial statements that would not be prevented or detected. 
Accordingly, management has determined these deficiencies in the aggregate constitute a material weakness.

Remediation of Material Weaknesses

We are in process of designing and implementing controls and taking other actions to remediate the material weaknesses described above, including the following:

We have hired additional accounting and IT personnel, including a new chief financial officer hired in April 2021, to bolster our reporting, technical accounting and IT 
capabilities. Additionally, we are in the process of designing and implementing controls to formalize roles and review responsibilities to align with our team’s skills and 
experience and designing and implementing controls over segregation of duties.

We are in process of designing and implementing controls related to the period-end financial reporting process, including formal accounting policies, procedures and 
controls to achieve complete, accurate and timely financial accounting, reporting and disclosures. Additionally, we are in process of designing and implementing controls over 
the preparation and review of account reconciliations and journal entries.

We are in process of designing and implementing controls to timely identify and account for non-routine, unusual or complex transactions and other technical 
accounting and financial reporting matters, including controls over the preparation and review of accounting memoranda addressing these matters.

We are in process of designing and implementing IT general controls, including controls over program change management, the review and update of user access rights 
and privileges, controls over batch jobs and data backups, and program development approvals and testing.

The material weaknesses will not be considered remediated until management completes the design and implementation of the measures described above and the 
controls operate for a sufficient period of time and management has concluded, through testing, that these controls are effective.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2022 covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-
Q that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II—OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings. 

From time to time we are involved in claims that arise during the ordinary course of business. Although the results of litigation and claims cannot be predicted with 
certainty, we do not currently believe that the outcome of any of these other legal matters (including the matter involving Continuous Composites Inc., which the Company 
previously disclosed) will have a material adverse effect on our results of operation or financial condition. Regardless of the outcome, litigation can be costly and time 
consuming, as it can divert management’s attention from important business matters and initiatives, negatively impacting our overall operations.

Item 1A. Risk Factors.

A description of the risks and uncertainties associated with our business and industry is set forth below. You should carefully consider the risks and uncertainties 
described below, together with all of the other information in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, including our unaudited consolidated financial statements and notes thereto 
and the “Management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations” section of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q before deciding whether to 
purchase shares of our common stock. If any of the following risks are realized, our business, financial condition, operating results and prospects could be materially and 
adversely affected. In that event, the price of our common stock could decline, perhaps significantly. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we 
currently deem immaterial also may impair our business operation.

Risks Related to Our Business and Industry

Risks Related to Our Operating History

We have a history of net losses and may not be able to achieve profitability for any period in the future or sustain cash flow from operating activities.

We had a history of losses since inception in 2013 until 2021 and funded our cash flow deficits primarily through the issuance of capital stock. As of June 30, 2022, we 
had an accumulated deficit of $67.4 million, including current year net profit of $8.3 million. We expect to continue to incur operating losses and negative cash flow as we 
continue to invest significantly in research and development efforts, sales and marketing and other aspects of our business.

We cannot make any assurances that these investments will result in increased revenue or growth in our business. Additionally, as a public company, we expect our 
legal, accounting and other expenses to be substantially higher than the expenses we incurred as a private company. Furthermore, we may encounter unforeseen issues that 
require us to incur additional costs. Any such increased expenditures make it harder for us to achieve and maintain future profitability. Revenue growth and growth in our 
customer base may not be sustainable, and we may not achieve sufficient revenue to achieve or maintain profitability. While we have a revenue history, we expect to bring new 
additive manufacturing products to market that we anticipate will generate a substantial portion of our future revenue, and it is difficult for us to predict our future operating 
results. We may incur significant losses in the future for a number of reasons, including due to the other risks described in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, and we may 
encounter unforeseen expenses, difficulties, complications and delays and other unknown events. As a result, our losses may exceed forecasts, we may incur significant losses 
for the foreseeable future, and we may not achieve profitability when expected, or at all, and even if we do, we may not be able to maintain or increase profitability. 
Accordingly, if we are not able to achieve or maintain profitability and we incur significant losses in the future, the market price of our common stock may decline, and you 
could lose part or all of your investment.

We have a relatively limited operating history and have experienced rapid growth, which makes evaluating our current business and future prospects difficult and may 
increase the risk of your investment.

Our ability to forecast our future operating results is subject to a number of uncertainties, including our ability to plan for and model future growth. We have 
encountered, and will continue to encounter, risks and uncertainties frequently experienced by growing companies in rapidly evolving industries, as we continue to grow our 
business. If our assumptions regarding these uncertainties, which we use to plan our business, are incorrect or change in reaction to changes in our markets, or if we do not 
address these risks successfully, our operating and financial results could differ materially from our expectations, our business could suffer and the trading price of our stock 
may decline. We intend to derive a substantial portion of our revenues from sales of new and existing hardware products, which sales are non-recurring and subject to 
significant risk and fluctuation.

It is difficult to predict our future revenues and appropriately budget for our expenses, and we have limited insight into trends that may emerge and affect our business. 
If actual results differ from our estimates or we adjust our estimates in future periods, our operating results and financial position could be materially affected.
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Our operating results may fluctuate significantly from period-to-period and may fall below expectations in any particular period, which could adversely affect the market 
price of our common stock.

Our quarterly and annual results of operations may fluctuate significantly from period-to-period. Accordingly, the results of any one quarter or year should not be relied 
upon as an indication of future performance. If our revenue or operating results fall below the expectations of investors or any securities analysts that follow our company in any 
period, the price of our common stock would likely decline. Each of the risks described in this section, as well as other factors, may affect our operating results. For example, 
factors that may cause our operating results to fluctuate include:

•the degree of market acceptance of our products;

•our ability to compete with competitors and new entrants into our markets;

•changes in our pricing policies or those of our competitors, including our response to price competition;

•the effectiveness of our securing new orders and fulfilling existing orders;

•the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our customers, suppliers, manufacturers and operations;

•the mix of products that we sell during any period;

•the timing of our sales and deliveries of our products to customers;

•changes in the amount that we spend to develop and manufacture new products or technologies;

•timing of expenditures to develop and bring to market new or enhanced products and the generation of revenue from those products;

•changes in the amounts that we and our VARs spend to promote our products;

•changes in the cost of satisfying our warranty obligations and servicing our products, including with respect to our obligations related to our “success plan” offerings;

•litigation-related expenses and/or liabilities;

•unforeseen liabilities or difficulties in integrating our acquisitions or newly acquired businesses;

•disruptions to our internal and third-party manufacturing facilities and processes;

•disruptions to our information technology systems or our third-party contract manufacturers;

•disruptions to our global supply and distribution chains;

•the geographic distribution of our sales, and any related effects of foreign exchange rate fluctuations for sales and expenses that are not in U.S. dollars;

•general economic and industry conditions that affect our costs and/or customer demand, such as increases inflation and interest rates, general economic slowdown and 
potential for recession; and

•changes in accounting rules and tax laws.

In addition, sales of our products are subject to the adoption and capital expenditure cycles of our customers' sales cycle, and seasonality among our customers may 
cause our revenues and operating results to fluctuate from period to period. Accordingly, we typically experience increased sales during the fourth quarter and, to a lesser extent, 
the third quarter of our fiscal year relative to the first and second quarters. Additionally, for our more complex solutions, which may require additional facilities investment and 
installation support, potential customers may spend a substantial amount of time performing internal assessments prior to making a purchase decision. This may cause us to 
devote significant effort in advance of a potential sale without any guarantee of receiving any related revenues. As a result, revenues and operating results for future periods are 
difficult to predict with any significant degree of certainty, which could lead to adverse effects on our inventory levels and overall financial condition. Accordingly, you should 
not rely on quarter-over-quarter and year-over-year comparisons of our results as an indicator of our future performance.

The global COVID-19 pandemic has significantly affected our business and operations.

The COVID-19 pandemic and efforts to control its spread have significantly curtailed the movement of people, goods and services worldwide. In light of the uncertain 
situation relating to the spread of COVID-19 and new variants of the virus, we have taken precautionary measures intended to minimize the risk of the virus to our employees, 
our customers and the communities in which we operate. These measures include temporarily closing our offices to visitors and limiting the number of employees in our offices 
to 
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those that are deemed essential for manufacturing and research purposes, as well as virtualizing, postponing or canceling customer, employee and industry events.

The COVID-19 pandemic has also created many negative headwinds that present risks to our business and results of operations. For example, it has generally disrupted 
the operations of our customers and prospective customers, and may continue to disrupt their operations, including as a result of travel restrictions and/or business shutdowns, 
uncertainty in the financial markets or other harm to their business and financial results. These disruptions have caused reduced capital expenditures by our existing customers 
and potential new customers, which negatively impacted our sales, especially during the period between March 2020 and May 2020 in which we experienced a decrease in sales 
compared to the relevant period in 2019. This reduction was particularly prevalent among customers that are large companies purchasing our more expensive products that 
require greater on-site installation support. Further, in April 2020, we conducted a reduction in force as a result of reduced demand for our products and uncertainty about future 
revenues. Because the future effects of the COVID-19 pandemic are unpredictable, the impact could be more prolonged and significant in the future. These disruptions could 
result in further reductions to capital expenditure budgets, delayed purchasing decisions, longer sales cycles, extended payment terms or missed payments, and postponed or 
canceled projects, any of which would negatively impact our business and operating results, including sales and cash flows. We cannot predict the long-term impact that the 
COVID-19 pandemic may have on our business and cannot guarantee that it will not be materially negative. Although vaccines have become available to the public and states, 
including Massachusetts where our headquarters is located, have begun to ease certain restrictions, we continue to monitor the situation and may adjust our current policies as 
more information and public health guidance become available, the ongoing effects of the COVID-19 pandemic and/or the precautionary measures that we have adopted may 
create operational and other challenges, any of which could harm our business and results of operations.

On September 9, 2021, President Biden directed the Department of Labor’s Occupational Safety and Health Administration (“OSHA”) to issue an Emergency 
Temporary Standard (“ETS”) requiring that all employers with at least 100 employees ensure that their employees are fully vaccinated for COVID-19 or obtain a negative 
COVID-19 test at least once a week. However, OSHA withdrew the ETS on January 26, 2022 as an enforceable emergency temporary standard following the Supreme Court’s 
granting of a stay of its enforcement.  OSHA explicitly did not withdraw the ETS as a proposed rule, such that it is possible that a permanent rule regarding COVID-19 
vaccination and testing requirements will ultimately be issued by OSHA following a formal rulemaking process.  President Biden also issued an Executive Order requiring 
certain COVID-19 precautions for government contractors and their subcontractors, including mandatory employee vaccination (subject to medical and religious exemptions). 
These requirements for federal contractors have been the subject of multiple lawsuits and enforcement has been enjoined nationwide, with appeals from those decisions pending 
in multiple federal appellate courts.  It is not currently possible to predict the impact on the Company of a permanent OSHA rule, or the requirements for government 
contractors and their subcontractors, to the extent that such OSHA rule and requirements for federal contractors are ultimately implemented and enforced.  Further, state and 
local governments in the United States and in international jurisdictions where we operate may implement vaccine mandates and it is not clear if such mandates will go into 
effect, or stay in effect; whether any will apply to all employees or only to employees who work in the office; and how compliance will be documented.  Should such mandates 
apply to us, we may be required to implement a requirement that all of our employees get vaccinated, subject to limited exceptions.   Any requirement to mandate COVID-19 
vaccination of our workforce or require our unvaccinated employees to be tested weekly could result in employee attrition and difficulty securing future labor needs. In 
addition, any requirement to impose obligations on our suppliers under the Executive Order covering government contractors and their subcontractors could impact the price 
and availability of our supply of raw materials and our results of operations and financial condition could be adversely affected.

In addition, many of our suppliers are experiencing operational challenges as a result of COVID-19, which has affected our supply chain and could have an adverse 
effect on our ability to provide products to our customers. Our suppliers may have to temporarily close a facility for disinfecting after employees tested positive for COVID-19, 
face staffing shortages from employees who are sick or apprehensive about coming to work or be overwhelmed by unexpected demand. Because of measures we took to 
increase inventory, the difficulties experienced by our suppliers have had minimal impact on our ability to ship products to our customers; however, these measures had a 
negative impact on short-term profitability and if the COVID-19 pandemic continues, it may negatively affect our inventory and delay delivery to our customers, which in turn 
will adversely affect our revenue and results of operations. If our suppliers are unable to deliver the materials we require on a timely basis, we cannot guarantee that we will be 
able to locate alternative sources of supply for our products on acceptable terms, or at all. If we are unable to adequately purchase appropriate amounts of inventory, our business 
and results of operations may be materially and adversely affected.

Additionally, the COVID-19 pandemic has impacted, and may continue to impact, our headquarters, which is our primary corporate office, sales and marketing center 
and has also impacted our in-house manufacturing location, including through the effects of facility closures, reductions in operating hours and other social distancing efforts. 
For example, if even a small number of our employees who work in clusters relating to critical functions such as manufacturing, procurement, supply chain, and research and 
development, test positive for COVID-19, the entire business function could be temporarily shut down to ensure the safety of our employees and the effectiveness of business 
would be severely impacted. Additionally, while Massachusetts and other states have 
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begun to ease restrictions on in-person operations, we cannot predict whether these conditions and concerns will continue or whether we will experience more significant or 
frequent disruptions in the future, including the complete closure of one or more of our facilities. It is possible that widespread remote work arrangements may have a negative 
impact on our operations, the execution of our business plans, the productivity and availability of key personnel and other employees necessary to conduct our business, and on 
third party service providers who perform critical services for us, or otherwise cause operational failures due to changes in our normal business practices necessitated by the 
outbreak and related governmental actions. If a natural disaster, power outage, connectivity issue or other event occurred that impacted our employees’ ability to work remotely, 
it may be difficult or, in certain cases, impossible, for us to continue our business for a substantial period of time. The increase in remote working may also result in increased 
consumer privacy, data security and fraud risks, and our understanding of applicable legal and regulatory requirements, as well as the latest guidance from regulatory 
authorities in connection with the COVID-19 pandemic, may be subject to legal or regulatory challenge, particularly as regulatory guidance evolves in response to future 
developments.

More generally, the COVID-19 pandemic has had, and is expected to continue to have, an adverse effect on economies and financial markets globally, leading to a 
continued economic downturn, which is expected to decrease technology spending generally and could adversely affect demand for our platforms and services. It is not possible 
at this time to estimate the full impact that COVID-19 will have on our business, as the impact will depend on future developments, which are highly uncertain and cannot be 
predicted.

To the extent the COVID-19 pandemic adversely affects our business, financial condition and results of operations, it may also have the effect of heightening many of 
the other risks described in this “Risk Factors” section, including but not limited to, those related to our ability to increase sales to existing and new customers, increases to costs 
and potential delays from reliance on global suppliers and distribution networks, continue to perform on existing contracts, develop and deploy new technologies, and expand 
our marketing capabilities and sales organization.

Risks Related to the Additive Manufacturing Industry

The additive manufacturing industry in which we operate is characterized by rapid technological change, requiring continual innovation and development of new products 
and innovations to meet constantly evolving customer demands.

Our revenues are derived from the sale of 3D printers and related materials and services. The additive manufacturing market is subject to rapid innovation and 
technological change and our customers’ needs are rapidly evolving. While we intend to invest substantial resources to remain on the forefront of technological development, 
continuing advances in additive manufacturing technology, changes in customer requirements and preferences and the emergence of new standards, regulations and 
certifications could adversely affect adoption of our products. Our ability to compete in the additive manufacturing market depends, in large part, on our success in developing 
and introducing new 3D printers and technology, in improving our existing products and technology and qualifying new materials which our systems can support. We believe 
that we must continuously enhance and expand the functionality and features of our products and technologies in order to remain competitive. However, we may not be able to:

•predict future customer demand;

•develop cost effective new products and technologies that address the increasingly complex needs of prospective customers;

•enhance our existing products and technologies;

•respond to technological advances and emerging industry standards and certifications on a cost-effective and timely basis;

•adequately protect our intellectual property as we develop new products and technologies;

•identify the appropriate technology or product to which to devote our resources; or

•ensure the availability of cash resources to fund research and development.

Even if we successfully introduce new additive manufacturing products and technologies and enhance our existing products and technologies, it is possible that these 
will eventually supplant our existing products or that our competitors will develop new products and technologies that will replace our own. As a result, any of our products 
may be rendered obsolete or uneconomical by our or our competitors’ technological advances, leading to a loss in market share, decline in revenue and adverse effects to our 
business and prospects.
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We face intense and growing competition in the additive manufacturing industry. Our inability to compete effectively with our competitors could affect our ability to achieve 
our anticipated market penetration and achieve or sustain profitability.

The additive manufacturing industry in which we operate is highly competitive. We compete for customers with a wide variety of producers of additive manufacturing 
equipment that creates 3D objects and end-use parts, as well as with providers of materials and services for this equipment. Some of our existing and potential competitors are 
researching, designing, developing and marketing other types of products and services that may render our existing or future products obsolete, uneconomical or less 
competitive. Existing and potential competitors may also have substantially greater financial, technical, marketing and sales, manufacturing, distribution and other resources 
than us, including name recognition, as well as experience and expertise in intellectual property rights and operating within certain international markets or industry verticals, 
any of which may enable them to compete effectively against us. Moreover, many of our competitors have more extensive customer and partner relationships than we do, and 
may therefore be in a better position to identify and respond to market developments or changes in customer demands, including successfully developing technologies that 
outperform our technologies. Potential customers may also prefer to purchase from their existing suppliers rather than a new supplier regardless of product performance or 
features. For example, a number of companies that have substantial resources have announced that they are beginning production of 3D printers, which will further enhance the 
competition we face.

In addition, independent suppliers offer non-original supplies (including imitation, refill and remanufactured alternatives), which are often available for lower prices but 
which can also offer lower print quality and reliability compared to our supplies. If our customers utilize these non-original supplies with our printers, it could adversely impact 
our operating results and may have a negative impact on our brand.

Future competition may arise from the development of allied or related techniques for equipment, materials, software and services that are not encompassed by our 
patents, from the issuance of patents to other companies that may inhibit our ability to develop certain products and from improvements to existing technologies.

We intend to continue to follow a strategy of continuing product development, VAR and distribution network expansion to enhance our competitive position to the 
extent practicable. But we cannot assure you that we will be able to maintain our current position or continue to compete successfully against current and future sources of 
competition. If we do not keep pace with technological change and introduce new products and technologies, demand for our products may decline, and our operating results 
may suffer.

Declines in the prices of our products and services, or in our volume of sales, together with our relatively inflexible cost structure, may adversely affect our financial results.

Our business is subject to price competition. Such price competition may adversely affect our results of operation, especially during periods of decreased demand. 
Decreased demand also adversely impacts the volume of our sales. If our business is not able to offset price reductions resulting from these pressures, or decreased volume of 
sales due to contractions in the market, by improved operating efficiencies and reduced expenditures, then our operating results will be adversely affected.

Although we generally do not have long-term supply agreements, certain of our operating costs are fixed and cannot readily be reduced, which has an impact on our 
operating results. To the extent the demand for our products slows, or the additive manufacturing market contracts, we may be faced with excess manufacturing capacity and 
related costs that cannot readily be reduced, which will adversely impact our financial condition and results of operations. Conversely, because we generally do not have long-
term supply agreements, we have recently experienced and expect to continue to be subject to the risk of significant cost increases and parts shortages by our suppliers, or 
decisions by our suppliers to cease selling certain parts and materials to us.

Increased consolidation among our customers, suppliers and competitors in the additive manufacturing industry may have an adverse effect on our business and results of 
operations.

Increased consolidation in the additive manufacturing industry among our customers, suppliers and competitors may adversely affect our business and results of 
operations. Customer consolidation could lead to changes in buying patterns, slowdowns in spending, and impact our distribution channels. Moreover, the significant purchasing 
power of these large companies can increase pricing and competitive pressures for us, including the potential for decreases in our average selling prices. If one of our customers 
is acquired by another company that does not rely on us to provide it with products or relies on another provider of similar products, we may lose that customer’s business. Any 
of the foregoing results will adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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In addition, supplier consolidation may lead to increased prices of materials for our products, deployment delays and/or a disruption in output. In addition, such 
consolidation may exacerbate the risks relating to our dependence on a small number of suppliers for certain materials that are required to manufacture our products.

We may experience significant delays in the design, production and launch of our additive manufacturing solutions and enhancements to existing products, and we may be 
unable to successfully commercialize products on our planned timelines.

We have several additive manufacturing solutions and enhancements to existing products that are still under development. There are often delays in the design, testing, 
manufacture and commercial release of new products, and any delay in the launch of our products could materially damage our brand, business, growth prospects, financial 
condition and operating results. Even if we successfully complete the design, testing and manufacture for one or all of our products or enhancements under development, we 
may fail to develop a commercially successful product on the timeline we expect for a number of reasons, including:

•misalignment between the products and customer needs;

•length of sales cycles;

•insufficient product innovation;

•product quality and performance issues;

•insufficient resources or qualified personnel to develop the product;

•failure of the product to perform in accordance with the customer’s expectations and industry standards;

•inability to procure parts of adequate quality needed to build the product on commercially acceptable terms, or at all;

•insufficient labor or process stability to build the product to required specifications;

•ineffective distribution, sales and marketing;

•delay in obtaining any required regulatory approvals;

•the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on production, distribution and demand for our products;

•increased production costs, including due to general inflationary pressures on the supplies we procure, and unexpected delays; or

•release of competitive products.

Our success in the market for the new products we develop will depend in part on our ability to prove our new products’ capabilities in a timely manner. Until 
demonstration, our customers may not believe that our products and/or technology have the capabilities they were designed to have or that we believe they have. Furthermore, 
even if we do successfully demonstrate our products’ capabilities, potential customers may be more comfortable doing business with a competitor, including another larger and 
more established company, may take longer than expected to make the decision to order our products, or may not have the budget or decision-making authority to purchase the 
product. Significant revenue from new product investments may not be achieved for a number of years, if at all. If the timing of our launch of new products and/or of our 
customers’ acceptance of such products is different than our assumptions, our revenue and results of operations may be adversely affected.

Changes in our product mix may impact our gross margins and financial performance.

Our financial performance may be affected by the mix of products and services we sell during a given period. We expect to continue to offer products at a variety of 
price points. Sales of certain of our products have, or are expected to have, higher gross margin contributions than others. If our product mix shifts too far into lower gross 
margin products, or we are unable to maintain or increase gross margins, and we are not able to sufficiently reduce the engineering, production and other costs associated with 
those products or substantially increase the sales of our higher gross margin products, our profitability could be reduced. Additionally, the introduction of new products or 
services may further heighten quarterly fluctuations in gross profit and gross profit margins due to manufacturing ramp-up and start-up costs. Relatedly, if our product mix shifts 
such that our production rates decrease, our product costs and margins may be negatively impacted. We may experience significant quarterly fluctuations in gross profit 
margins or operating income or loss due to the impact of the mix of products, channels or geographic areas in which we sell our products from period to period.

Risks Related to Our Business Operations
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Our failure to meet our customers’ price expectations would adversely affect our business and results of operations.

Demand for our product lines is sensitive to price. We believe our competitive pricing has been an important factor in our results to date. Therefore, changes in our 
pricing strategies can have a significant impact on our business and ability to generate revenue. Many factors, including our production and personnel costs, our competitors’ 
pricing and marketing strategies, general inflationary pressures, our customers’ budgets, the value our products bring to our customers and our desire to hit revenue goals can 
significantly impact our pricing strategies. If we fail to meet our customers’ price expectations in any given period, demand for our products and product lines could be 
negatively impacted and our business, results of operations and brand could suffer.

Our revenue model is evolving and we may introduce new revenue models or avenues that may not be accepted by our customers and as such will not materialize.

We depend on our network of VARs and other distribution partners and if we fail to maintain successful relationships, or if they fail to perform, our ability to market, sell 
and distribute our products will be limited, and our business, financial position and results of operations will be harmed.

We rely heavily on our global network of VARs and other distribution partners to sell our products and to provide installation and support services to customers in their 
respective geographic regions. These VARs and other distribution partners may not be as effective in selling our products or installing and supporting our customers as we 
expect. Moreover, a VAR or other distribution partner may misrepresent the capabilities of our products without our knowledge either intentionally or unintentionally due to the 
inherent complexity of our products. Further, our VARs and other distribution partners can terminate their contracts with us at any time, and if our contracts with a significant 
number of VARs and other distribution partners, or with the most effective VARs and other distribution partners, were to terminate or if they would otherwise fail or refuse to 
sell certain of our products, we may not be able to find replacements that are as qualified or as successful in a timely manner, if at all.

Recruiting and retaining qualified VARs and other distribution partners and training them in our technologies requires significant time and resources. These VARs and 
other distribution partners may also market, sell and support other technologies in unrelated markets and may devote more resources to the marketing, sales and support of such 
products.

In addition, if our VARs and other distribution partners do not perform as anticipated, or if we are unable to secure qualified and successful VARs and other distribution 
partners, our sales will suffer, which would have an adverse effect on our revenues and operating results. Because we also depend upon our VARs and other distribution 
partners to provide installation and support services for products, if our VAR or distribution partner relationships were terminated or limited to certain products, we may face 
disruption in providing support for our customers, which would adversely affect our brand, reputation and our results of operations. Any failure to offer high-quality technical 
support services may adversely affect our relationships with our customers and adversely affect our financial results and brand.

Further, we require that our VARs and other distribution partners adhere to all local laws and regulations, but it is possible that a VAR or other distribution partner 
could violate such laws or regulations, which could adversely impact our business, reputation and financial results and brand. Our indirect sales and distribution model could 
subject us to lawsuits, potential liability and brand and reputational harm if, for example, any of our VARs and other distribution partners misrepresent the functionality of our 
products or services to customers or violate laws or our corporate policies.

Additionally, a default by one or more VARs or other distribution partners with whom we have a significant receivables balance could have an adverse financial impact 
on our financial results. In the six months ended June 30, 2022, one VAR generated an aggregate of 12% of revenue and 13% of our accounts receivable balance as of June 30, 
2022. In the event that this VAR or any of our large customers do not continue to purchase our products or purchase fewer of our products, our business, results of operations 
and financial condition could be adversely affected.  We have reviewed our policies that govern credit and collections and will continue to monitor them in light of current 
payment status and economic conditions. In addition, we try to reduce the credit exposures of our accounts receivable by instituting credit limits and additional checks. 
However, there can be no assurance that our efforts to identify potential credit risks will be successful. Our inability to timely identify VARs and other distribution partners that 
are credit risks could result in defaults at a time when such VARs and other distribution partners have high accounts receivable balances with us. Any such default would result 
in a significant charge against our earnings and adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition. 

If our suppliers become unavailable or inadequate, our customer relationships, results of operations and financial condition may be adversely affected.

As a result of supply chain disruptions and the rise of inflation, we have experienced increasing costs and supply shortages that have continued in to 2022.  We acquire 
certain of our materials, which are critical to the ongoing operation and future growth of our 
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business, from several third parties. Generally, our third-party contract manufacturers contract directly with component suppliers with our guidance. We rely on our contract 
manufacturers to manage their supply chains. If one of our contract manufacturers has supply chain disruptions, or our relationship with our contract manufacturer terminates, 
we could experience delays. We also source some materials directly from suppliers. While most manufacturing equipment and materials for our products are available from 
multiple suppliers, certain of those items are only available from limited sources. Should any of these suppliers become unavailable or inadequate, or impose terms unacceptable 
to us, such as increased pricing terms, we could be required to spend a significant amount of time and expense to develop alternate sources of supply, and we may not be 
successful in doing so on terms acceptable to us, or at all. As a result, the loss of a limited source supplier could adversely affect our brand and relationship with our customers 
as well as our results of operations and financial condition.

In the case of certain materials, we have specified a certain grade of a product to be used in our manufacturing process. While there are several potential suppliers of 
most of these component materials that we use, we currently choose to use only one or a limited number of suppliers for several of these components and materials. For those 
materials, we could be impacted by any changes our suppliers make to such materials, which could include specification changes, lead time or cancellation of the material. If 
there is not an alternate product available, replacement thereof would require significant engineering and manufacturing efforts by us to qualify a replacement. Additionally, if a 
supplier of such materials decided to terminate their relationship with us, we may face delays in our production as we seek out a replacement supplier. Our reliance on a single 
or limited number of vendors involves a number of risks, including:

•potential shortages and cost increases of some key components;

•product performance shortfalls, if traceable to particular product components, since the supplier of the faulty component cannot readily be replaced;

•discontinuation of a product or certain materials on which we rely;

•potential insolvency of these vendors; and

•reduced control over delivery schedules, manufacturing capabilities, quality and costs.

In addition, we evaluate new suppliers pursuant to our internal procedures. This process involves evaluations of varying durations, which may cause production delays 
if we were required to qualify a new supplier unexpectedly. We generally assemble our systems and parts based on our internal forecasts and the availability of raw materials, 
assemblies, components and finished goods that are supplied to us by third parties, which are subject to various lead times. If certain suppliers were to decide to discontinue 
production of an assembly, component or raw material that we use, the unanticipated change in the availability of supplies, or unanticipated supply limitations, could cause 
delays in, or loss of, sales, increased production or related costs and consequently reduced margins, and damage to our reputation. If we were unable to find a suitable supplier 
for a particular component, material or compound, we could be required to modify our existing products or the end-parts that we offer to accommodate substitute components, 
material or compounds. While we monitor risk internally related to our sourcing (particularly concerning raw materials), there is no guarantee that will sufficiently protect us if 
we suddenly lose access to supplies unexpectedly.

Any shortage of a particular component, material or compound could materially and adversely affect our ability to manufacture our products and could lead to increased 
costs to acquire such resources which could adversely affect our business and financial condition. We have in the past experienced and may in the future experience materials 
shortages and price fluctuations of certain key components, materials and compounds, and the predictability of the availability and pricing of these components, materials and 
compounds may be limited. Shortages of components, materials or compounds or pricing fluctuations could be material in the future. In the event of a components, materials or 
compounds shortage, supply interruption or material pricing change from suppliers of these components, materials or compounds, we may not be able to develop alternate 
sources in a timely manner or at all in the case of sole or limited sources. Developing alternate sources of supply for these components, materials or compounds may be time-
consuming, difficult, and costly and we may not be able to source these components, materials or compounds on terms that are acceptable to us, or at all, which may undermine 
our ability to meet our requirements or to fill customer orders in a timely manner. Any interruption or delay in the supply of any of these components, materials or compounds, 
or the inability to obtain these components, materials or compounds from alternate sources at acceptable prices and within a reasonable amount of time, would adversely affect 
our ability to meet our scheduled product deliveries to our customers. This could adversely affect our relationships with our customers and VARs and could cause delays in 
shipment of our products and adversely affect our operating results. In addition, increased component, material or compound costs could result in lower gross margins. Even 
where we are able to pass increased costs along to our customers, there may be a lapse of time before we are able to do so such that we must absorb the increased cost. If we are 
unable to buy these components, materials or compounds in quantities sufficient to meet our requirements on a timely basis, we will not be able to deliver products to our 
customers, which may result in such customers using competitive products instead of ours.
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The recent events precipitated by the COVID-19 pandemic have created minor delays on the inbound supply chain at our partners and our own facilities. Additional 
delays on both inbound and outbound logistics have also created challenges. We have been able to identify alternative solutions such that none of the issues has had a material 
impact on our ability to fulfill demand. If disruptions to global businesses from the pandemic continue or worsen, our business could face greater supply chain delays and 
difficulty shipping or receiving products and materials, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

While we believe that, if necessary, we can obtain all the components necessary for our spare parts and materials from other manufacturers, we will need to guide any 
new manufacturers through evaluation processes of varying durations. Our spare parts and raw materials used in our materials production are subject to various lead times. Any 
unanticipated change in the sources of our supplies, or unanticipated supply limitations, could increase production or related costs and consequently reduce margins.

If our forecasts exceed actual orders, we may hold inventories of slow-moving or unusable parts, which could have an adverse effect on our cash flow, profitability, and 
results of operations. Inversely, we may lose orders if our forecast is low and we are unable to meet demand. There is considerable uncertainty on the business impact from 
current measures and potential future measures to contain the spread of the COVID-19 pandemic on our vendors, suppliers, and partners, especially if such measures are in 
effect for an extended period of time.

Our business model is predicated, in part, on developing or expanding recurring revenues through the sale of our hardware, consumables, and services. If that recurring 
stream of revenues does not develop as expected, or if our business model changes as the industry evolves, our operating results may be adversely affected.

Our business model is dependent, in part, on our ability to develop, maintain and increase sales of our hardware, consumables, and services as they generate recurring 
revenues. Existing and future customers of our systems may not purchase our consumables and services at the same rate at which customers currently purchase those offerings. 
If our current and future customers purchase a lower volume of our consumables and services, resulting overall in lower purchases of consumables and services on average than 
with our current installed customer base, our recurring revenue stream relative to our total revenues would be reduced and our operating results would be adversely affected.

We rely on a limited number of third-party logistics providers for distribution of our products, and their failure to distribute our products effectively and in a cost effective 
manner would adversely affect our sales.

We rely on a limited number of third-party logistics providers for shipping our products. Each third-party logistics provider stores our products in a limited number of 
warehouses where they prepare and ship our products based on digital instructions. The use of a limited number of third-party logistics providers increases the risk that a fire or 
damage from another type of disaster at any of the warehouses may result in a disruption of our commercialization efforts. Additionally, because we use a limited number of 
third-party logistics providers, if there is a disruption in the distribution channels of such third-party logistics providers, including but not limited to any disruption caused by 
global shipping capacity, labor shortages and the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, our business and financial condition could be adversely impacted.

If our third-party logistics providers do not fulfill their contractual obligations to us, or refuse or fail to adequately distribute our products, such as by shipping our 
products to the incorrect recipient, or the agreements are terminated without adequate notice, shipments of our products, and associated revenues, would be adversely affected. 
In addition, we expect that it may take a significant amount of time if we were required to change our third-party logistics providers and would require significant efforts to 
provide the systems support required for a new provider to effectively support our operations.

If demand for our products does not grow as expected, or if market adoption of additive manufacturing does not continue to develop, or develops more slowly than 
expected, our revenues may stagnate or decline, and our business may be adversely affected.

We believe that the industrial manufacturing market, which today is dominated by conventional manufacturing processes that do not involve additive manufacturing 
technology, is undergoing a shift towards additive manufacturing. We may not be able to develop effective strategies to raise awareness among potential customers of the 
benefits of additive manufacturing technologies or our products may not address the specific needs or provide the level of functionality required by potential customers to 
encourage the continuation of this shift towards additive manufacturing. We must anticipate, sometimes several years in advance, the direction that the additive market is taking. 
We may not correctly anticipate the direction, which may lead us to invest in the wrong products, which may adversely affect our results of operation and financial condition. If 
additive manufacturing technology does not continue to gain broader market acceptance as an alternative to conventional manufacturing processes, or if the marketplace adopts 
additive manufacturing technologies that differ from our technologies, we may not be able to increase or sustain the level of sales of our products, and our operating results 
would be adversely affected as a result.
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Defects in new products or in enhancements to our existing products that give rise to product returns or warranty or other claims could result in material expenses, 
diversion of management time and attention and damage to our reputation.

Our additive manufacturing solutions are complex and may contain undetected defects or errors when first introduced or as enhancements are released that, despite 
testing, are not discovered until after a machine has been used. We may not know which products are affected by defects. These defects could be systemic and could affect all of 
the products we shipped prior to discovery thereof. It may not be economically feasible to identify, replace or repair all affected products. In the event that the defect is severe 
enough or impacts customer safety, a product recall may be required. This could result in delayed market acceptance of those products or claims from VARs, customers or 
others, which may result in litigation, increased customer warranty, support and repair or replacement costs, damage to our reputation and business, or significant costs and 
diversion of support, management and engineering personnel to correct the defect or error. We may from time to time become subject to warranty or product liability claims 
related to product quality issues that may require us to take remedial action and could, regardless of merit, lead us to incur significant expenses, result in diversion of 
management time and attention, damage to our business and reputation and brand, and cause us to fail to retain existing customers or fail to attract new customers.

We attempt to include provisions in our agreements with customers that are designed to manage our exposure to potential liability for damages arising from defects or 
errors in our products. However, it is possible that these provisions may not be effective as a result of unfavorable judicial decisions or laws enacted in the future.

We may be unable to consistently manufacture our products to the necessary specifications or in quantities necessary to meet demand at an acceptable cost or at an 
acceptable performance level.

Our products are integrated solutions with many different components that work together. As such, a quality defect in a single component can compromise the 
performance of the entire solution. As we continue to grow and introduce new products, and as our products incorporate increasingly sophisticated technology, such as our 
FX20 system, which will be the largest and most complex printer we have ever developed, it will be increasingly difficult to ensure our products are produced in the necessary 
quantities without sacrificing quality. There is no assurance that we or our third-party manufacturers and any component suppliers will be able to continue to manufacture our 
products so that they consistently achieve the product specifications and quality that our customers expect. Relatedly, certain of our components are sourced by a single supplier 
and, if the supply became disrupted as a result of insufficient quality, service delays or any other factor, our manufacturing efforts may be adversely affected. Any future design 
issues, unforeseen manufacturing problems, such as contamination of our or such third-party facilities, equipment malfunctions, aging components, component obsolescence, 
business continuity issues, quality issues with components and materials sourced from third party suppliers, or failures to strictly follow procedures or meet specifications, may 
have a material adverse effect on our brand, business, financial condition and operating results. Furthermore, we or our third-party manufacturers may not be able to increase 
manufacturing to meet anticipated demand or may experience downtime.

In order to meet our customers’ needs, we attempt to forecast demand for our products and components used for the manufacture of our products. If we fail to accurately 
forecast this demand, we could incur additional costs or experience manufacturing delays and may experience lost sales or significant inventory carrying costs.

The risk of manufacturing defects or quality control issues is generally higher for new products, whether produced by us or a third-party manufacturer, products that are 
transitioned from one manufacturer to another, particularly if manufacturing is transitioned or initiated with a manufacturer we have not worked with in the past, and products 
that are transferred from one manufacturing facility to another. We cannot assure investors that we and our third-party manufacturers will be able to launch new products on 
time, transition manufacturing of existing products to new manufacturers, transition our manufacturing capabilities to a new location or transition manufacturing of any 
additional materials in-house without manufacturing defects. An inability to manufacture products and components that consistently meet specifications, in necessary quantities 
and at commercially acceptable costs will have a negative impact and may have a material adverse effect on our brand, business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our commercial contracts generally contain product warranties and limitations on liability and we carry liability insurance in amounts that we believe are adequate for 
our risk exposure and commensurate with industry norms. However, commercial terms and our insurance coverage may not be adequate or available to protect our company in 
all circumstances, and we might not be able to maintain adequate insurance coverage for our business in the future at an acceptable cost. Any liability claim against us that is 
not covered by adequate insurance could adversely affect our consolidated results of operations and financial condition. Finally, any liability claim against us may cause harm to 
our brand, reputation and adversely impact our business.

We are dependent on the continued services and performance of our senior management and other key employees, as well as on our ability to successfully hire, train, 
manage and retain qualified personnel.
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Our future performance depends on the continued services and contributions of our executive team and other key employees to execute on our business plan and to 
identify and pursue new opportunities and product innovations. Such persons may resign at any time and the loss of their services could delay or prevent the successful 
implementation of our strategy, commercialization of new applications for our systems or other products, or could otherwise adversely affect our ability to manage our 
company effectively and carry out our business plan. There is no assurance that if any senior executive or other key employee leaves in the future, we will be able to rapidly 
replace him or her and transition smoothly towards his or her successor, without any adverse impact on our operations.

Our ability to successfully pursue our growth strategy will also depend on our ability to attract, motivate and retain existing and new personnel. We experience intense 
competition for qualified senior management and other key personnel (including scientific, technical, manufacturing, engineering, financial and sales personnel) in the additive 
manufacturing industry, especially in the greater Boston area. In addition, we have experienced increased competition and shortages for skilled labor, particularly for the key 
roles noted above.  Our personnel are generally employed on an at-will basis, which means that they could terminate their employment with us at any time. There can be no 
assurance that we will be able to retain our current key personnel or attract new persons to join our organization in the future. Some of our competitors for these employees have 
greater resources and more experience, making it difficult for us to compete successfully for key personnel. These pressures could result in increased costs in order to provide 
competitive compensation packages to attract and retain key personnel. Moreover, new employees may not be as productive as we expect since we may face challenges in 
adequately integrating them into our workforce and culture. If we cannot attract and retain sufficiently qualified technical employees for our research product development 
activities, as well as experienced sales and marketing personnel, we may be unable to develop and commercialize new products and enhancements to existing products.

As manufacturing becomes a larger part of our operations, we will become exposed to accompanying risks and liabilities.

In-house and outsourced manufacturing has been and continues to be a significant part of our business. As a result, we expect to continue to be subject to various risks 
associated with the manufacturing and supply of products, including the following:

•If we fail to supply products in accordance with contractual terms, including terms related to time of delivery and performance specifications, we may be required to 
repair or replace defective products and may become liable for direct, special, consequential and other damages, even if manufacturing or delivery was outsourced;

•Raw materials used in the manufacturing process, labor and other key inputs may become scarce, obsolete and expensive, causing our costs to exceed cost projections 
and associated revenues;

•Manufacturing processes typically involve large machinery, fuels and chemicals, any or all of which may lead to accidents involving bodily harm, destruction of facilities 
and environmental contamination and associated liabilities;

•As our manufacturing operations expand, we expect that a significant portion of our manufacturing will be done in regions outside the United States, either by third-
party contractors or in a plant owned by the Company. Any manufacturing done in such locations presents risks associated with quality control, currency exchange rates, 
foreign laws and customs, timing and loss risks associated with international transportation and potential adverse changes in the political, legal and social environment in 
the host county;

•We have made, and may be required to make, representations as to our right to supply and/or license intellectual property and to our compliance with laws. Such 
representations are usually supported by indemnification provisions requiring us to defend our customers and otherwise make them whole if we license or supply products 
that infringe on third-party technologies or violate government regulations;

•As our manufacturing operations scale, so will our dependence on skilled labor at both in-house and third-party manufacturing facilities. If we are unable to obtain and 
maintain skilled labor resources, we may unable to meet customer production demands; and

•With scaling production volume, demand for our products may make up a significant percentage of global volume in select categories or commodities. Such 
commodities could be subject to large pricing swings due to the global political, legal and social environment and could cause our costs to exceed productions and 
associated revenues.

Any failure to adequately manage risks associated with the manufacture and supply of materials and products could adversely affect profits from that segment of our 
business and/or lead to significant liabilities, which would harm our brand, business, operations and financial condition.

Under applicable employment laws, we may not be able to enforce covenants not to compete and therefore may be unable to prevent our competitors from benefiting from 
the expertise of some of our former employees.
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We generally enter into non-competition agreements with our employees. These agreements prohibit our employees from competing directly with us or working for our 
competitors or clients for a limited period after they cease working for us. We may be unable to enforce these agreements under the laws of the jurisdictions in which our 
employees work and it may be difficult for us to restrict our competitors from benefiting from the expertise that our former employees or consultants developed while working 
for us. For example, in Massachusetts, where most of our employees are based, applicable law imposes a number of requirements to enter into a valid non-competition 
agreement, and in California non-competition agreements with employees are generally unenforceable after termination of employment.

We expect to continue to experience rapid growth and organizational change. If we fail to manage our growth effectively, we may be unable to execute our business plan, 
maintain high levels of service and customer satisfaction or attract new employees and customers.

We expect to continue to experience growth in our number of customers, sales, revenues and headcount. We expect to continue to make significant investments in our 
business, including investments in our infrastructure, software, technology, personnel headcount, facilities, marketing and sales efforts. If our business does not generate the 
level of revenue required to support our investment, our net sales and profitability will be adversely affected.

To manage growth in our operations and personnel, we will need to continue to scale and improve our operational, financial, and management controls, and our 
reporting systems and procedures, which will require significant capital expenditures, increasing our cost of operations and the reallocation of valuable management resources. 
As we scale, it may become more difficult and will require additional capital expenditures to maintain and increase the productivity of our employees, expand production, to 
address the needs of our actual and prospective customers, to further develop and enhance our products, and remain competitive against our competitors’ products. These 
enhancements and improvements will require significant capital expenditures, investments in additional headcount and other operating expenditures and allocation of valuable 
management and employee resources, including but not limited to investments related to our facilities. Our future financial performance and our ability to execute on our 
business plan will depend, in part, on our ability to effectively manage any future growth and expansion. There are no guarantees we will be able to do so in an efficient or 
timely manner, or at all.

As we acquire and invest in companies or technologies, we may not realize expected business, technological or financial benefits and the acquisitions or investments could 
prove difficult to integrate, disrupt our business, dilute stockholder value and adversely affect our business, results of operations, and financial condition.

As part of our business strategy, we may evaluate and make investments in, or acquisitions of, complementary companies, products, software and technologies, to 
further grow and augment our business and product offerings. The success of any attempts to grow our business through acquisitions to complement our business depends in part 
on the availability of, our ability to identify, and our ability to engage and pursue suitable acquisition candidates. We may not be able to find suitable acquisition candidates, and 
we may not be able to complete acquisitions on favorable terms, if at all.

If we do complete future acquisitions, we cannot assure you that they will ultimately strengthen our competitive position or that they will be viewed positively by 
customers, financial markets or investors. Furthermore, future acquisitions could pose numerous additional risks to our operations, including:

•diversion of management’s attention from existing operations;

•unanticipated costs or liabilities associated with the acquisition, including risks associated with acquired intellectual property and/or technologies;

•incurrence of acquisition-related costs, which would be recognized as a current period expense;

•difficulties in, and the cost of, integrating personnel and cultures, operations, technologies, products and services which may lead to failure to achieve the expected 
benefits on a timely basis or at all;

•challenges in achieving strategic objectives, cost savings and other anticipated benefits;

•inability to maintain relationships with key customers, suppliers, vendors and other third parties on which the purchased business relies;

•the difficulty of incorporating acquired technology and rights into our products and product portfolio and of maintaining quality and security standards consistent with 
our brand;

•ineffective controls, procedures and policies inherited from the acquired company or during the transition and integration;
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•inability to generate sufficient revenue to offset acquisition and/or investment costs;

•negative impact to our results of operations because of the depreciation of amounts related to acquired intangible assets, fixed assets, and deferred compensation;

•requirements to record certain acquisition-related costs and other items as current period expenses, which would have the effect of reducing our reported earnings in the 
period in which an acquisition is consummated;

•the loss of acquired unearned revenue and unbilled unearned revenue;

•recording goodwill or other long-lived asset impairment charges (if any) in the periods in which they occur, which could result in a significant charge to our earnings in 
any such period;

•use of substantial portions of our available cash, issuance of dilutive equity or the incurrence of debt to consummate the acquisition;

•potential write-offs of acquired assets or investments, and potential financial and credit risks associated with acquired customers;

•tax effects and costs of any such acquisitions, including the related integration into our tax structure and assessment of the impact on the realizability of our future tax 
assets or liabilities;

•the potential entry into new markets in which we have little or no experience or where competitors may have stronger market positions; and

•currency and regulatory risks associated with conducting operations in foreign countries.

Each of the above challenges are exacerbated by the COVID-19 pandemic, which complicates our ability to complete and integrate any future acquisition into our 
business and could adversely affect the acquired business in unexpected ways.

We may require additional capital to support business growth, and this capital might not be available on acceptable terms, if at all.

We intend to continue to make investments to support our business growth and may require additional funds to respond to business challenges and opportunities, 
including the need to develop new features or enhance our products, improve our operating infrastructure or acquire complementary businesses and technologies. Accordingly, 
we may need to engage in equity or debt financings to secure additional funds if our existing sources of cash and any funds generated from operations do not provide us with 
sufficient capital. If we raise additional funds through future issuances of equity or convertible debt securities, our existing stockholders could suffer significant dilution, and 
any new equity securities we issue could have rights, preferences and privileges superior to those of holders of our common stock. Any debt financing that we may secure in the 
future could involve restrictive covenants relating to our capital raising activities and other financial and operational matters, which may make it more difficult for us to obtain 
additional capital and to pursue business opportunities, including potential acquisitions. We may not be able to obtain additional financing on terms favorable to us, for example, 
if interest rates continue to rise and make debt financing prohibitively expensive, or such financing may not be available at all. If we are unable to obtain adequate financing or 
financing on terms satisfactory to us when we require it, our ability to continue to support our business growth and to respond to business challenges and opportunities could be 
significantly impaired, and our business may be adversely affected.

Risks Related to Third Parties

A real or perceived defect, security vulnerability, error or performance failure in our software or technical problems or disruptions caused by our third-party service 
providers could cause us to lose revenue, damage our reputation and expose us to liability.

Our hardware products rely upon our complementary software products which are inherently complex and, despite extensive testing and quality control, have in the past 
and may in the future contain defects or errors, especially when first introduced, or otherwise not perform as contemplated. As the use of our products, including products that 
were recently acquired or developed, expands to more sensitive, secure or mission critical uses by our customers, we may be subject to increased scrutiny, potential reputational 
risk or potential liability should our software fail to perform as contemplated in such deployments. We have in the past and may in the future need to issue corrective releases of 
our software to fix these defects, errors or performance failures and we may encounter technical problems when we attempt to perform routine maintenance or enhance our 
software, internal applications, and systems, which could require us to allocate significant research and development and customer support resources to address these problems 
and divert the focus of our management and research and development teams. In addition, our platform may be negatively impacted by technical issues experienced by our 
third-party service providers.

52



 

Our business, brands, reputation and ability to attract and retain customers depend upon the satisfactory performance, reliability and availability of our software 
products, which in turn, with respect to our planned software as a service (“SaaS”) offerings depend upon the availability of the internet and our third-party service providers. 
For example, for our SaaS offerings we outsource our cloud infrastructure to Amazon Web Services (“AWS”), our hosting provider, which hosts our software products. Our 
hosting provider runs its own platforms upon which our products depend, and we are, therefore, vulnerable to service interruptions at the hosting provider level. We do not 
control the operation of any of AWS’ data center hosting facilities, and they may be subject to damage or interruption from earthquakes, floods, fires, power loss, 
telecommunications failures, terrorist attacks and similar events. They may also be subject to interruptions due to system failures, computer viruses, software errors or subject to 
breaches of computer hardware and software security, break-ins, sabotage, intentional acts of vandalism and similar misconduct. And while we rely on service level agreements 
with our hosting provider, if they do not properly maintain their infrastructure or if they incur unplanned outages, our customers may experience performance issues or 
unexpected interruptions and we may not meet our service level agreement terms with our customers. We have experienced, and expect that in the future we may experience 
interruptions, delays and outages in service and availability from time to time due to a variety of factors, including infrastructure changes, human or software errors, website 
hosting disruptions and capacity constraints.

Any inefficiencies, security vulnerabilities, errors, defects, technical problems or performance failures with our software, internal applications and systems could reduce 
the quality of our products or interfere with our customers’ (and their users’) use of our products, which could negatively impact our brand and reputation, reduce demand, lead 
to a loss of customers or revenue, adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition, increase our costs to resolve such issues and subject us to financial penalties 
and liabilities under our service level agreements. Any limitation of liability provisions that may be contained in our customer agreements may not be effective as a result of 
existing or future applicable law or unfavorable judicial decisions. The sale and support of our products entail the risk of liability claims, which could be substantial in light of 
the use of our products in enterprise-wide environments. In addition, our insurance against this liability may not be adequate to cover a potential claim.

We depend on a limited number of third-party contract manufacturers for a substantial portion of all of our manufacturing needs and any delay, disruption or quality 
control problems in their operations, including due to the COVID-19 pandemic, could cause harm to our operations, including loss of market share and damage to our 
brand.

We depend on third-party contract manufacturers for the production of our 3D printers and on third-party suppliers for the components and raw materials used in our 
products. While there are several potential manufacturers for most of these products, all of our products are manufactured, assembled, tested and generally packaged by a 
limited number of third-party manufacturers and several single source providers of certain supplies. In most cases, we rely on these manufacturers to procure components and, 
in some cases, subcontract engineering work. Our reliance on a limited number of contract manufacturers involves a number of risks, including:

•unexpected increases in manufacturing and repair costs;

•inability to control the quality and reliability of products;

•inability to control delivery schedules;

•potential liability for expenses incurred by third-party contract manufacturers in reliance on our forecasts that later prove to be inaccurate;

•potential lack of adequate capacity to manufacture all or a part of the products we require;

•potential labor unrest affecting the ability of the third-party manufacturers to produce our products; and

•unexpected component or process obsolescence making key components unavailable.

If any of our third-party contract manufacturers experience a delay, disruption or quality control problems in their operations, including due to the COVID-19 pandemic 
and global supply chain disruptions, or if a primary third-party contract manufacturer does not renew its agreement with us, our operations could be significantly disrupted and 
our product shipments could be delayed. Qualifying a new manufacturer and commencing volume production is expensive and time consuming. Ensuring that a contract 
manufacturer is qualified to manufacture our products to our standards is time consuming. In addition, there is no assurance that a contract manufacturer can scale its production 
of our products at the volumes and in the quality that we require. If a contract manufacturer is unable to do these things, we may have to move production for the products to a 
new or existing third-party manufacturer, which would take significant effort and our brand, business, results of operations and financial condition could be materially adversely 
affected. Finally, if a contract manufacturer producing a highly specified product changes its materials or is unable to meet our production demands, it could lead to 
specification changes, increased lead time or cancellation of the product.
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As we contemplate moving manufacturing into different jurisdictions, we may be subject to additional significant challenges in ensuring that quality, processes, and 
costs, among other issues, are consistent with our expectations.

In addition, because we use a limited number of third-party contract manufacturers, increases in the prices charged may have an adverse effect on our results of 
operations, as we may be unable to find a contract manufacturer who can supply us at a lower price. As a result, the loss of a limited source supplier could adversely affect our 
relationships with our customers and our results of operations and financial condition.

All of our products must satisfy safety and regulatory standards and some of our products must also receive government certifications. We rely on third-party providers 
to conduct the tests that support our applications for most regulatory approvals for our products. As part of the certification process, our third-party contract manufacturers are 
subject to audit and must receive approvals from third-parties providing such certifications. Failure to meet these certifications by our third-party contract manufacturers could 
adversely impact our business. Moreover, if our third-party contract manufacturers fail to timely and accurately conduct the tests supporting our applications for regulatory 
approvals, we may be unable to obtain the necessary domestic or foreign regulatory approvals or certifications to sell our products in certain jurisdictions. As a result, we would 
be unable to sell our products and our sales and profitability could be reduced, our relationships with our sales channel could be harmed and our reputation and brand would 
suffer.

Our manufacturing facility and those of our third-party contract manufacturers and suppliers, as well as our customers’ facilities and our third-party logistics providers, 
are vulnerable to disruption due to natural or other disasters, strikes and other events beyond our control.

A major earthquake, fire, tsunami, hurricane, cyclone or other disaster, such as a major flood, seasonal storms, nuclear event or terrorist attack affecting our facilities or 
the areas in which they are located, or affecting those of our customers or third-party manufacturers, suppliers or fulfillment centers, could significantly disrupt our or their 
operations and delay or prevent product shipment or installation during the time required to repair, rebuild or replace our or their damaged manufacturing facilities. These delays 
could be lengthy and costly. If any of our facilities, or those of our third-party contract manufacturers, suppliers, third-party logistics providers or customers are negatively 
impacted by such a disaster, production, shipment and installation of our additive manufacturing machines could be delayed, which can impact the period in which we recognize 
the revenue related to that additive manufacturing machine sale. Additionally, customers may delay purchases of our products until operations return to normal. Even if we are 
able to respond quickly to a disaster, the continued effects of the disaster could create uncertainty in our business operations. In addition, concerns about terrorism, the effects of 
a terrorist attack, political turmoil, labor strikes, war or the outbreak of epidemic or pandemic diseases (including the outbreak of the coronavirus disease COVID-19) could 
have a negative effect on our operations and sales.

Risks Related to International Operations

Our existing and planned global operations subject us to a variety of risks and uncertainties that could adversely affect our business and operating results. Our business is 
subject to risks associated with selling machines and other products in non-United States locations.

Our products and services are distributed across the world, and we derive a substantial percentage of our sales from these international markets. Accordingly, we face 
significant operational risks from doing business internationally.

Our operating results may be affected by volatility in currency exchange rates and our ability to effectively manage our currency transaction risks. Although we 
currently invoice customers in United States dollars, increases in the value of the dollar relative to foreign currencies may make our products less attractive to foreign 
customers. We may also incur currency transaction risks if we were to enter into either a purchase or a sale transaction using a different currency from the currency in which we 
report revenues. In such cases we may suffer an exchange loss because we do not currently engage in currency swaps or other currency hedging strategies to address this risk. 
As we realize our strategy to expand internationally, our exposure to currency risks may increase. Given the volatility of exchange rates, we can give no assurance that we will 
be able to effectively manage our currency transaction risks or that any volatility in currency exchange rates will not have an adverse effect on our results of operations.

The shipments of our products to foreign customers and/or end-users may be subject to tariffs and other restrictions imposed by the destination countries. As we procure 
equipment and materials from foreign suppliers, we may be required to pay import duties and comply with regulations imposed by the U.S. Customs and Border Protection. 
Both the U.S. and foreign tariff rates and import restrictions may change from time to time, which could adversely impact our global operations, for example, by decreasing the 
price competitiveness of our products in foreign markets and/or by increasing our manufacturing costs.
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Other risks and uncertainties we face from our global operations include:

•difficulties in staffing and managing foreign operations;

•limited protection for the enforcement of contract and intellectual property rights in certain countries where we may sell our products or work with suppliers or other 
third parties;

•potentially longer sales and payment cycles and potentially greater difficulties in collecting accounts receivable;

•costs and difficulties of customizing products for foreign countries;

•challenges in providing solutions across a significant distance, in different languages and among different cultures;

•laws and business practices favoring local competition;

•being subject to a wide variety of complex foreign laws, treaties and regulations and adjusting to any unexpected changes in such laws, treaties and regulations, including 
local labor laws;

•strict laws and regulations governing privacy and data security, including the European Union’s General Data Protection Regulation;

•uncertainty and resultant political, financial and market instability arising from the United Kingdom’s exit from the European Union;

•compliance with U.S. laws affecting activities of U.S. companies abroad, including the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act;

•tariffs, trade barriers and other regulatory or contractual limitations on our ability to sell or develop our products in certain foreign markets;

•operating in countries with a higher incidence of corruption and fraudulent business practices;

•changes in regulatory requirements, including export controls, tariffs and embargoes, other trade restrictions, competition, corporate practices and data privacy concerns;

•failure by our VARs or other distribution partners to comply with local laws or regulations, export controls, tariffs and embargoes or other trade restrictions;

•potential adverse tax consequences arising from global operations;

•seasonal reductions in business activity in certain parts of the world, particularly during the summer months in Europe and at year end globally;

•rapid changes in government, economic and political policies and conditions; and

•political or civil unrest or instability, terrorism or epidemics and other similar outbreaks or events.

In addition, additive manufacturing has been identified by the U.S. government as an emerging technology and is currently being further evaluated for national security 
impacts. We expect additional regulatory changes to be implemented that will result in increased and/or new export controls related to additive manufacturing technologies, 
components and related materials and software. These changes, if implemented, may result in our being required to obtain additional approvals and/or licenses to sell 3D 
printers in the global market.

Our failure to effectively manage the risks and uncertainties associated with our global operations could limit the future growth of our business and adversely affect our 
business and operating results.

Global economic, political and social conditions and uncertainties in the markets that we serve may adversely impact our business.

Our performance depends on the financial health and strength of our customers, which in turn is dependent on the economic conditions of the markets in which we and 
our customers operate. Declines in the global economy, difficulties in the financial services sector and credit markets, continuing geopolitical uncertainties and other 
macroeconomic factors all affect the spending behavior of potential customers. Economic uncertainty in Europe, the United States, India, Japan, China and other countries may 
cause customers and potential customers to further delay or reduce technology purchases.
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We also face risks from financial difficulties or other uncertainties experienced by our suppliers, distributors or other third parties on which we rely. If third parties are 
unable to supply us with required materials or components or otherwise assist us in operating our business, our business could be harmed.

Other changes in U.S. social, political, regulatory and economic conditions or in laws and policies governing foreign trade, manufacturing, development and investment 
could also adversely affect our business. In particular, on June 23, 2016, the U.K. held a referendum in which a majority of the eligible members of the electorate voted to leave 
the EU, commonly referred to as Brexit. Pursuant to Article 50 of the Treaty on EU, the U.K. ceased being a member state of the EU on January 31, 2020. The implementation 
period began February 1, 2020 and continued until December 31, 2020, during which the U.K. continued to follow all of the EU’s rules, and the U.K.’s trading relationship 
remained the same. The U.K. and the EU have signed an EU-UK Trade and Cooperation Agreement, or TCA, which became provisionally applicable on January 1, 2021 and 
then formally entered into force on May 1, 2021 after being ratified by both the U.K. and the EU. This agreement provides details on how some aspects of the U.K. and EU’s 
relationship will operate going forwards however there are still many uncertainties and how the TCA will take effect in practice is still largely unknown. Additionally, there is a 
risk that other countries may decide to leave the European Union. This uncertainty surrounding this transition not only potentially affects our business in the United Kingdom 
and the European Union, but also may have an effect on global economic conditions and the stability of global financial markets, which in turn could have a material adverse 
effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. In extreme cases, we could experience interruptions in production due to the processing of customs 
formalities or reduced customer spending in the wake of weaker economic performance. If global economic conditions remain volatile for a prolonged period or if European 
economies experience further disruptions, our results of operations could be adversely affected. In addition, the armed conflicts involving Russia and Ukraine may have direct 
and indirect effects on global economic conditions and the stability of global financial markets, which could also have a material adverse effect on our business, financial 
condition and results of operations.

Rising inflation rates could negatively impact our revenues and profitability if increases in the prices of our services or a decrease in consumer spending results in lower 
sales. In addition, if our costs increase and we are not able to pass along these price increases to our customers, our net income would be adversely affected, and the 
adverse impact may be material.

Inflation rates, particularly in the United States, have increased recently to levels not seen in years. Increased inflation may result in decreased demand for our products 
and services, increased operating costs (including our labor costs), reduced liquidity, and limitations on our ability to access credit or otherwise raise debt and equity capital. In 
addition, the United States Federal Reserve has raised, and may again raise, interest rates in response to concerns about inflation.  Increases in interest rates, especially if 
coupled with reduced government spending and volatility in financial markets, may have the effect of further increasing economic uncertainty and heightening these risks. In an 
inflationary environment, we may be unable to raise the sales prices of our products and services at or above the rate at which our costs increase, which could/would reduce our 
profit margins and have a material adverse effect on our financial results and net income. We also may experience lower than expected sales and potential adverse impacts on 
our competitive position if there is a decrease in consumer spending or a negative reaction to our pricing. A reduction in our revenue would be detrimental to our profitability 
and financial condition and could also have an adverse impact on our future growth. 

The effects of regulations relating to conflict minerals may adversely affect our business.

On August 22, 2012, under the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010, the SEC adopted requirements for companies that use certain 
minerals and metals, known as conflict minerals, in their products, whether or not these products are manufactured by third parties. These requirements require companies to 
research, disclose and report whether or not such minerals originate from the Democratic Republic of Congo and adjoining countries. The implementation of these requirements 
could adversely affect the sourcing, availability and pricing of such minerals if they are found to be used in the manufacture of our products, including our 3D printers or 
materials. In addition, we expect to continue to incur additional costs to comply with the disclosure requirements, including costs related to determining the source of any of the 
relevant minerals and metals used in our products. Since our supply chain is complex, we may not be able to sufficiently verify the origins for these minerals and metals used in 
our products through the due diligence procedures that we implement, which may harm our reputation. In such event, we may also face difficulties in satisfying customers who 
require that all of the components of our products are certified as conflict mineral free.

Risks Related to Sales of Products to U.S. and Foreign Governments

A significant portion of our business depends on sales to the public sector, and our failure to receive and maintain government contracts or changes in the contracting or 
fiscal policies of the public sector could have a material adverse effect on our business.

We derive a significant portion of our revenue from contracts that we have, either directly or through distribution partners and VARs, with federal, state, local and 
foreign governments and government agencies, and we believe that the success and growth of our business will continue to depend on our successful procurement of 
government contracts. For example, we have historically derived, 
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and expect to continue to derive, a significant portion of our revenue from sales to agencies of the U.S. federal government and governments of other nations, either directly by 
us or through other distribution partners. Sales to such governments and their agencies are subject to a number of challenges and risks. The procurement process for 
governments and their agencies is highly competitive, time-consuming, and may, in certain circumstances, be subject to political influence. We incur significant up-front time 
and expense, which subjects us to additional compliance risks and costs, without any assurance that we (or a third-party distributor or reseller) will win a contract.

Accordingly, our business, financial condition, results of operations, and prospects may be adversely affected by certain events or activities, including, but not limited 
to:

•changes in fiscal or contracting policies or decrease in available government funding;

•changes in government programs or applicable requirements;

•changes in the political environment, including before or after a change to the leadership within the government administration, and any resulting uncertainty or changes 
in policy or priorities and resultant funding;

•appeals, disputes or litigation relating to government procurement, including but not limited to bid protests by unsuccessful bidders on potential or actual awards of 
contracts to us or our partners by the government;

•the adoption of new laws or regulations or changes to existing laws or regulations;

•budgetary constraints, including automatic reductions as a result of “sequestration” or similar measures and constraints imposed by lapses in appropriations for the federal 
government or certain of its departments and agencies;

•influence by, or competition from, third parties with respect to pending, new or existing contracts with government customers;

•potential delays or changes in the government appropriations or procurement processes, including as a result of events such as war, incidents of terrorism, natural 
disasters, and public health concerns or epidemics, such as the COVID-19 pandemic; and

•increased or unexpected costs or unanticipated delays caused by other factors outside of our control, such as performance failures of our partners and subcontractors.

Any such event or activity, among others, could cause governments and governmental agencies to delay or refrain from purchasing our products and services in the 
future, reduce the size or payment amounts of purchases from existing or new government customers, or otherwise have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations, 
financial condition and prospects.

Government programs are limited by budgetary constraints and political considerations and are subject to uncertain future funding levels that could result in the 
termination of programs.

Government agency and department purchases are often strategic in nature and large in size. Therefore, reductions in funding levels that impact our customers could 
negatively affect the size of our customers’ orders or lead to cancellation of orders. Government contracts are often subject to more extensive scrutiny and publicity than 
commercial contracts. The number and terms of new government contracts signed can be affected significantly by political and economic factors, such as pending elections and 
revisions to government tax policies. Negative publicity related to our government contracts, regardless of its accuracy, may damage our business by affecting our ability to 
compete for new contracts. A decline in security-related government spending for any reason, or a shift away from programs that we address, could hurt our sales, put pressure 
on our prices and reduce our revenue and margins. Relatedly, the use of our products by militaries or other government agencies or departments in a way that is perceived 
negatively by the public could adversely affect our business and reputation.

A multi-year U.S. government program may be implemented through the award of many different individual contracts, grants, cooperative agreements and subcontracts 
or other subawards. For U.S. government programs, program funding is subject to congressional appropriations. Congress generally appropriates funds on a fiscal year basis 
even though a program may continue for several years. Government programs are often only partially funded initially, and additional funds are committed only as Congress 
makes further appropriations. The termination of a program or failure to commit funds to a program would result in a loss of anticipated future revenue attributable to that 
program, which could materially harm our business.

We are subject to audits by the U.S. government which could adversely affect our business.
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U.S. government agencies routinely audit and investigate government contractors to monitor performance, cost allocations, cost accounting and compliance with 
applicable laws, regulations and standards. Since some of our contracts provide for cost reimbursement, the U.S. government has the right to audit our costs even after job 
completion and after we have billed and recognized the corresponding revenue. The U.S. government also may review the adequacy of, and a contractor’s compliance with, its 
internal control systems and policies, including the contractor’s purchasing, property, estimating, compensation and management information systems. Any costs found to be 
improperly allowed or improperly allocated to a specific contract will not be reimbursed, and any such costs that have already been reimbursed must be refunded, which would 
affect associated revenue that had already been recognized. While we intend to implement uniform procurement and compliance programs for all of our business, we may be 
subject to more risks from these audits until we are able to implement such a program effectively.

Responding to governmental audits, inquiries or investigations may involve significant expense and divert the attention of our management. If a government review or 
investigation uncovers improper or illegal activities, we may be subject to civil and criminal penalties and administrative sanctions, including termination of contracts, forfeiture 
of profits, suspension of payments, damages, fines and suspension or debarment from doing business with U.S. government agencies. In addition, our reputation could be 
seriously harmed by allegations of impropriety, even if unfounded. Our internal controls may not prevent or detect all improper or illegal activities.

Our business is subject to laws and regulations that are more restrictive because we are a contractor and subcontractor to the U.S. government.

As a contractor and subcontractor to the U.S. government, we are subject to various laws and regulations that are more restrictive than those applicable to non-
government contractors, including the Federal Acquisition Regulations and its supplements, which comprehensively regulate the formation, administration and performance of 
U.S. government contracts, and the Truth in Negotiations Act and various other laws, which require certain certifications and disclosures. These laws and regulations, among 
other things:

•require that we obtain and maintain material governmental authorizations and approvals to conduct our business as it is currently conducted;

•require certification and disclosure of cost and pricing data in connection with certain contract negotiations;

•impose rules that define allowable and unallowable costs and otherwise govern our right to reimbursement under certain cost-based U.S. government contracts;

•restrict the use and dissemination of information classified for national security purposes and the export of certain products and technical data; and

•impose requirements relating to ethics and business practices, which carry penalties for noncompliance ranging from monetary fines and damages to loss of the ability to 
do business with the U.S. government as a prime contractor or subcontractor.

In addition, we may be subject to industrial security regulations of the U.S. Department of Defense and other federal agencies that are designed to safeguard against 
unauthorized access by foreigners and others to classified and other sensitive U.S. government information. If we were to come under foreign ownership, control or influence, 
our U.S. government customers could terminate, or decide not to renew, our contracts, or we may be subjected to burdensome industrial security compliance measures. Such a 
situation could impair our ability to obtain new contracts and subcontracts. The government may also change its procurement practices or adopt new contracting rules and 
regulations that could be costly to satisfy or that could impair our ability to obtain new contracts.

Our contracts and those of our VARs with governments may impose requirements that may be unfavorable to us and that may have a material adverse effect on our growth 
prospects and operating results.

Most of our sales to government entities have been made indirectly through our VARs and other distribution partners. In some cases, we have entered contracts directly 
with government customers. There are inherent risks in contracting with governments and their agencies. Government customers can typically terminate, reduce orders under or 
otherwise modify any of its contracts with us or our VARs for its convenience (i.e., without cause) whether or not we have failed to perform under the terms of the applicable 
contract. In such case, the government would not be required to pay our VARs or us for the lost profits for the unperformed work. A termination arising out of our VARs or our 
default could expose our VARs or us to liability and harm our VARs or our ability to compete for future contracts and orders. In addition to unfavorable termination provisions, 
our VARs or our U.S. government contracts and related regulations contain provisions that allow the U.S. government to unilaterally suspend our VARs or us from receiving 
new contracts pending resolution of alleged violations of procurement laws or regulations, reduce the value of existing contracts, issue modifications to a contract and 
potentially restrict exports of our products, services and associated materials.
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Our VARs or our contracts with government agencies may subject our VARs or us to other risks and give the government additional rights and remedies not typically 
found in commercial contracts, including rights that allow the government to, for example:

•obtain detailed cost or pricing information;

•receive “most favored customer” pricing;

•require us to prioritize orders from our government customers above our other customers’ existing orders, which we may fail to do and, even if we do prioritize such 
orders, may impact our relationships with our other customers;

•perform routine audits;

•impose equal employment and hiring standards;

•require products to be manufactured in specified countries;

•restrict non-U.S. ownership or investment in our company; and/or

•pursue administrative, civil or criminal remedies for contractual violations.

These rights and remedies have the potential to limit our VARs or our sales to, and increase our VARs or our costs of, doing business with both government and 
commercial customers, which could materially adversely affect our growth prospects and operating results.

Additionally, we sometimes rely on our VARs and other distribution partners to satisfy certain regulatory obligations that we would otherwise have to satisfy if we sold 
directly to the government entities, and our VARs and other distribution partners may be unable or unwilling to satisfy these obligations in the future. In the event of such 
termination or change, it may be difficult for us to arrange for another VAR or other distribution partner to sell our solutions to these government entities in a timely manner, and 
we could lose sales opportunities during the transition.

Risks Related to Litigation and Liability

We are, and have been in the recent past, subject to business and intellectual property litigation.

We have been in the recent past involved in litigation, and we could be involved in additional litigation in the future. In March 2018, Desktop Metal, Inc. (“Desktop 
Metal”), a direct competitor in the additive manufacturing industry, brought a claim in Massachusetts federal court against us regarding patent infringement and trade secret 
misappropriation. We counterclaimed for trade secret misappropriation, breach of fiduciary duty, and other matters. A jury trial was held in July 2018 on Desktop Metal’s 
claims for patent infringement. We prevailed against Desktop Metal’s claims of patent infringement via a jury verdict that found no infringement of the asserted patents. A 
second jury trial began in September 2018 primarily in connection with our counterclaims, and the parties entered into a confidential settlement agreement (the “Settlement 
Agreement”) covering the disputes between them in October 2018. In October 2019, we submitted an Arbitration Demand with JAMS against Desktop Metal alleging breach of 
the parties’ Settlement Agreement pursuant to the non-disparagement obligations therein, as well as a violation of M.G.L. c. 93A. Desktop Metal counterclaimed against us for 
breach of the parties’ Settlement Agreement pursuant to the confidentiality provision therein. The matter proceeded in confidential arbitration and a hearing was held in 
December 2020. The Arbitration decision was issued on February 26, 2021, and the Arbitrator ruled that neither we nor Desktop Metal were liable pursuant to their respective 
claims, and that neither party therefore owed any damages to the other.

In July 2021, Continuous Composites Inc. (“Continuous Composites”), a company based out of Idaho, brought a claim in the United States District Court for the 
District of Delaware against us regarding patent infringement. We intend to mount a vigorous defense against Continuous Composites in court. However, we can provide no 
assurance as to the outcome of any such disputes, and any such actions may result in judgments against us for significant damages. Resolution of any such matters can be 
prolonged and costly, and the ultimate results or judgments are uncertain due to the inherent uncertainty in litigation and other proceedings.

In addition, the additive manufacturing industry has been, and may continue to be, litigious, particularly with respect to intellectual property claims. Moreover, our 
potential liabilities are subject to change over time due to new developments, changes in settlement strategy or the impact of evidentiary requirements. Regardless of the 
outcome, litigation has resulted in the past, and may result in the future, in significant legal expenses and require significant attention and resources of management. As a result, 
any present or future litigation that may be brought against us by any third party could result in reputational harm, losses, damages and expenses that may have a significant 
adverse effect on our financial condition.
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We could be subject to personal injury, property damage, product liability, warranty and other claims involving allegedly defective products that we supply.

The products we supply are sometimes used in potentially hazardous or critical applications, such as the assembled parts of an aircraft, medical device or automobile. 
The sale of our products and the provision of related services in general, and to customers in the foregoing industries in particular, exposes us to possible claims for property 
damage and personal injury or death, which may result from the use of these end-use parts.

While we have not experienced any such claims to date, actual or claimed defects in the products we supply could result in our being named as a defendant in lawsuits 
asserting potentially large claims. We may be potentially liable, in significant amounts, and face significant harm to our reputation if an aircraft, medical or automotive part, 
component or accessory or any other aviation, medical or automotive product that we have sold, produced or repaired fails due to our fault, in whole or in part, or if an aircraft 
or automobile for which we have provided services or in which their parts are installed crashes, and the cause can be linked to those parts or cannot be determined. A similar 
risk arises in connection with sales of our products to customers in the aerospace industry to the extent that the parts produced by those products do not function properly and are 
responsible for damages. Our commercial contracts generally contain product warranties and limitations on liability and we carry liability insurance in amounts that we believe 
are adequate for our risk exposure and commensurate with industry norms. While we intend to monitor our insurance coverage as our business continues to grow, claims may 
arise in the future, and that insurance coverage may not be adequate or available to protect our consolidated company in all circumstances. Additionally, we might not be able to 
maintain adequate insurance coverage for our business in the future at an acceptable cost. Any liability claim against us that is not covered by adequate insurance could 
adversely affect our consolidated results of operations and financial condition. Finally, any liability claim against us may cause harm to our brand, reputation and adversely 
impact our business.

We could face liability if our additive manufacturing solutions are used by our customers to print dangerous objects.

Customers may use our 3D printers to print parts that could be used in a harmful way or could otherwise be dangerous. For example, there have been news reports that 
additive manufacturing machines were used to print guns or other weapons. We have little, if any, control over what objects our customers print using our products, and it may 
be difficult, if not impossible, for us to monitor and prevent customers from printing weapons with our products. Additionally, individuals or entities unaffiliated with us could 
disseminate plans or digital files that could be used with our products to produce parts and items that could be deemed illegal or harmful. While we have never printed weapons 
on any printers in our offices, there can be no assurance that we will not be held liable if someone were injured or killed by a weapon printed by a customer using one of our 
products. Additionally, association of such an incident with our products may cause harm to our brand reputation and adversely impact our business.

Third parties may produce or sell counterfeit or imitation versions of our materials.

Third parties may sell counterfeit or imitation versions of our materials that are inferior or pose safety risks. If consumers confuse these counterfeit products or 
materials for our products or materials or have a bad experience with the counterfeit products or materials, they might refrain from purchasing our products or materials in the 
future, which could harm our reputation and sales. Further, if third parties develop materials that compete favorably on price, and/or meet or exceed the quality and performance 
of our own materials, we may lose recurring revenue from lost sales of our materials. If we do not maintain favorable perceptions of our products and materials, and if we are 
unable to compete successfully with third party manufacturers of materials, our brand, business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows could be adversely 
impacted.

Failure of our global operations to comply with anti-corruption laws and various trade restrictions, such as sanctions and export controls, could have an adverse effect on 
our business.

We operate in a number of countries throughout the world, including countries known to have a reputation for corruption. Doing business on a global basis requires us 
to comply with anti-corruption laws and regulations imposed by governments around the world with jurisdiction over our operations, including the U.S. Foreign Corrupt 
Practices Act and the U.K. Bribery Act 2010, as well as the laws of the countries where we do business.

We are also subject to various trade restrictions, including trade and economic sanctions and export controls, imposed by governments around the world with jurisdiction 
over our operations. For example, in accordance with trade sanctions administered by the Office of Foreign Assets Control and the U.S. Department of Commerce, we are 
prohibited from engaging in transactions involving certain persons and certain designated countries or territories, including Cuba, Iran, Syria, North Korea and the Crimea 
Region of Ukraine. In light of the conflicts between Russia and Ukraine, we may also be prohibited from engaging in transactions involving persons and entities located or 
headquartered in the so-called Donetsk and Luhansk People’s Republics (DNR and LNR).  In addition, our products are subject to export regulations that can involve significant 
compliance time and may add additional overhead 
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cost to our products. In recent years the United States government has a renewed focus on export matters. For example, the Export Control Reform Act of 2018 and regulatory 
guidance thereunder have imposed additional controls, and may result in the imposition of further additional controls, on the export of certain “emerging and foundational 
technologies.” Our current and future products may be subject to these heightened regulations, which could increase our compliance costs. For instance, recent amendments to 
the U.S. Export Administration Regulations (“EAR”) increased restrictions on exports to certain “military end-users” and for “military end-uses” by certain persons in Burma, 
Cambodia, China, Iraq, Russia, or Venezuela, which requires us to perform due diligence on customers and end-users in those countries for potential military connections.

We also need to monitor the changes in export-related laws and regulations, such as International Traffic in Arms Regulations (“ITAR”), and their applicability to our 
products and services. If our products or services become subject to the ITAR, we may be required to obtain licenses, clearances, or authorizations from various regulatory 
entities. If we are not allowed to export our products or services, or if the clearance process is burdensome, our ability to generate revenue would be adversely affected and our 
operating costs could increase.

In addition, international sales of certain of our products may be subject to local laws and regulations in foreign jurisdictions which we may not be familiar with. We 
may not be allowed to ship our products to certain countries without meeting their local laws and regulations. The failure to comply with any of these laws or regulations could 
adversely affect our ability to conduct our business and generate revenues.

We are committed to doing business in accordance with applicable anti-corruption laws and regulations and with applicable trade restrictions. We are subject, however, 
to the risk that our affiliated entities or our and our affiliates’ respective officers, directors, employees and agents (including distributors and VARs of our products) may take 
action determined to be in violation of such laws and regulations. Any violation by us or by any of these persons could result in substantial fines, sanctions, civil and/or criminal 
penalties, or curtailment of operations in certain jurisdictions, and might adversely affect our operating results. In addition, actual or alleged violations could damage our 
reputation and ability to do business.

Although we take precautions to prevent violations of applicable anti-corruption laws and regulations and applicable trade restrictions, we may have exported products 
in the past in apparent violation of the EAR. If we are found to be in violation of U.S. export control laws, it could result in substantial fines and penalties for us and for the 
individuals working for us. We may also be adversely affected through other penalties, reputational harm, loss of access to certain markets or otherwise.

We are subject to environmental, health and safety laws and regulations related to our operations and the use of our 3D printers and materials, which could subject us to 
compliance costs and/or potential liability.

We are subject to domestic and foreign environmental, health and safety laws and regulations governing our operations. A certain risk of environmental liability is 
inherent in our production activities. These laws and regulations govern, among other things, the generation, use, storage, registration, handling, transport and disposal of 
chemicals and waste materials, the presence of specified substances in electrical products; the emission and discharge of hazardous materials into the ground, air or water; the 
investigation and cleanup of contaminated sites, including any contamination that results from spills due to our failure to properly dispose of chemicals and other waste 
materials and the health and safety of our employees. As such, our operations, including our production activities, carry an inherent risk of environmental, health and safety 
liabilities. Under these laws and regulations, we could be subject to liability for improper disposal of chemicals and waste materials, including those resulting from the use of 
our systems and accompanying materials by end-users. Accidents or other incidents that occur at our facilities or involve our personnel or operations could result in claims for 
damages against us. In the event we are found to be financially responsible, as a result of environmental or other laws or by court order, for environmental damages alleged to 
have been caused by us or occurring on our premises, we could be required to pay substantial monetary damages or undertake expensive remedial obligations. If our operations 
fail to comply with such laws or regulations, we may be subject to fines and other civil, administrative or criminal sanctions, including the revocation of permits and licenses 
necessary to continue our business activities, or may be required to make significant expenditures to achieve compliance. In addition, we may be required to pay damages or 
civil judgments in respect of third-party claims, including those relating to personal injury (including exposure to hazardous substances that we generate, use, store, handle, 
transport, manufacture or dispose of), property damage or contribution claims. Some environmental laws allow for strict, joint and several liabilities for remediation costs, 
regardless of fault. We may be identified as a potentially responsible party under such laws. The amount of any costs, including fines or damages payments that we might incur 
under such circumstances could substantially exceed any insurance we have to cover such losses. Any of these events, alone or in combination, could have a material adverse 
effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations and could adversely affect our reputation.

We may be subject to environmental laws and regulations including, without limitation, the United States Toxic Substances Control Act (“TSCA”) and the Registration, 
Evaluation, Authorization and Restriction of Chemical Substances (“REACH”) concerning the use, import and export of chemicals and hazardous substances, such as  
chlorinated solvents. These laws and 
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regulations require the testing and registration of some chemicals that we ship along with, or that form a part of, our systems and other products. If we fail to comply with these 
or similar laws and regulations, we may be required to make significant expenditures to reformulate the chemicals that we use in our products and materials or incur costs to 
register such chemicals to gain and/or regain compliance. We could also be subject to significant fines or other civil and criminal penalties should we not achieve such 
compliance.  Additionally, customer sentiment regarding the use of certain chemicals and hazardous substances could negatively impact our ability to sell certain products.
 

The cost of complying with current and future environmental, health and safety laws applicable to our operations, or the liabilities arising from releases of, or exposure 
to, hazardous substances, may result in future expenditures. Any of these developments, alone or in combination, could have an adverse effect on our business, financial 
condition and results of operations.

Aspects of our business are subject to laws and regulations governing privacy and data security. Changes in laws, regulations, and public perception concerning data 
protection and privacy, or changes in the interpretation or patterns of enforcement of existing laws and regulations, could impair our efforts to maintain and expand our 
customer base or the ability of our customers to use our services. Breaches of laws and regulations concerning data protection and privacy could expose us to significant 
fines and other penalties.

We hold personal information about a variety of individuals, such as our employees, prospects, and our customers. Processing of personal information is increasingly 
subject to legislation and regulation in numerous jurisdictions around the world.

For example, relevant applicable laws and regulations governing the collection, use, disclosure or other processing of personal information include, in the United States, 
rules and regulations promulgated under the authority of the Federal Trade Commission, the California Consumer Privacy Act of 2018 (the “CCPA”) and state breach 
notification laws. In particular, the CCPA, among other things, requires covered ‘Businesses’ to provide new disclosures to California consumers and afford such consumers 
new rights with respect to their personal information. The CCPA provides for civil penalties for violations, as well as a private right of action for certain data breaches that result 
in the loss of personal information. This private right of action may increase the likelihood of, and risks associated with, data breach litigation.

In 2020, California passed the California Privacy Rights Act (“CPRA”). Among other changes to the CCPA, the CPRA expands consumer rights, introduces data 
minimization and retention requirements, and creates the first dedicated privacy regulator in the United States. The CPRA will take effect in 2023, when comprehensive privacy 
laws recently passed in Virginia and Colorado will also take effect.

In addition to these laws, new privacy and data security laws have been proposed in more than half of the states in the U.S. and in the U.S. Congress, reflecting a trend 
toward more stringent privacy legislation in the U.S., which trend may accelerate. These laws have prompted a number of proposals for new federal and state-level privacy 
legislation. Such proposed legislation, if enacted, may add additional complexity, variation in requirements, restrictions and potential legal risk, require additional investment of 
resources in compliance programs, impact strategies and the availability of previously useful data and could result in increased compliance costs and/or changes in business 
practices and policies.

Moreover, we maintain offices in the European Union (“EU”), specifically, Ireland, and we have customers located in various countries throughout the EU and the 
United Kingdom (“UK”). Accordingly, we are subject to the General Data Protection Regulation (EU) 2016/679 (the “GDPR”), and related member state implementing 
legislation, and to the UK’s Data Protection Act 2018 as well as the UK General Data Protection Regulation (collectively, “European Data Protection Law”). European Data 
Protection Law places obligations on controllers and processors of personal data, while establishing rights for individuals with respect to their personal data. European Data 
Protection Law is also explicitly extraterritorial in its application, and could affect our business activities in jurisdictions outside the EU and the UK. Additionally, European 
Data Protection Law imposes strict rules on the transfer of personal data outside of the EU to countries that do not ensure an adequate level of protection, like the United States. 
These transfers are prohibited unless an appropriate safeguard specified by the GDPR is implemented, such as the Standard Contractual Clauses (SCCs) or binding corporate 
rules. The Court of Justice of the European Union (the “CJEU”) recently deemed that these transfers need to be analyzed on a case-by-case basis to ensure EU standards of data 
protection are met in the jurisdiction where the data importer is based. European regulators have issued recent guidance that imposes significant new diligence requirements on 
transferring data outside the EU. On June 4, 2021, the EC issued new forms of standard contractual clauses for data transfers from controllers or processors in the EU/EEA (or 
otherwise subject to the GDPR) to controllers or processors established outside the EU/EEA (and not subject to the GDPR). The new standard contractual clauses replace the 
standard contractual clauses that were adopted previously under the EU Data Protection Directive. The UK is not subject to the EC’s new standard contractual clauses but has 
published a draft version of a UK-specific transfer mechanism, which, once finalized, will enable transfers from the UK. We will be required to implement these new 
safeguards when conducting restricted data transfers under the EU and UK GDPR and doing so will require significant effort and 
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cost. Complying with EU and UK cross-border data rules is and will continue to be expensive and time consuming and may ultimately prevent us from transferring personal 
data outside the EU and/or UK, which would cause significant business disruption. The GDPR imposes sanctions for violations up to the greater of €20 million (up to £17.5 
million for violations of the UK GDPR) and 4% of worldwide gross annual revenue, enables individuals to claim damages for violations and introduces the right for non-profit 
organizations to bring claims on behalf of data subjects.

The regulatory framework governing the collection, processing, storage, use and sharing of personal information is rapidly evolving and is likely to continue to be 
subject to uncertainty and varying interpretations. It is possible that these laws may be interpreted and applied in a manner that is inconsistent with our existing data 
management practices or the features of our services and platform capabilities. We cannot yet fully determine the impact these or future laws, rules, regulations and industry 
standards may have on our business or operations. Additionally, our customers may be subject to differing privacy laws, rules and legislation, which may mean that they 
require us to be bound by varying contractual requirements applicable to certain other jurisdictions. Adherence to such contractual requirements may impact our collection, use, 
processing, storage, sharing and disclosure of personal information and may mean we become bound by, or voluntarily comply with, self-regulatory or other industry standards 
relating to these matters that may further change as laws, rules and regulations evolve. We have incurred, and may continue to incur, significant expenses to comply with 
evolving mandatory privacy and security standards and protocols imposed by law, regulation, industry standards, shifting merchant and customer expectations, or contractual 
obligations, and we may not be able to respond quickly or effectively to regulatory, legislative and other developments. These changes may in turn impair our ability to offer 
our existing or planned features, products and services and/or increase our cost of doing business.

We publicly post documentation regarding our privacy practices. Although we endeavor to comply with our published policies and documentation, we may at times fail 
to do so or be alleged to have failed to do so. Any failure or perceived failure by us to comply with our privacy policies or any applicable privacy, security or data protection, 
information security or consumer-protection related laws, regulations, orders or industry standards could expose us to costly litigation, significant awards, fines or judgments, 
civil and/or criminal penalties or negative publicity, and could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. The publication of our 
privacy policy and other documentation that provide promises and assurances about privacy and security can subject us to potential state and federal action if they are found to 
be deceptive, unfair, or misrepresentative of our actual practices, which could, individually or in the aggregate, materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition 
and results of operations.

We rely on our software and information technology systems to manage numerous aspects of our business and a disruption of these systems could adversely affect our 
business.

We rely on our information technology systems to manage numerous aspects of our business, including to efficiently purchase products from our suppliers, provide 
procurement and logistic services, ship products to our customers, receive orders from our customers, manage our accounting and financial functions, including our internal 
controls, and maintain our research and development data. Our information technology systems are an essential component of our business and any disruption could 
significantly limit our ability to manage and operate our business efficiently. A failure of our information technology systems to perform properly could disrupt our supply 
chain, product development and customer experience, which may lead to increased overhead costs and decreased sales and have an adverse effect on our reputation and our 
financial condition. In particular, our integrated software platform is an essential system that virtually all of our customers depend on for their design needs. If our integrated 
software platform were to fail, we could face adverse consequences to our results of operations, financial condition and business reputation. In addition, during the COVID-19 
pandemic, a substantial portion of our employees are conducting work remotely, making us more dependent on potentially vulnerable communications systems and making us 
more vulnerable to cyberattacks.

Although we take steps and incur significant costs to secure our information technology systems, including our computer systems, intranet and internet sites, email and 
other telecommunications and data networks, our security measures may not be effective and our systems may be vulnerable to damage or interruption. Disruption to our 
information technology systems could result from power outages, computer and telecommunications failures, computer viruses, cyber-attack or other security breaches, 
catastrophic events such as fires, floods, earthquakes, tornadoes, hurricanes, acts of war, terrorism and usage errors by our employees.

Our reputation and financial condition could be adversely affected if, as a result of a significant cyber-event or otherwise:

•our operations are disrupted or shut down;

•our confidential, proprietary information is stolen or disclosed;

•we incur costs or are required to pay fines in connection with stolen customer, employee or other confidential information; or
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•we must dedicate significant resources to system repairs or increase cyber security protection.

In addition, any unauthorized access, disclosure or other loss or unauthorized use of information or data could result in legal claims or proceedings, regulatory 
investigations or actions, and other types of liability under laws that protect the privacy and security of personal information, including federal, state and foreign data protection 
and privacy regulations, violations of which could result in significant penalties and fines. In addition, although we seek to detect and investigate all data security incidents, 
security breaches and other incidents of unauthorized access to our information technology systems and data can be difficult to detect and any delay in identifying such breaches 
or incidents may lead to increased harm and legal exposure.

The cost of investigating, mitigating and responding to potential data security breaches and complying with applicable breach notification obligations to individuals, 
regulators, partners and others can be significant. Our insurance policies may not be adequate to compensate us for the potential costs and other losses arising from such 
disruptions, failures or security breaches. In addition, such insurance may not be available to us in the future on economically reasonable terms, or at all. Further, defending a 
suit, regardless of its merit, could be costly, divert management attention and harm our reputation.

If our computer systems are damaged or cease to function properly, or, if we do not replace or upgrade certain systems, we may incur substantial costs to repair or 
replace them and may experience an interruption of our normal business activities or loss of critical data. Any such disruption could adversely affect our reputation and 
financial condition.

We also rely on information technology systems maintained by third parties, including third-party cloud computing services and the computer systems of our suppliers 
for both our internal operations and our customer-facing infrastructure related to our additive manufacturing solutions. These systems are also vulnerable to the types of 
interruption and damage described above but we have less ability to take measures to protect against such disruptions or to resolve them if they were to occur. Information 
technology problems faced by third parties on which we rely could adversely impact our business and financial condition as well as negatively impact our brand reputation.

Any unauthorized control or manipulation of our products’ systems could result in loss of confidence in us and our products and harm our business.

Our products contain complex information technology systems. For example, our additive manufacturing machines are designed with built-in data connectivity to accept 
and install periodic remote updates from us to monitor, improve and update their functionality. We have designed, implemented and tested security measures intended to 
prevent unauthorized access to our information technology networks, our products and their systems. However, hackers may attempt to gain unauthorized access to modify, 
alter and use such networks, products and systems to gain control of, or to change, our products’ functionality, user interface and performance characteristics, or to gain access 
to data stored in or generated by our products. We encourage reporting of potential vulnerabilities in the security of our products and we aim to remedy any reported and 
verified vulnerability. Accordingly, we have received reports of potential vulnerabilities in the past and have attempted to remedy them. However, there can be no assurance that 
vulnerabilities will not be exploited in the future before they can be identified, or that our remediation efforts are or will be successful.

Any unauthorized access to or control of our products or their systems or any loss of data could result in legal claims or proceedings. In addition, regardless of their 
veracity, reports of unauthorized access to our products, their systems or data, as well as other factors that may result in the perception that our products, their systems or data 
are capable of being “hacked,” could negatively affect our brand and harm our business, prospects, financial condition and operating results.

Our business has risks that may not be adequately covered by insurance or indemnity.

We may face unanticipated risks of legal liability for damages caused by the actual or alleged failure of our products. While we have attempted to secure liability 
insurance coverage at an appropriate cost, it is impossible to adequately insure against all risks inherent in our industry, nor can we assure you that our insurers will pay a 
particular claim, or that we will be able to maintain coverage at reasonable rates in the future. Our insurance policies also contain deductibles, limitations and exclusions, which 
increase our costs in the event of a claim. Even a partially uninsured claim of significant size, if successful, could have an adverse effect on our financial condition. In addition, 
we may not be able to continue to obtain insurance coverage on commercially reasonable terms, or at all, and our existing policies may be cancelled or otherwise terminated by 
the insurer. Maintaining adequate insurance and successfully accessing insurance coverage that may be due for a claim can require a significant amount of our management’s 
time, and we may be forced to spend a substantial amount of money in that process. Substantial claims in excess of or not otherwise covered by indemnity or insurance could 
harm our financial condition and operating results.

Risks Related to Intellectual Property 
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We may not be able to adequately protect our proprietary and intellectual property rights in our data or technology.

Our success is dependent, in part, upon protecting our proprietary information and technology. Our intellectual property portfolio primarily consists of patents, patent 
applications, registered and unregistered trademarks, unregistered copyrights, domain names, know-how, and trade secrets. We may be unsuccessful in adequately protecting 
our intellectual property.

Our trade secrets, know-how and other unregistered proprietary rights are a key aspect of our intellectual property portfolio. While we take reasonable steps to protect 
our trade secrets and confidential information and enter into confidentiality and invention assignment agreements intended to protect such rights, such agreements can be 
difficult and costly to enforce or may not provide adequate remedies if violated, and we may not have entered into such agreements with all relevant parties. Such agreements 
may be breached and trade secrets or confidential information may be willfully or unintentionally disclosed, including by employees who may leave our company and join our 
competitors, or our competitors or other parties may learn of the information in some other way. Additionally, certain unauthorized use of our intellectual property may go 
undetected, or we may face legal or practical barriers to enforcing our legal rights even where unauthorized use is detected. The disclosure to, or independent development by, a 
competitor of any of our trade secrets, know-how or other technology not protected by a patent or other intellectual property system could materially reduce or eliminate any 
competitive advantage that we may have over such competitor. This concern could manifest itself in particular with respect to our proprietary materials that are used with our 
systems. Portions of our proprietary materials may not be afforded patent protection. Our pending patent applications may not be granted, and we may not be able to obtain 
foreign patents or pending applications corresponding to our U.S. patents. Even if foreign patents are granted, effective enforcement in foreign countries may not be available. If 
our patents and other intellectual property do not adequately protect our technology, our competitors may be able to offer products similar to ours. Our competitors may also be 
able to develop similar technology independently or design around our patents and other intellectual property. Any of the foregoing events would lead to increased competition 
and reduce our revenue or gross margin, which would adversely affect our operating results.

Current laws may not provide for adequate protection of our products, especially in foreign jurisdictions which may have laws that provide insufficient protections to 
companies. In addition, legal standards relating to the validity, enforceability, and scope of protection of proprietary rights in internet-related businesses are uncertain and 
evolving, and changes in these standards may adversely impact the viability or value of our proprietary rights. Some license provisions protecting against unauthorized use, 
copying, transfer, and disclosure of our products, or certain aspects of our products may be unenforceable under the laws of certain jurisdictions. Further, the laws of some 
countries do not protect proprietary rights to the same extent as the laws of the United States, and the laws and mechanisms for protection and enforcement of intellectual 
property rights in some foreign countries may be inadequate. As we continue to operate in foreign countries and expand our international activities, we have encountered and 
may in the future encounter challenges in navigating the laws of foreign countries, which may adversely affect our ability to protect our proprietary rights. Further, competitors, 
foreign governments, foreign government-backed actors, criminals, or other third parties may gain unauthorized access to our proprietary information and technology. 
Accordingly, despite our efforts, we may be unable to prevent third parties from infringing upon or misappropriating our technology and intellectual property or claiming that 
we infringe upon or misappropriate their technology and intellectual property.

To protect our intellectual property rights, we may be required to spend significant resources to monitor, protect, and defend these rights, and we may or may not be 
able to detect infringement by our customers or third parties. Litigation has been and may be necessary in the future to enforce our intellectual property rights and to protect our 
trade secrets. Such litigation, regardless of merit, could be costly, time consuming, and distracting to management and key technical personnel, and could result in the 
impairment or loss of portions of our intellectual property. Furthermore, our efforts to enforce our intellectual property rights may be met with defenses, counterclaims, and 
countersuits attacking the validity and enforceability of our intellectual property rights. Our inability to protect our proprietary technology against unauthorized copying or use, 
as well as any costly litigation or diversion of our management’s attention and resources, could delay further sales or the implementation of our platform, impair the 
functionality of our platform, delay introductions of new features, integrations, and capabilities, result in our substituting inferior or more costly technologies into our platform, 
or injure our reputation. In addition, we may be required to license additional technology from third parties to develop and market new features, integrations, and capabilities, 
and we cannot be certain that we could license that technology on commercially reasonable terms or at all, and our inability to license this technology could harm our ability to 
compete.

As part of any settlement or other compromise to avoid complex, protracted litigation, we may agree not to pursue future claims against a third party, including related to 
alleged infringement of our intellectual property rights. Part of any settlement or other compromise with another party may resolve a potentially costly dispute but may also 
have future repercussions on our ability to defend and protect our intellectual property rights, which in turn could adversely affect our business.

If third parties claim that we infringe upon or otherwise violate their intellectual property rights, our business could be adversely affected.
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We have in the past and may in the future be subject to claims that we have infringed or otherwise violated third parties’ intellectual property rights. There is patent, 
copyright and other intellectual property development and enforcement activity in our industry and relating to the additive manufacturing technology we use in our business. 
Our future success depends in part on not infringing upon or otherwise violating the intellectual property rights of others. From time to time, our competitors or other third 
parties (including non-practicing entities and patent holding companies) may claim that we are infringing upon or otherwise violating their intellectual property rights, and we 
may be found to be infringing upon or otherwise violating such rights. We may be unaware of the intellectual property rights of others that may cover some or all of our current 
or future technology or conflict with our rights, and the patent, copyright, and other intellectual property rights of others may limit our ability to improve our technology and 
compete effectively. Any claims of intellectual property infringement or other intellectual property violations, even those without merit, could:

•be expensive and time consuming to defend;

•cause us to cease making, licensing or using our platform or products that incorporate the challenged intellectual property;

•require us to modify, redesign, reengineer or rebrand our platform or products, if feasible;

•divert management’s attention and resources; or

•require us to enter into royalty or licensing agreements to obtain the right to use a third-party’s intellectual property.

Any royalty or licensing agreements, if required, may not be available to us on acceptable terms or at all. A successful claim of infringement against us could result in 
our being required to pay significant damages, enter into costly settlement agreements, or prevent us from offering our platform or products, any of which could have a negative 
impact on our operating profits and harm our future prospects. We may also be obligated to indemnify our customers or business partners in connection with any such litigation 
and to obtain licenses, modify our platform or products, or refund premium subscription fees, which could further exhaust our resources. Such disputes could also disrupt our 
platform or products, adversely affecting our customer satisfaction and ability to attract customers.

Our additive manufacturing technology contains third-party open-source software components, and failure to comply with the terms of the underlying open-source 
software licenses could restrict our ability to commercialize our products.

Our additive manufacturing technology contains components that are licensed under so-called “open source,” “free” or other similar licenses. Open source software is 
made available to the general public on an “as-is” basis under the terms of a non-negotiable license. We currently combine our proprietary software with open source software 
and intend to continue doing so in the future. Additionally, we make some of our source code available under open source licenses, which may limit our ability to protect our 
intellectual property rights in our source code and prevent our competitors or others from using such source code. Our use and distribution of open source software may entail 
greater risks than use of third-party commercial software because open source licensors generally do not provide warranties or other contractual protections regarding 
infringement claims or the quality of the code. In addition, if we combine our proprietary software with open source software in a certain manner, we could, under certain open 
source licenses, be required to disclose or make available the source code of our proprietary software to third parties. We may also face claims alleging noncompliance with 
open source license terms or infringement or misappropriation of third-party intellectual property rights in open source software. These claims could result in litigation, require 
us to purchase a costly license or remove the software. In addition, if the license terms for open source software that we use change, we may be forced to re-engineer our 
solutions, incur additional costs or discontinue the sale of our offerings if re-engineering could not be accomplished on a timely basis. Although we monitor our use of open 
source software to avoid subjecting our offerings to unintended conditions, there is a risk that these licenses could be construed in a way that could impose unanticipated 
conditions or restrictions on our ability to commercialize our offerings. We cannot guarantee that we have incorporated open source software in our software in a manner that 
will not subject us to liability or in a manner that is consistent with our current policies and procedures.

General Risk Factors 

We will continue to incur increased costs as a result of operating as a public company, and our management are required to devote substantial time to new compliance 
initiatives.

As a public company, we incur significant legal, accounting and other expenses that we did not incur as a private company. In addition, the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002 
and rules subsequently implemented by the Securities and Exchange Commission and the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) have imposed various requirements on public 
companies, including establishment and maintenance of effective disclosure and financial controls and corporate governance practices. Our management and other personnel 
need to devote a substantial amount of time to these compliance initiatives. Moreover, these rules and regulations increase our legal and financial compliance costs and make 
some activities more time-consuming and costly. For example, we expect that these rules and regulations may make it more difficult and more expensive for us to obtain 
director and officer liability insurance.
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Pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002 (the “Sarbanes Oxley Act”), we are required to furnish a report by our management on our internal control 
over financial reporting, including an attestation report on internal control over financial reporting issued by our independent registered public accounting firm. However, while 
we remain an emerging growth company, we are not required to include an attestation report on internal control over financial reporting issued by our independent registered 
public accounting firm. To achieve compliance with Section 404 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act within the prescribed period, we are engaged in a process to document and evaluate 
our internal control over financial reporting, which is both costly and challenging. In this regard, we need to continue to dedicate internal resources, potentially engage outside 
consultants and adopt a detailed work plan to assess and document the adequacy of internal control over financial reporting, continue steps to improve control processes as 
appropriate, validate through testing that controls are functioning as documented and implement a continuous reporting and improvement process for internal control over 
financial reporting. Despite our efforts, there is a risk that neither we nor our independent registered public accounting firm will be able to conclude within the prescribed 
timeframe that our internal control over financial reporting is effective as required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act. This could result in an adverse reaction in the 
financial markets due to a loss of confidence in the reliability of our financial statements. In addition, if we are not able to continue to meet these requirements, we may not be 
able to remain listed on NYSE.

Changes in accounting rules and regulations, or interpretations thereof, could result in unfavorable accounting charges or require us to change our compensation policies.

Accounting methods and policies for public companies are subject to review, interpretation and guidance from our independent registered accounting firm and relevant 
accounting authorities, including the SEC. Changes to accounting methods or policies, or interpretations thereof, may require us to reclassify, restate or otherwise change or 
revise our consolidated financial statements.

Our disclosure controls and procedures may not prevent or detect all errors or acts of fraud.

We designed our disclosure controls and procedures to reasonably assure that information we must disclose in reports we file or submit under the Exchange Act is 
accumulated and communicated to management, and recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the rules and forms of the SEC. We 
believe that any disclosure controls and procedures or internal controls and procedures, no matter how well-conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, 
assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty, and that breakdowns 
can occur because of simple error or mistake. Additionally, controls can be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more people or by an 
unauthorized override of the controls.

Our management team has limited experience managing a public company.

Our management team has limited experience managing a publicly traded company, interacting with public company investors, and complying with the increasingly 
complex laws, rules and regulations that govern public companies. As a public company, we are subject to significant obligations relating to reporting, procedures and internal 
controls, and our management team may not successfully or efficiently manage such obligations. These obligations and scrutiny require significant attention from our 
management and could divert their attention away from the day-to-day management of our business, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results 
of operations.

Our internal controls over financial reporting currently do not meet all of the standards contemplated by Section 404 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act, and failure to achieve and 
maintain effective internal controls over financial reporting in accordance with Section 404 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act could impair our ability to produce timely and 
accurate financial statements or comply with applicable regulations and have a material adverse effect on our business.

We operated as a private company until July 2021. Our management has significant requirements for enhanced financial reporting and internal controls as a public 
company. The process of designing and implementing effective internal controls is a continuous effort that requires us to anticipate and react to changes in our business and the 
economic and regulatory environments and to expend significant resources to maintain a system of internal controls that is adequate to satisfy our reporting obligations as a 
public company. If we are unable to establish or maintain appropriate internal financial reporting controls and procedures, it could cause us to fail to meet our reporting 
obligations on a timely basis or result in material misstatements in our consolidated financial statements, which could harm our operating results. In addition, we are required, 
pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act, to furnish a report by management on, among other things, the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. 
This assessment needs to include disclosure of any material weaknesses identified by our management in our internal control over financial reporting.

The rules governing the standards that must be met for our management to assess our internal control over financial reporting are complex and require significant 
documentation, testing, and possible remediation. Testing and maintaining internal controls may divert management’s attention from other matters that are important to our 
business. Our independent registered public accounting 
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firm will be required to attest to the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting on an annual basis. However, while we remain an emerging growth company, 
we will not be required to include an attestation report on internal control over financial reporting issued by our independent registered public accounting firm. If we are not 
able to complete our initial assessment of our internal controls and otherwise implement the requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act in a timely manner or with 
adequate compliance, our independent registered public accounting firm may not be able to certify as to the adequacy of our internal control over financial reporting.

In addition to our results determined in accordance with GAAP, we believe certain non-GAAP measures may be useful in evaluating our operating performance. We 
present certain non-GAAP financial measures in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and intend to continue to present certain non-GAAP financial measures in future filings 
with the SEC and other public statements. Any failure to accurately report and present our non-GAAP financial measures could cause investors to lose confidence in our 
reported financial and other information, which would likely have a negative effect on the trading price of our common stock.

We have identified material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting and may identify additional material weaknesses in the future or fail to maintain 
effective internal control over financial reporting, which may result in material misstatements of our consolidated financial statements or cause us to fail to meet our 
periodic reporting obligations.

We have identified material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in 
internal control over financial reporting such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of our annual or interim financial statements will not be 
prevented or detected on a timely basis. These material weaknesses are as follows:

•We did not design and maintain an effective control environment commensurate with our financial reporting requirements. Specifically, we lacked a sufficient 
complement of resources with (i) an appropriate level of accounting knowledge, experience and training to appropriately analyze, record and disclose accounting matters 
timely and accurately, and (ii) an appropriate level of knowledge and experience to establish effective processes and controls. Additionally, the lack of a sufficient number 
of professionals resulted in an inability to consistently establish appropriate authorities and responsibilities in pursuit of our financial reporting objectives, as demonstrated 
by, among other things, insufficient segregation of duties in our finance and accounting functions. This material weakness contributed to the following additional material 
weaknesses:

•We did not design and maintain effective controls related to the period-end financial reporting process, including designing and maintaining formal accounting policies, 
procedures and controls to achieve complete, accurate and timely financial accounting, reporting and disclosures. Additionally, we did not design and maintain controls 
over the preparation and review of account reconciliations and journal entries, including maintaining appropriate segregation of duties.

•We did not design and maintain effective controls related to the identification of and accounting for certain non-routine, unusual or complex transactions, including the 
proper application of U.S. GAAP of such transactions. Specifically, we did not design and maintain controls to timely identify and account for share repurchase 
transactions, warrant instruments, and performance based stock awards.

These material weaknesses resulted in audit adjustments to the following financial statement line items in our financial statements: operating expense, other expense, 
interest expense, other assets, other liabilities, additional paid in capital, treasury stock, retained earnings, note receivable—equity, and series D preferred stock. These 
adjustments were recorded prior to the issuance of the consolidated financial statements as of and for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019. Additionally, these material 
weaknesses resulted in audit adjustments to additional paid in capital and stock based compensation expense for the quarters ended June 30, 2021, September 30, 2021, and 
December 31, 2021. The material weakness related to accounting for warrant instruments resulted in the restatement of the previously issued financial statements of AONE, the 
entity we merged with at Closing, related to warrant liabilities and equity. Additionally, these material weaknesses could result in a misstatement of substantially all of our 
accounts or disclosures that would result in a material misstatement to the annual or interim consolidated financial statements that would not be prevented or detected.

•We did not design and maintain effective controls over information technology (“IT”) general controls for information systems that are relevant to the preparation of our 
financial statements. Specifically, we did not design and maintain (i) program change management controls for financial systems to ensure that information technology 
program and data changes affecting financial IT applications and underlying accounting records are identified, tested, authorized and implemented appropriately; (ii) user 
access controls to ensure appropriate segregation of duties and that adequately restrict user and privileged access to financial applications, programs, and data to 
appropriate Company personnel; (iii) computer operations controls to ensure that critical batch jobs are monitored, privileges are appropriately granted, and data backups 
are authorized and monitored; and (iv) testing and approval controls for program development to ensure that new software 

68



 

development is aligned with business and IT requirements. These IT deficiencies did not result in any misstatements to the financial statements, however, the deficiencies, 
when aggregated, could impact our ability to maintain effective segregation of duties, as well as the effectiveness of IT-dependent controls (such as automated controls 
that address the risk of material misstatement to one or more assertions, along with the IT controls and underlying data that support the effectiveness of system-generated 
data and reports) that could result in misstatements potentially impacting all financial statement accounts and disclosures that would result in a material misstatement to 
the annual or interim financial statements that would not be prevented or detected. Accordingly, management has determined these deficiencies in the aggregate 
constitute a material weakness.

We are in the process of designing and implementing controls and taking other actions to remediate the material weaknesses described above, including the following:

•Hired additional accounting and IT personnel, including a new chief financial officer, hired in April 2021, to bolster our reporting, technical accounting and IT 
capabilities.

•Engaging a third party to assist in designing and implementing controls related to period-end financial reporting, segregation of duties, and IT general controls.

•Designing and implementing controls to formalize roles and review responsibilities to align with our team’s skills and experience and designing and implementing 
controls over segregation of duties.

•Designing and implementing controls to timely identify and account for non-routine, unusual or complex transactions and other technical accounting and financial 
reporting matters, including controls over the preparation and review of accounting memoranda addressing these matters.

•Designing and implementing formal accounting policies, procedures and controls supporting our period-end financial reporting process, including controls over the 
preparation and review of account reconciliations and journal entries.

•Designing and implementing IT general controls, including controls over program change management, the review and update of user access rights and privileges, 
controls over batch jobs and data backups, and program development approvals and testing.

We have hired additional accounting and IT personnel, including the hiring of a new chief financial officer in April 2021, engaged third party resources to assist us in 
designing and implementing controls related to period-end financial reporting, segregation of duties, and IT general controls, and begun to implement appropriate segregation of 
duties in the operation of manual controls. The material weaknesses will not be considered remediated until management completes the design and implementation of the 
measures described above and the controls operate for a sufficient period of time and management has concluded, through testing, that these controls are effective.

We are working to remediate the material weaknesses as efficiently and effectively as possible and expect full remediation could potentially go beyond December 31, 
2022. At this time, we cannot provide an estimate of costs expected to be incurred in connection with implementing this remediation plan; however, these remediation measures 
will be time consuming, will result in us incurring significant costs, and will place significant demands on our financial and operational resources.

Our ability to use net operating loss (“NOL”) carryforwards and other tax attributes may be limited following the Merger.

We have incurred substantial losses during our history and our ability to become profitable in the near future is uncertain. To the extent that we continue to generate 
taxable losses, unused losses will carry forward to offset future taxable income, if any, until such unused losses expire (if at all). As of December 31, 2021, we had federal NOL 
carryforwards of approximately $114.5 million, of which $15.0 million are subject to expire at various times beginning in 2033, and $99.5 million that have no expiration date 
and will be carried forward indefinitely. We also had state NOL carryforwards of approximately $61.6 million that will begin to expire in 2033, unless previously utilized. On 
December 31, 2021, we had federal and state research and development credit carryforwards of approximately $2.5 million and $1.6 million, respectively. The research and 
development credit carryforwards will begin expiring in 2030, unless previously utilized.

Federal NOLs incurred in tax years beginning after December 31, 2017 and before January 1, 2021 may be carried back to each of the five tax years preceding such 
loss, and NOLs arising in tax years beginning after December 31, 2020 may not be carried back. Because we have had no taxable income in prior years, we do not anticipate 
carrying back any of our net operating losses. Moreover, federal NOLs generated in taxable years ending after December 31, 2017, may be carried forward indefinitely, but the 
deductibility of such federal NOLs may be limited to 80% of our taxable income annually for tax years beginning after December 31, 2020. Our NOL carryforwards are subject 
to review and possible adjustment by the IRS, and state tax authorities. In addition, in general, under 
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Sections 382 and 383 of the Code, a corporation that undergoes an “ownership change” is subject to limitations on its ability to utilize its pre-change NOLs or tax credits to 
offset future taxable income or taxes. For these purposes, an ownership change generally occurs where the aggregate stock ownership of one or more stockholders or groups of 
stockholders who own at least 5% of a corporation’s stock increases their ownership by more than 50 percentage points over their lowest ownership percentage within a 
specified testing period. Our existing NOLs or credits may be subject to limitations arising from previous ownership changes, and future changes in our stock ownership, many 
of which are outside of our control, could result in an ownership change under Sections 382 and 383 of the Code. Our NOLs or credits may also be impaired under state law. 
Accordingly, we may not be able to utilize a material portion of our NOLs or credits. If we determine that an ownership change has occurred and our ability to use our 
historical NOLs or credits is materially limited, it will harm our future operating results by effectively increasing our future tax obligations. Section 382 and 383 of the Code 
would apply to all net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards, whether the carryforward period is indefinite or not. If we earn taxable income, such limitations could result in 
increased future tax liability to us and our future cash flows could be adversely affected. We have recorded a full valuation allowance related to our NOLs and other deferred 
tax assets due to the uncertainty of the ultimate realization of the future benefits of those assets.

Comprehensive tax reform legislation could adversely affect our business and financial condition.

The rules dealing with U.S. federal, state and local income taxation are constantly under review by persons involved in the legislative process and by the Internal 
Revenue Service, or IRS, and the U.S. Treasury Department. Changes to tax laws (which changes may have retroactive application) could adversely affect us or holders of our 
common stock. In recent years, many changes have been made and changes are likely to continue to occur in the future.

Additional changes to U.S. federal income tax law are currently being contemplated. Future changes in tax laws could have a material adverse effect on our business, 
cash flow, financial condition or results of operations. It cannot be predicted whether, when, in what form, or with what effective dates, new tax laws may be enacted, or 
regulations and rulings may be enacted, promulgated or issued under existing or new tax laws, which could result in an increase in our or our stockholders’ tax liability or 
require changes in the manner in which we operate in order to minimize or mitigate any adverse effects of changes in tax law or in the interpretation thereof. 

Additional Risks Related to Ownership of Our Common Stock and Us Operating as a Public Company

The price of our common stock and warrants may be volatile.

The price of our Common Stock as well as our Common Stock Warrants may fluctuate due to a variety of factors, including:

•changes in the industries in which we and our customers operate;

•developments involving our competitors;

•changes in laws and regulations affecting our business;

•variations in our operating performance and the performance of our competitors in general;

•actual or anticipated fluctuations in our quarterly or annual operating results;

•publication of research reports by securities analysts about us or our competitors or our industry;

•the public’s reaction to our press releases, other public announcements and filings with the SEC;

•actions by stockholders;

•additions and departures of key personnel;

•commencement of, or involvement in, litigation involving the combined company;

•changes in our capital structure, such as future issuances of securities or the incurrence of additional debt;

•the volume of shares of our Common Stock available for public sale; and

•general economic and political conditions, including but not limited to the COVID-19 pandemic, global supply chain disruptions, recessions, interest rates, inflation, 
local and national elections, fuel prices, international currency fluctuations, corruption, political instability and acts of war or terrorism.

These market and industry factors may materially reduce the market price of our Common Stock and warrants regardless of the operating performance of us.
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We do not intend to pay cash dividends for the foreseeable future.

We currently intend to retain our future earnings, if any, to finance the further development and expansion of our business and do not intend to pay cash dividends in the 
foreseeable future. Any future determination to pay dividends will be at the discretion of our board of directors and will depend on our financial condition, results of operations, 
capital requirements, restrictions contained in future agreements and financing instruments, business prospects and such other factors as its board of directors deems relevant.

If analysts do not continue to publish research about our business or if they publish inaccurate or unfavorable research, our stock price and trading volume could decline.

The trading market for our common stock depends in part on the research and reports that analysts publish about our business. We do not have any control over these 
analysts.  We currently have limited research coverage by securities and industry analysts. If other securities or industry analysts do not commence coverage of our company, 
the trading price for our stock could be negatively impacted.  If one or more of the analysts who cover us downgrade our common stock or publish inaccurate or unfavorable 
research about our business, the price of our common stock would likely decline. If few analysts cover us, demand for our common stock could decrease and our common stock 
price and trading volume may decline. Similar results may occur if one or more of these analysts stop covering us in the future or fail to publish reports on us regularly.

We may be subject to securities litigation, which is expensive and could divert management attention.

The market price of our common stock may be volatile and, in the past, companies that have experienced volatility in the market price of their stock have been subject 
to securities class action litigation. We may be the target of this type of litigation in the future. Securities litigation against us could result in substantial costs and divert 
management’s attention from other business concerns, which could seriously harm our business.

Future issuances and/or resales of  our Common Stock may increase the volatility of and/or cause the market price of our securities to drop significantly, even if our 
business is doing well.

14,666,667 shares of our Common Stock may be issued (the “Markforged Earnout Shares”) upon the Company achieving certain Earnout Triggering Events (as 
described in the Merger Agreement and Note 13 to our consolidated financial statements), and additional shares may be issued upon exercise of the outstanding warrants to 
purchase shares of our Common Stock. To the extent such additional shares of our Common Stock are issued, it will result in dilution to the holders of our Common Stock and 
an increase to the number of shares eligible for resale in the public market. Sales, or the potential for sales, of substantial numbers of such shares in the public market could 
increase the volatility of and/or adversely affect the market price of our Common Stock.

The obligations associated with being a public company involve significant expenses and require significant resources and management attention, which may divert from 
our business operations.

As a public company, we are subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act and the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. The Exchange Act requires the filing of annual, 
quarterly and current reports with respect to a public company’s business and financial condition. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires, among other things, that a public company 
establish and maintain effective internal control over financial reporting. As a result, we incur significant legal, accounting and other expenses that we did not previously incur. 
Our entire management team and many of its other employees will need to devote substantial time to compliance, and may not effectively or efficiently manage its transition 
into a public company.

These rules and regulations result in us incurring substantial legal and financial compliance costs and make some activities more time-consuming and costly. For 
example, these rules and regulations will likely continue to make it more difficult and more expensive for us to obtain director and officer liability insurance, and it may be 
required to accept reduced policy limits and coverage or incur substantially higher costs to obtain the same or similar coverage. As a result, it may be difficult for us to attract 
and retain qualified people to serve on its board of directors, its board committees or as executive officers.

We are currently an emerging growth company within the meaning of the Securities Act, and to the extent we have taken advantage of certain exemptions from disclosure 
requirements available to emerging growth companies or smaller reporting companies, this could make our securities less attractive to investors and may make it more 
difficult to compare our performance with other public companies.

We are currently an “emerging growth company” within the meaning of the Securities Act, as modified by the JOBS Act, and we may take advantage of certain 
exemptions from various reporting requirements that are applicable to other public companies that are not emerging growth companies including, but not limited to, not being 
required to comply with the auditor attestation 
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requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in our periodic reports and proxy statements, and 
exemptions from the requirements of holding a nonbinding advisory vote on executive compensation and shareholder approval of any golden parachute payments not 
previously approved. As a result, our shareholders may not have access to certain information they may deem important. We cannot predict whether investors will find our 
securities less attractive because we will rely on these exemptions. If some investors find our securities less attractive as a result of our reliance on these exemptions, the trading 
prices of our securities may be lower than they otherwise would be, there may be a less active trading market for our securities and the trading prices of our securities may be 
more volatile.

Further, Section 102(b)(1) of the JOBS Act exempts emerging growth companies from being required to comply with new or revised financial accounting standards 
until private companies (that is, those that have not had a Securities Act registration statement declared effective or do not have a class of securities registered under the 
Exchange Act) are required to comply with the new or revised financial accounting standards. The JOBS Act provides that a company can elect to opt out of the extended 
transition period and comply with the requirements that apply to non-emerging growth companies but any such election to opt out is irrevocable. We have elected not to opt out 
of such extended transition period, which means that when a standard is issued or revised and it has different application dates for public or private companies, we, as an 
emerging growth company, can adopt the new or revised standard at the time private companies adopt the new or revised standard. This may make comparison of our financial 
statements with another public company, which is neither an emerging growth company nor an emerging growth company which has opted out of using the extended transition 
period, difficult or impossible because of the potential differences in accounting standards used.

When we cease to be an emerging growth company, we will no longer be able to take advantage of certain exemptions from reporting, and, absent other exemptions or 
relief available from the SEC, we will also be required to comply with the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. We will incur additional 
expenses in connection with such compliance and our management will need to devote additional time and effort to implement and comply with such requirements.

Delaware law and our certificate of incorporation and bylaws contain certain provisions, including anti-takeover provisions that limit the ability of stockholders to take 
certain actions and could delay or discourage takeover attempts that stockholders may consider favorable.

The DGCL and our certificate of incorporation and bylaws contain provisions that could have the effect of rendering more difficult, delaying, or preventing an 
acquisition that stockholders may consider favorable, including transactions in which stockholders might otherwise receive a premium for their shares. These provisions could 
also limit the price that investors might be willing to pay in the future for shares of our common stock, and therefore depress the trading price of our Common Stock. These 
provisions could also make it difficult for stockholders to take certain actions, including electing directors who are not nominated by the current members of our board of 
directors or taking other corporate actions, including effecting changes in our management. Among other things, our certificate of incorporation and bylaws include provisions 
regarding:

•the ability of our board of directors to issue shares of preferred stock, including “blank check” preferred stock and to determine the price and other terms of those shares, 
including preferences and voting rights, without stockholder approval, which could be used to significantly dilute the ownership of a hostile acquirer;

•the board of directors are classified into three classes, with only one class being elected each year to serve three-year terms. As a result, in most circumstances, a person 
can gain control of our board only by successfully engaging in a proxy contest at two or more annual stockholders meetings;

•the certificate of incorporation will prohibit cumulative voting in the election of directors, which limits the ability of minority stockholders to elect director candidates;

•the limitation of the liability of, and the indemnification of, our directors and officers;

•the ability of our board of directors to amend the bylaws, which may allow our board of directors to take additional actions to prevent an unsolicited takeover and inhibit 
the ability of an acquirer to amend the bylaws to facilitate an unsolicited takeover attempt; and

•advance notice procedures with which stockholders must comply to nominate candidates to our board of directors or to propose matters to be acted upon at a 
stockholders’ meeting, which could preclude stockholders from bringing matters before annual or special meetings of stockholders and delay changes in our board of 
directors and also may discourage or deter a potential acquirer from conducting a solicitation of proxies to elect the acquirer’s own slate of directors or otherwise 
attempting to obtain control of us.

These provisions, alone or together, could delay or prevent hostile takeovers and changes in control or changes in our board of directors or management.
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The provisions of our bylaws requiring exclusive forum in the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware and the federal district courts of the United States for certain 
types of lawsuits may have the effect of discouraging certain lawsuits, including derivative lawsuits and lawsuits against the directors and officers of us, by limiting 
plaintiffs’ ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that they find favorable.

Our bylaws provide that, to the fullest extent permitted by law, and unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the Court of Chancery of the 
State of Delaware (or, in the event that such court does not have jurisdiction, the federal district court for the District of Delaware or other state courts of the State of Delaware) 
will be the sole and exclusive forum for any state law claims for (i) any derivative action or proceeding brought on behalf of us, (ii) any action asserting a claim for or based on a 
breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any current or former director, officer or other employee of us to us or our stockholders, (iii) any action asserting a claim arising pursuant to 
any provision of the DGCL or the Bylaws or Certificate of Incorporation (as either may be amended from time to time) (including the interpretation, validity and enforceability 
thereof), (iv) any action asserting a claim related to or involving us that is governed by the internal affairs doctrine, and (v) any action asserting an “internal corporate claim” as 
that term is defined in Section 115 of the DGCL (the “Delaware Forum Provision”). The Delaware Forum Provision, however, does not apply to actions or claims arising under 
the Exchange Act. The Bylaws also provide that, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternate forum, the sole and exclusive forum for the resolution of any 
complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act, and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, will be the Federal District Courts of the United 
States (the “Federal Forum Provision,” and with the Delaware Forum Provision, the “Exclusive Forum Provisions”). In addition, the Bylaws provide that any person or entity 
purchasing or otherwise acquiring any interest in shares of our capital stock is deemed to have notice of and consented to the Delaware Forum Provision and the Federal Forum 
Provision. However, Section 27 of the Exchange Act creates exclusive federal jurisdiction over all suits brought to enforce any duty or liability created by the Exchange Act or 
the rules and regulations thereunder; cannot and will not be deemed to have waived compliance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the rules and regulations thereunder.

These provisions may impose additional litigation costs on stockholders in pursuing any such claims and have the effect of discouraging certain lawsuits, including 
derivative lawsuits and lawsuits against our directors and officers, by limiting plaintiffs’ ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that they find favorable. In addition, while 
the Delaware Supreme Court ruled in March 2020 that federal forum selection provisions purporting to require claims under the Securities Act be brought in federal court are 
“facially valid” under Delaware law, there is uncertainty as to whether other courts will enforce our Federal Forum Provision. The Federal Forum Provision may also impose 
additional litigation costs on stockholders who assert that the provision is not enforceable or invalid, and if the Federal Forum Provision is found to be unenforceable, we may 
incur additional costs associated with resolving such matters. The Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware and the Federal District Courts of the United States may also 
reach different judgments or results than would other courts, including courts where a stockholder considering an action may be located or would otherwise choose to bring the 
action, and such judgments may be more or less favorable to us than our stockholders.

The private placement warrants issued to the Sponsor, and the Markforged Earnout Shares, are accounted for as liabilities recorded at fair value upon issuance with 
changes in fair value each period reported in earnings, which may have an adverse effect on the market price of our Common Stock.

Under U.S. GAAP, we are required to evaluate our warrants to determine whether they should be accounted for as a warrant liability or as equity. We have concluded 
that the warrants contain provisions requiring liability classification. Therefore, we are accounting for the warrants as a warrant liability and recorded that liability at fair value 
upon issuance. We will record any subsequent changes in fair value as of the end of each period for which earnings are reported. The impact of changes in fair value on earnings 
may have an adverse effect on the market price of our common stock and may cause fluctuations in our results of operations based on factors that are outside of our control.

Additionally, the Markforged Earnout Shares are also accounted for as a liability because the triggering events that determine the number of shares to be earned 
included events that were not indexed to our Common Stock. These liabilities are subject to re-measurement at each balance sheet date. With each such re-measurement, the 
earnout liability will be adjusted to fair value, with a resulting non-cash gain or loss related to the change in the fair value being recognized in our earnings in the statement of 
operations. The impact of changes in fair value on earnings may have an adverse effect on the market price of our Common Stock. Due to the recurring fair value measurement, 
we expect that we will recognize non-cash gains or losses for each future reporting period and that the amount of such gains or losses could be material.

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds. 

None.
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Item 3. Defaults upon Senior Securities. 

None.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures. 

Not applicable.

Item 5. Other Information. 

None.
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Item 6. Exhibits. 

The following exhibits are filed as part of, or incorporated by reference into, this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
 

Exhibit
Number

  
Description

  
    

3.1 Certificate of Incorporation of Markforged Holding Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Markforged Holding Corporation’s Current 
Report on Form 8-K filed July 20, 2021).

  

3.2 Bylaws of Markforged Holding Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to Markforged Holding Corporation’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed 
July 20, 2021).

  

10.1* Amended and Restated First Amendment to Lease dated December 7, 2021, by and between 900 Middlesex Property Owner, LLC and MarkForged, Inc.
  

31.1** Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant to 
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

    

31.2** Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant to 
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

    

32.1* Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
    

32.2* Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
    

101.INS** Inline XBRL Instance Document
    

101.SCH** Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
    

101.CAL** Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
    

101.DEF** Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
    

101.LAB** Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
    

101.PRE** Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
    

104** Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within the Inline XBRL document)
  
* These certifications are furnished to the SEC pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and are deemed not filed for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, nor shall they be deemed incorporated by reference in any filing under the Securities Act of 1933, except as shall be expressly set forth by 
specific reference in such filing.
** Filed herewith
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SIGNATURES 

 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto 

duly authorized.
  
   

  Markforged Holding Corporation
      
Date: August 11, 2022 By: /s/ Shai Terem

  
    Shai Terem

    
Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)
      
Date: August 11, 2022 By: /s/ Mark Schwartz

    Mark Schwartz

    
Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
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Exhibit 31.1 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 
RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, 

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

I, Shai Terem, certify that: 

1.I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2022 of Markforged Holding Corporation; 

2.Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of 
the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report; 

3.Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results 
of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; 

4.The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) 
and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have: 

(a)Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material 
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which 
this report is being prepared; 

(b)Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide 
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles; 

(c)Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure 
controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and 

(d)Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the 
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control 
over financial reporting; and 

5.The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and 
the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions): 

(a)All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely 
affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and 

(b)Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial 
reporting. 

  
Date: August 11, 2022   By: /s/ Shai Terem

      Name: Shai Terem
    Title: Chief Executive Officer

 
 





 
Exhibit 31.2 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 
RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, 

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

I, Mark Schwartz, certify that: 

1.I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2022 of Markforged Holding Corporation; 

2.Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of 
the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report; 

3.Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results 
of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; 

4.The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) 
and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have: 

(a)Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material 
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which 
this report is being prepared; 

(b)Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide 
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles; 

(c)Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure 
controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and 

(d)Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the 
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control 
over financial reporting; and 

5.The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and 
the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions): 

(a)All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely 
affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and 

(b)Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial 
reporting. 

  
Date: August 11, 2022   By: /s/ Mark Schwartz

       Name: Mark Schwartz
     Title: Chief Financial Officer

 
 





 
Exhibit 32.1 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO 

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Markforged Holding Corporation (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2022, as filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Shai Terem, Chief Executive Officer, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant 
to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to my knowledge: 

(1)the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and 

(2)the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company. 
  
Date: August 11, 2022   By: /s/ Shai Terem

      Name: Shai Terem
    Title: Chief Executive Officer

 
 





 
Exhibit 32.2 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO 

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Markforged Holding Corporation (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2022, as filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Mark Schwartz, Chief Financial Officer, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted 
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to my knowledge: 

(1)the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and 

(2)the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company. 
  
Date: August 11, 2022   By: /s/ Mark Schwartz

      Name: Mark Schwartz
    Title: Chief Financial Officer

 
 




